Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: October 14, 2011 ACCEPTED: December 22, 2011 PUBLISHED: January 17, 2012

Dissipative effects in the effective field theory of inflation

Diana López Nacir,^a Rafael A. Porto,^{b,c} Leonardo Senatore^{d,e} and Matias Zaldarriaga^b

^bSchool of Natural Sciences, Institute for Advanced Study,

 $^{e}KIPAC$, Stanford University & SLAC,

Stanford, CA 94305, U.S.A.

E-mail: dnacir@df.uba.ar, rporto@ias.edu, senatore@stanford.edu, matiasz@ias.edu

ABSTRACT: We generalize the effective field theory of single clock inflation to include dissipative effects. Working in unitary gauge we couple a set of composite operators, $\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu\dots}$, in the effective action which is constrained solely by invariance under time-dependent spatial diffeomorphisms. We restrict ourselves to situations where the degrees of freedom responsible for dissipation do not contribute to the density perturbations at late time. The dynamics of the perturbations is then modified by the appearance of 'friction' and noise terms, and assuming certain locality properties for the Green's functions of these composite operators, we show that there is a regime characterized by a large friction term $\gamma \gg H$ in which the ζ -correlators are dominated by the noise and the power spectrum can be significantly enhanced. We also compute the three point function $\langle \zeta \zeta \zeta \rangle$ for a wide class of models and discuss under which circumstances large friction leads to an increased level of non-Gaussianities. In particular, under our assumptions, we show that strong dissipation together with the required non-linear realization of the symmetries implies $|f_{\rm NL}| \sim \frac{\gamma}{c_s^2 H} \gg 1$. As a paradigmatic example we work out a variation of the 'trapped inflation' scenario with local response functions and perform the matching with our effective theory. A detection of the generic type of signatures that result from incorporating dissipative effects during inflation, as we describe here, would teach us about the dynamics of the early universe and also extend the parameter space of inflationary models.

KEYWORDS: Cosmology of Theories beyond the SM, Space-Time Symmetries, Quantum Dissipative Systems

ARXIV EPRINT: 1109.4192



^aDepartamento de Física, Facultad de Ciencias Exactas y Naturales, UBA and IFIBA, CONICET, Ciudad Universitaria, Pabellón 1, 1428, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Einstein Drive, Princeton, NJ 08540, U.S.A.

^cDepartment of Physics & ISCAP, Columbia University,

New York, NY 10027, U.S.A.

^dStanford Institute for Theoretical Physics, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, U.S.A.

Contents

1	Inti	roduction & main results	1
	1.1	Preliminaries	5
	1.2	The story of \mathcal{O}	6
	1.3	The two-point function	9
		1.3.1 Homogeneous solution	10
		1.3.2 Noise	10
	1.4	Non-linear effects	13
		1.4.1 Shift symmetry	13
		1.4.2 Approximate shift symmetry	14
		1.4.3 Non-linear response	15
		1.4.4 Non-Gaussian noise	16
2	Effe	ective field theory setup	17
3	Ade	ding new degrees of freedom	18
4	The	e interaction terms in unitary gauge	21
	4.1	Scalars	21
	4.2	Vectors	24
	4.3	Tensors	24
5	The	e interaction terms for π	24
	5.1	Modified dynamics & local approximations	25
	5.2	The homogenous solution	27
6	The	e power spectrum	28
7	No	n-Gaussianities	30
	7.1	${\cal O}\delta g^{00}$	31
	7.2	$f(t)\mathcal{O}$ I: linear response	34
	7.3	$f(t)\mathcal{O}$ II: non-linear response	36
	7.4	Non-Gaussian noise	40
	7.5	Higher-derivative dissipation	41
8	Matching dissipative effects during inflation		41
	8.1	Local trapped inflation: $f(t)\mathcal{O} \to \sum_i (\phi - \phi_i)^2 \chi_i^2 + \mathcal{L}(\chi_i)$	42
		8.1.1 Perturbations	44
		8.1.2 Non-Gaussianities	46
	8.2	Warm inflation	47
9	Cor	nclusions	48

\subseteq
Ш
H
Ю
\bigcirc
\vdash
\frown
\mathbb{N}
\bigcirc
\vdash
\mathbb{N}
\smile
\bigcirc
\square
СЛ

\mathbf{A}	Examples with Ohmic behavior	51
в	The optical theorem	53
С	Retarded Green's function	55
D	Decoupling limit	56
\mathbf{E}	Comment on $\hat{\mathcal{O}}\delta K^{\mu}_{\mu}$	59
\mathbf{F}	Dissipative Green's functions in an expanding universe	59
\mathbf{G}	Mixing	61
	G.1 Scalars	61
	G.2 $f(t)\mathcal{O}_1$ and $\mathcal{O}_2 g^{00}$	62
	G.3 Vectors & tensors	64
н	${\cal O}\delta g^{00} { m model}({ m s}) { m with} \gamma \dot \pi { m dissipation}$	64
Ι	Consistency of local trapped inflation	67

1 Introduction & main results

The Effective Field Theory (EFT) paradigm is one of the cornerstones of theoretical physics, from the standard model to condensed matter systems [1, 2]. EFT ideas have recently gathered thrust also in the realm of gravitational physics. For example, EFT techniques have been introduced in [3-5] to solve for the dynamics of coalescing binary systems to great accuracy [6-15]; and an EFT setup has been proposed for the study of cosmological perturbations in [16].

The EFT of inflation for the case of single field (one clock) models was developed in [17–27]. The starting point is an action in unitary gauge (where all the fluctuating degrees of freedom are encoded in the metric) which is required solely to be invariant under time dependent spatial diffeomorphisms. The advantage of this approach is that it enables us to parameterize all possible signatures of inflation in terms of a set of coefficients for ('higherdimensional') operators in a Lagrangian built with the low energy (large distance) degrees of freedom, and constrained only by the symmetries of the theory. Within the EFT it is possible to describe the fluctuations around an approximate de Sitter background without any assumption about the fundamental degree of freedom that is driving inflation¹ (which may as well be strongly coupled). To that end it is useful to restore time diffeomorphisms

¹One may wonder about the underlying theory that produces the background. However, once the inflationary paradigm is accepted, it is ultimately the theory of fluctuations that is directly tested by observations.

(broken by the existence of a preferred time slicing) by means of the Stückelberg field π , which is the Goldstone boson that realizes time reparameterizations non-linearly.

There are two important consequences of introducing the π field which turn out to be extremely helpful. First of all, one notices that at sufficiently large energies $(E \gg \sqrt{\epsilon}H)$ the Goldstone boson captures all the information about the physical scalar mode $(\zeta \simeq -H\pi)$, namely the 'longitudinal mode' in unitary gauge.² And secondly, there is a limit (decoupling limit, i.e. $\epsilon \to 0$) in which we may ignore all the effects induced by gravitational interactions.³ These two observations allow us to concentrate on a theory of Goldstone bosons, whose interactions are dictated by symmetry, which greatly simplifies the computations.

An EFT for multi-field inflation was recently introduced in [30], where new (light) degrees of freedom were included. Multi-field inflation can reproduce the signals from single field models, but can also give rise to new ones which (provided certain shapes are detected) may allow us not only to separate between the two, but also distinguish amongst different realization in multi-field scenarios. In [30] the authors concentrated on the case in which additional degrees of freedom (ADOF) affect directly the overall curvature perturbation (or isocurvature perturbations). This can happen for example if these extra fields modify the reheating time and consequently the duration of inflation, or if they affect the composition of the plasma in the reheating phase. Because of this, the fields considered in [30] were light scalars so that they acquired scale invariant perturbations.

In this paper we also consider situations in which ADOF other than the Goldstone boson are excited. However, contrary to the models in [30], we concentrate on cases where this extra sector does not directly affect the duration of inflation, or the composition of the plasma, but it alters the dynamics of inflation by directly coupling to the clock around or before the time the modes we observe cross the horizon. This includes, for instance, the 'trapped inflation' scenario [31] where the production of particles modifies the evolution of the inflaton ϕ , while producing negligible direct contributions to (late time) density fluctuations due to dilution.

Since in general these new particles will contribute to the stress energy tensor of the background, the *true* Goldstone boson includes not only the physical clock, which we assume uniquely controls the physics of inflation, but also a component that depends on the fluctuations of these ADOF. To isolate the relevant component whose perturbations control the observed density fluctuations, here we will not work with this Goldstone boson (namely the field whose quadratic Lagrangian is uniquely fixed by the background), and thus reserve π for the fluctuations of the clock that determines the end of inflation (for example, the inflaton ϕ in the model of [31]). This choice will slightly modify the construction of the EFT, and in particular the choice of 'unitary gauge' and overall normalization of our π . However, it maintains the relationship between π and ζ , i.e. $\zeta \simeq -H\pi$ (at linear order), which we find more convenient.

²This is similar to what occurs in gauge theories, for example in longitudinal WW (or Z) scattering, whose amplitude can be obtained in terms of processes involving the associated Goldstone bosons ('eaten' by the W's and Z's) at high enough energies, $E \gg m_W$ ('equivalence theorem') [28, 29].

³This is also equivalent to sending the gauge coupling g to zero while keeping the symmetry breaking scale v fixed, or in our case taking $M_p \to \infty$ and keeping $M_p^2 |\dot{H}|$ finite.

Given that the ADOF do not explicitly contribute to observable quantities, this suggests we may integrate them out and obtain an effective action in terms only of π . However, this procedure is not straightforward, mainly for two reasons. First of all, even though we do not observe the fluctuations of the ADOF as 'external states', they are produced during inflation and in general are not in the vacuum; and secondly, these fluctuations may not be gapped, or in other words, we are allowing for very soft (essentially gapless) collective excitations. This means that the effective action cannot be described with only one degree of freedom, and in turn this will be linked to dissipation whose effective description is one of the goals of the present paper. Notice that this does not mean that the ADOF are necessarily 'light'. For example, as shown in [31], heavy particles (compared to the Hubble scale) can be ultimately produced by the time dependence in the Hamiltonian induced by the physical clock ϕ .⁴ However, their influence in the dynamics of the perturbations of the clock, which includes dissipation and noise, remains active even at low(er) frequencies, i.e. $\omega \simeq H$.

One can study dissipative effects using the 'in-in' closed-path-time formalism [33], however, here we will resort to a different setup. Similarly to the EFT for dissipation introduced in [34, 35] (to deal with gravitational wave absorption in binary black hole systems), we will incorporate dissipative effects in the EFT of inflation by coupling the metric in unitary gauge to a set of (scalar, vector and tensor) composite operators, $\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu\dots}$, constrained solely by the symmetries of the EFT. All the information about the dissipative sector is thus encoded in a set of correlation functions which can be matched against observation, e.g. the power spectrum, non-Gaussianities, etc. (A similar formalism [36] can be used to describe dissipative effects in the EFT for hydrodynamics developed in [37, 38].) This approach is clearly very ample, and for that reason it is also difficult to treat in complete generality. However, it is possible to identify a physical regime in parameter space where many simplifications occur. We will consider physical situations where the time scale for dissipation and fluctuation induced by the ADOF is much smaller than a Hubble time, with negligible memory effects. Under this condition fluctuation and dissipative effects become local, which allows us to study many possible realizations in complete generality. We spell out our assumptions in detail throughout the paper.

Two separate type of contributions enter in the dynamics of π . There is the noise induced by the ADOF, and there is also the back reaction due to the mutual interaction, i.e. 'friction', namely a $\gamma \dot{\pi}$ term. (This is due to the physical fact that during inflation energy is being damped into the ADOF.) Here we concentrate in the strong dissipative regime, where γ is taken to be much larger than H. In such circumstances, we show the memory on the initial conditions washes out and the power spectrum and non-Gaussianities are dominated by the noise induced by the ADOF. Moreover, the former can be significantly enhanced with respect to the quantum fluctuations in the Bunch-Davies state. The reason is twofold: first of all the size of the fluctuations for the normalized π field ($\pi_c \equiv \sqrt{N_c} \pi$) is larger than Hubble, this is because these are not produced by the vacuum (also they freeze out at a larger value of k/a, i.e. $c_s k/a_\star = c_s k_\star \simeq \sqrt{\gamma H} \gg H$, for $\gamma \gg H$); and secondly,

⁴In the case of trapped inflation particles are produced when the adiabaticity condition is violated [31, 32].

the normalization scale N_c can be smaller than what is required by Einstein equations in the absence of any other contribution to the stress energy tensor, i.e. $N_c \leq 2M_p^2 |\dot{H}|/c_s^2$.

In the EFT of inflation [17] the non-linear realization of time diffeomorphisms allows us to relate different observables (such as the two and three point ζ -correlation functions). For instance, considering the case of scalar couplings and taking the noise to be Gaussian, we show that terms of the form $S_{\mathcal{O}g^{00}} \equiv \int \sqrt{-g}\mathcal{O}g^{00}$ (in unitary gauge) can increase the level of non-Gaussianities by a factor of γ/H with respect to the result for single field inflation without ADOF [17], yielding $|f_{\rm NL}| \simeq \gamma/(Hc_s^2)$. In the spirit of the EFT for multifield inflation of [30] we discuss a class of models which fit into this category. On the other hand, operators of the form $S_{f\mathcal{O}} \equiv \int \sqrt{-g}f(t)\mathcal{O}$ produce two types of nonlinearities. Either sourced by direct non-linear couplings to \mathcal{O} , or induced by contributions beyond linear response theory. We show there is a class of models where the computation of dissipation and non-Gaussianities are linked. Assuming as we do the existence of a preferred clock that drives inflation, we show that the linear and non-linear response are indeed related in such a way to produce non-Gaussianities of order $|f_{\rm NL}| \simeq \gamma/(c_s^2 H)$.

The basic idea is perhaps better illustrated in the standard inflationary scenario of a slowly rolling scalar field ϕ . As we know from our classical mechanics intuition, to induce dissipation we need factors of $\dot{\phi}$ in the equation of motion (EOM). On the other hand, (non-linearly realized) general covariance requires $\partial_t \phi \to n^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \phi$ where n^{μ} is the normal vector orthogonal to the equal time surfaces given by $n^{\mu} = g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} \phi / \sqrt{-(\partial \phi)^2}$. At the level of the perturbations of the clock, namely $\phi \to \bar{\phi} + \delta \phi$, this induces a dissipative term $\gamma \dot{\delta} \phi$ but also non-linear interactions, and in particular a term $\gamma (\partial_i \delta \phi)^2 / \dot{\phi}$ (properly normalized). The latter gives non-Gaussianities of order

$$\frac{\gamma}{\dot{\phi}} \frac{(\partial_i \delta \phi)^2}{c_s^2 \partial_i^2 \delta \phi} \sim f_{\rm NL} \zeta \quad \to \quad |f_{\rm NL}| \sim \frac{\gamma}{c_s^2 H},\tag{1.1}$$

where we used $\zeta \simeq -H\delta\phi/\dot{\phi}$, and allowed for $c_s \leq 1$. We will make this argument more precise and at the same time generic for all models of single clock inflation. We conclude that in either case, $S_{\mathcal{O}g^{00}}$ or $S_{f(t)\mathcal{O}}$, the non-linear interactions are significantly enhanced in the strong dissipative regime with $\gamma \gg H$, as one would have naively expected.

Finally, vector couplings such as $\int \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{O}_{\mu} g^{\mu 0}$, may induce a large friction term but without the addition of non-linear couplings between π and \mathcal{O}_{μ} . However, once again depending on the model, the non-linear response will produce large non-linearities as above.

This paper is organized as follows: In the remaining of section 1 we discuss the basic ideas and results, putting emphasis on the overall picture rather than the technicalities of the calculations. Then in sections 2–7 we explicitly construct the EFT to include dissipation in inflation and provide detailed support for our claims. In section 8 we perform the matching for a key example: (a local version of) trapped inflation. The idea of including dissipative effects during inflation is also a key element of the warm inflation paradigm [39–44], which we will briefly comment upon towards the end. We relegate other examples and more technical points to appendices. Everywhere we set $c = \hbar = k_B = 1$ and adopt the mostly plus sign convention.

1.1 Preliminaries

Let us imagine adding a friction term to the (one-dimensional) harmonic oscillator. For convenience of notation let us denote the displacement from equilibrium as $\pi(t)$. The EOM reads

$$\ddot{\pi} + \gamma \dot{\pi} + \omega_0^2 \pi = J, \tag{1.2}$$

where for future purposes we added a stochastic force with $\langle J \rangle = 0$. As it is well known, this seemingly innocuous equation does not derive from a Lagrangian of the form $\mathcal{L}(\pi, \dot{\pi})$.⁵ The reason is simple, energy is not conserved. In fact,

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = -\gamma \dot{\pi}^2. \tag{1.3}$$

The expression in eq. (1.2) is local in time, however, in general the effective EOM for π takes the so called 'Langevin' form, which is non-local, i.e.

$$\ddot{\pi} + \omega_0^2 \pi + \int dt' \tilde{\gamma}(t - t') \pi(t') = J(t).$$
(1.4)

Clearly, our treatment would greatly simplify if we were allowed to perform a local approximation. This in turn amounts to making an assumption about the ADOF leading to $\tilde{\gamma}(t)$ in the above equation. In particular, to get the EOM in the form of eq. (1.2) we need

$$\mathrm{Im}\tilde{\gamma}(\omega) \simeq \gamma \omega, \tag{1.5}$$

with γ a constant. The relationship in eq. (1.5) is sometimes referred in the literature as *Ohmic* behavior [45]. We illustrate some examples in appendix A.

In practice we do not expect eq. (1.5) to hold up to arbitrarily high frequencies, and a more realistic (though phenomenological) approach is provided by Drude's model, with eq. (1.5) replaced by [45]

$$\operatorname{Im}\tilde{\gamma}_D(\omega) = \gamma \omega \left(1 + \omega^2 / \omega_D^2\right)^{-1}, \qquad (1.6)$$

where ω_D serves as a cutoff. In this case there is a memory time on the scale $\tau_D \sim \omega_D^{-1}$, and an exponential damping

$$\gamma_D(t) \sim \Theta(t) \gamma_D \frac{e^{-t/\tau_D}}{\tau_D}.$$
(1.7)

Instead of relying on assumptions about the physics of the ADOF, sometimes it is possible to connect the properties of the noise and Green's functions by means of some well known theorems; for example if we assume the noise satisfies the following conditions:

$$\langle J(t) \rangle = 0 \tag{1.8}$$

$$\langle J(t)J(t')\rangle \simeq \nu_J \delta(t-t'),$$
(1.9)

⁵One can, nonetheless, construct models where a dissipative equation results from an effective description where the ADOF responsible for dissipation are 'integrated out' in a 'in-in' formalism with twice as many degrees of freedom [33, 45, 46]. This is not the route we follow in this paper (see next sub-section).

with ν_J a constant. This is the case, for instance, if the "environment" (i.e. the dissipative ADOF) is placed at a (sufficiently large) temperature T. Then, using the Fluctuation-Dissipation (FD) theorem [33, 45] one can show

$$\mathrm{Im}\tilde{\gamma}(\omega) \simeq \frac{\nu_J}{T}\omega \tag{1.10}$$

(assuming equilibration occurs sufficiently fast after the perturbations are turned on), or in other words $\nu_J \simeq \gamma T$. In this scenario the EOM becomes local and memory effects are washed away.

To keep the treatment as simple as possible, we will study situations where the local approximation applies. Later on we will discuss some specific examples. However, at the level of the EFT we refrain from adopting any model for the underlying dynamics of the ADOF. We introduce the basic idea of our approach next.

1.2 The story of \mathcal{O}

We consider now the generic situation where we have a theory for π that describe small (long wavelength) perturbations of a dynamical system with Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_{π} . Following [34, 35] to include dissipation we couple π to a composite operator \mathcal{O} such that

$$S_{\rm int} = -\int d^4 x \mathcal{O}(x) \pi(x). \tag{1.11}$$

For the cases where there is a shift symmetry, $\pi \to \pi + c$, the interaction takes the form

$$\tilde{S}_{\rm int} = \int d^4 x \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) \dot{\pi}(x), \qquad (1.12)$$

which can be described as in eq. (1.11) by replacing $\mathcal{O} \to \tilde{\mathcal{O}}$.

The addition of S_{int} allows us to study the response of our system to the interaction with a dissipative sector (represented by \mathcal{O}) in complete generality. The virtue of this approach lies in that we do not need to assume any specific representation for the dynamics of \mathcal{O} (which could in principle represent a strongly coupled sector), and we just need to make sure interactions such as eq. (1.11) respect the symmetries of the long distance physics described by π [34, 35].

We define now an operator $\delta \mathcal{O} \equiv \mathcal{O} - \overline{\mathcal{O}}$, with $\overline{\mathcal{O}}$ the background expectation value of \mathcal{O} . We then split $\delta \mathcal{O}$ into two pieces, schematically,

$$\delta \mathcal{O} = \delta \mathcal{O}_S(x) + \delta \mathcal{O}_R(x), \tag{1.13}$$

with $\delta \mathcal{O}_S(x)$ representing the stochastic part of $\mathcal{O}(x)$ in the absence of π , whereas $\delta \mathcal{O}_R(x)$ corresponds to the change of the expectation value of \mathcal{O} that results as a response through the interaction to a π fluctuation. We start by computing $\delta \mathcal{O}_R(x)$ within linear response theory, with π playing the role of the external 'force' that disturbs the dynamics of the degrees of freedom associated with the operator \mathcal{O} . (For an introductory account of response theory see for instance [47].) Namely,

$$\delta \mathcal{O}_R(x) = -\int d^4 y G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\text{ret}}(x, y) \pi(y), \qquad (1.14)$$

where

$$G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(x,y) = i \langle [\delta \mathcal{O}(x), \delta \mathcal{O}(y)] \rangle \theta(t_x - t_y).$$
(1.15)

If we denote as $D_{\pi}\pi = 0$ the linearized EOM that derives from \mathcal{L}_{π} in the absence of ADOF, then the addition of eq. (1.11) leads to

$$D_{\pi}\pi = -\mathcal{O} + O(\pi^2). \tag{1.16}$$

After we solve for \mathcal{O} we get

$$D_{\pi}\pi - \int d^{4}y G_{\rm ret}^{\mathcal{O}}(x-y)\pi(y) = -\delta \mathcal{O}_{S} + O(\pi^{2}), \qquad (1.17)$$

or in Fourier space

$$\left(D_{\pi}(\mathbf{q},\omega) - G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\mathbf{q},\omega)\right)\pi_{q}(\omega) = -\delta\mathcal{O}_{S}(\mathbf{q},\omega) + \dots$$
(1.18)

In the above expression $D_{\pi}(\mathbf{q},\omega)$ is an analytic function, but presumably this may not always be the case for $G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\mathbf{q},\omega)$. However, we will assume we can use a local approximation for the dynamics induced by the Green's function for a vast range of frequencies up to corrections of order $(\mathbf{q}/M_{\mathcal{O}}, \omega/\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}})$, where $M_{\mathcal{O}}, \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$ are the typical scales at which the nonlocality starts to be non-negligible. We will make this more precise when we study the inflationary case. At any rate, it is clear that in order to recover an equation as in (1.2) we need⁶

$$\mathrm{Im}G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\mathrm{ret}}(\omega,\mathbf{q})\simeq\mathrm{Im}G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\mathrm{ret}}(\omega,\mathbf{0})\simeq\gamma\omega,\tag{1.19}$$

for $\omega > 0$, with $J \equiv -\delta \mathcal{O}_S$. While an expansion in derivatives is justified by the fact that we can work at $\omega \leq \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$, the order at which the Taylor expansion starts is an assumption about the UV physics. (Notice that this is the lowest analytic order since the imaginary part of the Green's function has to be odd in ω .)

Contrary to the imaginary part, the real part of the Green's function is even in ω , and therefore need not vanish as $\omega \to 0.^7$ This would lead to a mass for π (and consequently for ζ), hence to an evolution for ζ outside the horizon. This is not forbidden by any principle, but if this was the case it would lead to an effect on curvature perturbations at late times from the ADOF, which ought to be negligible by our main assumption. Therefore, in this paper we consider situations where the ADOF are sensitive only to derivatives of π rather than the value of π itself. This requires an effective shift symmetry at the level of the response. (This is the case for example in the model of [31] where the production of ADOF is connected with a breaking of adiabaticity [32], due to the time dependent background, and fluctuations in the ADOF are related to derivatives of π .) If for instance inflation is driven by a scalar field ϕ , in principle the response of the \mathcal{O} operators might be very non-linearly related to ϕ , and the Green's function for π may as well depend non-linearly on the coupling constants in the Lagrangian that includes both ϕ and \mathcal{O} . In fact, the

⁶As one would expect dissipation is associated with the imaginary part of the Green's functions in Fourier space, a.k.a. the optical theorem, see appendix B.

⁷Moreover, the real part of the Green's function $G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega, \mathbf{q})$ may also contribute to the speed of sound via a term quadratic in \mathbf{q} .

shift symmetry may not be even present at this stage. For this reason we will employ the term 'emergent shift symmetry' to refer to cases when the real part of the Green's function vanishes as $\omega \to 0$. We give an example of this phenomenon in section 8.1 where we discuss a simplified version of the trapped inflation model [31].

In principle if we had a specific UV model of the ADOF in mind, we could compute the exact Green's function and compare with the one derived from the EFT. This is typical in EFTs and it is often referred as *matching* [1]. We will provide a realization of this matching procedure when we study some specific models later on in section 8. (See also appendices C and H.) Nevertheless, even though we do not have an explicit description for \mathcal{O} (which might be rather involved), the key point of the EFT approach is that we can still study the dynamics of π in terms of the Green's function of the type of eq. (1.15) under the approximation of eq. (1.19), where γ is kept as a free parameter.

Notice that the condition for a $\gamma \dot{\pi}$ local dissipative dynamics implies

$$\operatorname{Im}\tilde{G}_{\mathrm{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega) \sim 1/\omega,$$
 (1.20)

for the operator $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}$ in eq. (1.12). This behavior is not allowed near $\omega \simeq 0$ by some basic analytic properties of the Green's functions. One can nonetheless imagine situations where eq. (1.20) holds at intermediate frequencies, i.e. $\mu_{\mathcal{O}} \ll \omega \ll \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$ (with $\mu_{\mathcal{O}}, \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$ related to the response functions of the \mathcal{O} 's), while at very low frequencies the Green's function is analytic. Since we are assuming the relevant energy scales are smaller than the typical ones in the ADOF sector, that we take to be of order $\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$, in order for such behavior to occur it requires the Green's function to have a mass scale anomalously low compared to $\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$. This is (most probably) a sign of tuning in the effective theory.⁸ In any case, it is reasonable to assume this tuning would affect only one parameter (see appendix H for more details).

An example the reader may be familiar with is the so called Abraham-Lorentz-Dirac (ADL) force, which arises from the (velocity dependent) interaction $A\dot{\pi}$ after we integrate out the electromagnetic field (here A plays the role of \mathcal{O}). The EOM turns out to be local in time [48, 49] provided we choose boundary conditions where all radiation is outgoing (that is we do not include 'mirrors').⁹ However, in this case the dissipative term depends on the third time derivative of the position, i.e. $\ddot{\pi}/\Lambda_e$ with $\Lambda_e \simeq m_e/e^2$ a cutoff scale related to the unitarity bound of the theory. (This follows from an expression similar to eq. (1.19) applied to the vector potential.) Even though in this paper we mostly concentrate on dissipative effects represented by eq. (1.2) we will also comment on higher derivative couplings in section 7.5.

$$\omega^{2} \text{Im} \tilde{G}_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega) \simeq \gamma \frac{\omega^{3}}{\omega^{2} + \mu_{\mathcal{O}}^{2}} + O(\omega/\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}) \simeq \gamma \omega + O(\mu_{\mathcal{O}}/\omega, \omega/\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}})$$
(1.21)

for $\mu_{\mathcal{O}} \ll \omega \ll \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$, such as it is required for a $\gamma \dot{\pi}$ term stemming from the coupling $\tilde{\mathcal{O}} \dot{\pi}$.

 $^{^{8}}$ We show in appendix H how, upon tuning, one may obtain the scaling of eq. (1.20), in particular

⁹Non-local dynamics appears in the so called 'memory effect' in gravitational wave radiation off coalescent binary inspirals [50]. The latter is entirely due to the non-linear interactions of the gravitational field which are not present in electromagnetism.

As we mentioned earlier another setup where a local approximation appears naturally is to consider a white noise for the $\delta \mathcal{O}_S$'s, as it would be the case in thermal equilibrium at large temperatures. In such scenario

$$\langle \delta \mathcal{O}_S(\mathbf{k}, t) \delta \mathcal{O}_S(\mathbf{q}, t') \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \nu_{\mathcal{O}} \delta(t - t') \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{q}), \qquad (1.22)$$

and using the FD theorem we get (see eq. (1.10))

$$\frac{\mathrm{Im}G_{\mathrm{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega)}{\omega} \equiv \gamma = \frac{\nu_{\mathcal{O}}}{T},\tag{1.23}$$

as required.

1.3 The two-point function

One of the most important observables we are interested in this paper is the two-point function of the π field at horizon crossing, which is related to the two-point function for the curvature perturbation ζ ($\zeta \simeq -H\pi$ [17]), that is conserved outside the horizon. In the standard scenario of an expanding universe the linearized EOM for the π field is equivalent to eq. (1.2) with $\gamma \to 3H$ and $\omega_0 = c_s k_{\rm ph} \equiv \frac{c_s k}{a(t)}$, that is (notice that now we have a time dependent ω_0)

$$\ddot{\pi}_k + 3H\dot{\pi}_k + c_s^2 \frac{k^2}{a^2} \pi_k = 0.$$
(1.24)

The reason the mode freezes out is due to the fact that the term proportional to ω_0 goes to zero as $t \to +\infty$, for a fixed (co-moving) k, and a constant value for π solves the equation. The time at which this happens is determined by the condition $k_{\star} \equiv k/a(t^{\star}) \sim H(t^{\star})/c_s$, or $\omega_{\star} \sim H_{\star}$. (The \star denotes a quantity at freeze out.) If we impose the Bunch-Davis state as initial condition, the well known result is [17]:

$$\langle \zeta_k \zeta_q \rangle_{\rm BD} = (2\pi)^3 \frac{H_\star^2}{4c_s^\star \epsilon_\star M_p^2 k^3} \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{k}), \qquad (1.25)$$

with $\epsilon \equiv -\dot{H}/H^2$. Since these are the quantum zero-point energy fluctuations, this expression follows straightforwardly from

$$S_2 = \epsilon M_p^2 \frac{H^2}{c_s^2} \int d^4 x \dot{\pi}^2 \sim \epsilon_\star M_p^2 c_s^\star \frac{\zeta^2}{\omega_\star^2} \sim 1 \quad \to \quad \zeta \sim \frac{\omega_\star}{\sqrt{2c_s^\star \epsilon_\star}} M_p. \tag{1.26}$$

Naively one would expect that the addition of a friction term to eq. (1.24), of the form $\gamma \dot{\pi}_k$, will modify the crossing condition to $k/a(t^*) \sim \gamma(t^*)/c_s$, leading to $\omega_* \sim \gamma$. Hence, from eq. (1.26), it appears as if it would produce a larger two-point function. However, this is incorrect, and the contribution from the homogenous equation turns out to be negligible. We will show this in detail later on (see section 5.2), but the basic idea is rather simple as we argue next.¹⁰

¹⁰Notice that the term in $\gamma \dot{\pi}$ does not have the same role as the standard $3H\dot{\pi}$ one in an expanding universe, since for the latter the frequency of all modes redshift at the same rate H, while that is not case with γ .

1.3.1 Homogeneous solution

Let us take eq. (1.24) but assume there is an extra dissipative term $\gamma \dot{\pi}_k$, with $\gamma \gg H$. To gain some intuition we will solve the equation adiabatically starting with constant values of $\omega_0 = c_s k_{\rm ph}$. (For reasons that will be clear in section 5.2, we also parameterize time running from $[-|t_0|, 0]$.) This is a good approximation as long as $\dot{\omega}_0/\omega_0^2 \ll 1$, which holds provided $c_s k_{\rm ph} \geq H$. (In fact, as we will see, $c_s k_\star \simeq \sqrt{\gamma H} \gg H$.) It is easy to see there are two independent solution, namely

$$f_{\mp}(t) = A_{\mp} \exp\left[\frac{-\gamma t}{2} \left(1 \mp \sqrt{1 - 4\frac{\omega_0^2}{\gamma^2}}\right)\right].$$
(1.27)

We will consider two regimes. First, at some early time $(|t_0| \gg 1/\gamma)$ we assume we are in the solution with $\omega_0 = c_s k_{\rm ph} \gg \gamma$, so that we match it with the usual oscillatory behavior normalized to the Bunch-Davies vacuum

$$f_{\rm BD}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} e^{\pm i\omega_0 t_0}.$$
 (1.28)

This is justified by realizing that by going sufficiently back in time, the mode begins to oscillate fast enough to decouple from the ADOF. We expect this to happen for $\omega \gtrsim \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$. This fixes the overall coefficient to

$$A_{\pm} \simeq \frac{e^{\frac{-\gamma |t_0|}{2}}}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} + O(\gamma/\omega_0).$$
(1.29)

As time progresses, we enter our second regime, where ω_0^2 decreased to the point the mode freezes out, $\omega_0 \to \omega_0^* = c_s k_*$. One can then show that after matching both regimes the solution that dominates scales like¹¹

$$f_{-} \sim \frac{e^{-\frac{\gamma|t_{0}|}{2}}}{\sqrt{\omega_{0}^{\star}}} e^{\frac{-(\omega_{0}^{\star})^{2}t}{\gamma}}.$$
 (1.30)

As a consequence the homogenous solution acquires a damping factor $e^{-\frac{\gamma|t_0|}{2}} \ll 1$. A detailed analysis shows that indeed it acquires this type of exponential suppression (see section 5.2).

From here we conclude that the contribution to the two-point function from the homogenous part becomes exponentially small as $t \to 0$, which opens the door for the source noise to dominate.

1.3.2 Noise

In what follows we present a basic physical argument for the computation of $\langle \pi\pi \rangle$ due to the noise $\delta \mathcal{O}_S$. (For ease of notation here we return to the more traditional range for time, $t \in [0, \infty]$.) The detailed analysis will be presented in section 6.

¹¹The other solution decays faster with time.

In the EOM of (1.2) we now have to deal with an extra term, namely

$$\ddot{\pi}_k + \gamma \dot{\pi}_k + \omega_0^2 \pi_k = -N_c^{-1} \delta \mathcal{O}_S, \qquad (1.31)$$

where N_c is a normalization factor. Since we take $\gamma \gg H$, we work in the limit where

$$\omega_0 \ll \gamma. \tag{1.32}$$

Under this condition we can in principle find the exact Green's function, however it is easier to look at the simplified version that holds in the overdamped limit

$$\left(\frac{d}{dt} + \frac{\omega_0^2}{\gamma}\right) G_{\gamma}^k(t - t') = \frac{1}{\gamma} \delta(t - t'), \qquad (1.33)$$

where we drop the factor $\frac{d^2 G_{\gamma}^k}{dt^2} \ll \gamma \frac{dG_{\gamma}^k}{dt}$. The solution reads

$$G_{\gamma}^{k}(t-t') = \frac{1}{\gamma} e^{-\frac{\omega_{0}^{2}}{\gamma}(t-t')} \theta(t-t').$$
(1.34)

(The k dependence is implicit in ω_0 .) We see that the response induced by the Green's function is approximately constant for sources concentrated on late times, while it becomes exponentially damped for very early sources. This allows us to define an 'equilibration time' as the scale controlling the exponential suppression:

$$\tau_{\rm eq}^{-1} \sim \frac{\omega_0^2}{\gamma}.\tag{1.35}$$

The solution for π now reads

$$\pi_k(t) = -N_c^{-1} \int_0^\infty dt' G_\gamma^k(t-t') \delta \mathcal{O}_S(\mathbf{k},t').$$
(1.36)

(This is all what is left at late times $t \gg \tau_{eq}$ since the homogeneous solution dies away.) Assuming a white noise spectrum,

$$\langle \delta \mathcal{O}_S(\mathbf{k}, t') \delta \mathcal{O}_S(\mathbf{q}, t) \rangle \simeq (2\pi)^3 \nu_{\mathcal{O}} \delta(t - t') \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{k}),$$
 (1.37)

the two-point function turns into

$$\langle \pi_k(t)\pi_q(t)\rangle = N_c^{-2} \int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty dt'' dt' G_\gamma^k(t-t') G_\gamma^q(t-t'') \langle \delta \mathcal{O}_S(\mathbf{k},t') \delta \mathcal{O}_S(\mathbf{q},t'') \rangle$$
(1.38)

$$\simeq (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}+\mathbf{q}) \nu_{\mathcal{O}} N_c^{-2} \int_0^\infty dt' \left(G_\gamma^k(t-t') \right)^2.$$

Performing the integral we obtain

$$\langle \pi_k(t)\pi_q(t)\rangle \simeq \frac{\nu_{\mathcal{O}}(2\pi)^3}{N_c^2\omega_0^2\gamma} \left(1 - e^{-\frac{2\omega_0^2}{\gamma}t}\right)\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{q}) \quad \to \quad \frac{\nu_{\mathcal{O}}(2\pi)^3}{N_c^2\gamma\omega_0^2}\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{q}), \quad (1.39)$$

which tends to a constant as $t \to +\infty$ as we expected.

In thermal equilibrium, when the FD theorem applies, we can relate the amplitude of the noise $\nu_{\mathcal{O}}$ to the damping scale of the Green's function and the temperature T. If that was the case we would then have

$$\nu_{\mathcal{O}} = N_c \gamma T \quad \Rightarrow \quad \langle \pi^2 \rangle \sim \frac{T}{N_c \omega_0^2},$$
(1.40)

or equivalently

$$N_c \omega_0^2 \langle \pi^2 \rangle \sim T. \tag{1.41}$$

This expression is suggestive because it reminds us of the equipartition of energy in thermal equilibrium. If we interpret $N_c \omega_0^2$ as a spring constant k_s and π as an harmonic oscillator, then $k_s \langle \pi^2 \rangle \sim T$. Indeed the factor of N_c is the canonical normalization for the field π , and in a sense it represents the 'mass' of the harmonic field π (which does not have a mass in the strict sense).

The above expressions allow us to understand the properties of the Green's functions in the expanding universe, which is the case of interest here. The equilibration time represents the time it takes for the interactions to cancel out the effect of an initial fluctuation. This effect is due to dissipation. Indeed, in the absence of dissipation the effect of the initial conditions never disappear. The expression in eq. (1.39), which was obtained in a Minkowski background, is also valid in the limit in which we can neglect the time scale of variation of ω_0 , given by H^{-1} , with respect to the time scale of the Green's function, i.e. τ_{eq}^{-1} . When this condition is violated we cannot trust the solution any longer. However, we can still look at the EOM for π and realize that since it contains only derivatives, if the noise is sufficiently concentrated at short distances, the correlation function becomes a constant. Using $\omega_0 = c_s k/a$ this happens when

$$\frac{\omega_0^2}{\gamma} \sim H \quad \Rightarrow \quad \omega_0 \sim \sqrt{\gamma H} \quad \Rightarrow \quad k_\star \sim \sqrt{\frac{\gamma H}{c_s^2}}.$$
(1.42)

Notice that at freezing the physical momentum is much larger than H for $\gamma \gg H$. Then from eq. (1.39) and matching the solution deep inside the horizon and at horizon crossing we obtain (after re-inserting the factors of a, the scale factor)

$$\langle \pi_k \pi_q \rangle(t_\star) \sim \frac{\nu_{\mathcal{O}}(2\pi)^3}{c_s^2 N_c^2 \gamma(k/a_\star)^2} \frac{1}{a_\star^3} \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{q}) \sim \frac{\sqrt{H_\star/\gamma} \nu_{\mathcal{O}}}{N_c^2 (c_s^2 k)^3} (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{q}), \tag{1.43}$$

where we used $(\omega_0^{\star})^2 = (c_s k/a_{\star})^2$ and $1/a_{\star} = \sqrt{\gamma H_{\star}}/(c_s^{\star}k)$. For instance if we use the relation in eq. (1.40) we get

$$\langle \pi_k \pi_q \rangle(t_\star) \simeq (2\pi)^3 \frac{\sqrt{\gamma H_\star} T}{N_c (c_s^* k)^3} \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{q}).$$
 (1.44)

These are indeed the results we find in the full computation (see eqs. (6.3), (6.5)). Notice that depending on the value of $\nu_{\mathcal{O}}$, γ and N_c (and/or T), the two point function can be significantly enhanced with respect to the standard result.

1.4 Non-linear effects

To finish our summary let us briefly study possible non-linear interactions along the same line of reasoning. We will analyze these effects in great detail in the forthcoming sections. However, it is instructive to study a few simple cases which turn out to be paradigmatic examples.

1.4.1 Shift symmetry

Let us start by considering interactions that respect a shift symmetry for π . Then the first operator we may introduce is of the form $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}\dot{\pi}$ (so that $\mathcal{O} = \dot{\tilde{\mathcal{O}}}$). The structure of the Lagrangian induced by the non-linear realization of time-diffeomorphisms implies that this term comes attached with:¹²

$$-\frac{1}{2}\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(\partial_i \pi)^2. \tag{1.45}$$

For simplicity we remove the tildes from now on. Under the assumption that the linear piece induces dissipation (see eq. (1.20)), it is straightforward to show the EOM becomes¹³

$$\ddot{\pi}_k + \gamma \left(\dot{\pi}_k - \frac{1}{2} [\partial_i \pi \partial_i \pi]_k \right) + \omega_0^2(k) \pi_k = -N_c^{-1} \left(\delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_k^S - [\partial_i (\tilde{\mathcal{O}} \partial_i \pi)]_k \right), \tag{1.46}$$

where $[]_k$ stands for the convolution. We will not attempt a detailed account at this stage, but instead we provide some heuristic arguments to isolate the basic bits of the full computation (see section 7.1 otherwise). There are at least two effects due to the non-linearities to take into account (ignoring the homogenous solution, which as we discussed decays away), namely

$$\pi_{k}(t) = N_{c}^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt' G_{\gamma}^{k}(t-t') \left\{ -\delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_{k}^{S}(t') - \frac{\gamma k^{2}}{N_{c}} \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} dt'' G_{\gamma}^{k}(t'-t'') \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_{k}^{S}(t'') \right]^{2} - \frac{k^{2}}{N_{c}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tilde{t} G_{\gamma}^{k}(t'-\tilde{t}) \delta \mathcal{O}_{k}^{S}(\tilde{t}) \delta \mathcal{O}_{k}^{S}(t') \right\}.$$
(1.47)

The second term in the first line comes from the quadratic term $(\partial_i \pi)^2$ in eq. (1.46) after substituting the forced solution for π , i.e. $\pi \sim -\int G \delta \mathcal{O}_S$. The piece in the second line comes instead from the last term on the right hand side (r.h.s.) of eq. (1.46). Let us compute the contribution from the first non-linear term. Assuming the noise is Gaussian, e.g.

$$\langle \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_1^S \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_2^S \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_3^S \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_4^S \rangle \sim \langle \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_1^S \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_2^S \rangle \langle \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_3^S \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_4^S \rangle + \dots, \qquad (1.48)$$

and using the local properties of the two-point functions together with eq. (1.37), we obtain (for $k_1 \sim k_2 \sim k_3 \sim k$)¹⁴

$$\langle \pi_k \pi_k \pi_k \rangle_{(\gamma)} = -\frac{\gamma \nu_{\mathcal{O}}^2 k^2}{N_c^4} \int dt' dt'' dt''' \left(G_{\gamma}^k (t - t''') \right)^2 G_{\gamma}^k (t - t') \left(G_{\gamma}^k (t' - t'') \right)^2 + \dots \quad (1.49)$$

¹²We will show this term arises from a $-\mathcal{O}g^{00}$ coupling, and we particularize to $(\partial_i \pi)^2$ since it dominates over other terms, such as $\dot{\pi}^2$, for $k_{\star} \sim \sqrt{\gamma H}/c_s \gg H$.

¹³As we discuss momentarily, the non-linear coupling proportional to γ can also arise from an emergent shift symmetry in the non-linear response for δO .

¹⁴To simplify the notation, here and elsewhere in this section we omit the momentum conserving delta functions.

If we now multiply by $-H^3$ to transform to ζ ($\zeta \simeq -H\pi$) and divide by $\langle \zeta \zeta \rangle^2$, using

$$\int dt G_{\gamma}^k \sim 1/\omega_0^2 \sim 1/(c_s k)^2,$$
 (1.50)

this simplified analysis indicates a value for the non-Gaussianities of order

$$|f_{\rm NL}| \sim \frac{\gamma}{c_s^2 H}.\tag{1.51}$$

Unfortunately we cannot use the local approximation for the last term in eq. (1.46) since we assumed it applies for its time derivative, however, let us try to estimate its value by comparing with the one we just computed. If we take the ratio between the two at the level of the EOM we get (schematically)

$$\frac{\gamma k^2 \int dt \dot{G}_{\gamma}^k \delta \mathcal{O}_k \pi_k}{k^2 \pi_k \delta \mathcal{O}_k} \sim 1, \qquad (1.52)$$

which supports the value of $f_{\rm NL}$ in eq. (1.51) also for this operator.¹⁵

Notice that we can also estimate the size of the non-Gaussianities by taking the ratio

$$\frac{\mathcal{O}(\partial_i \pi)^2}{\mathcal{O}\dot{\pi}} \bigg|_{k_\star \sim \sqrt{\gamma H/c_s^2}, \ \omega_\star \sim H} \sim \frac{k_\star^2 \zeta^2}{H^2 \zeta} \sim \frac{\gamma}{c_s^2 H} \zeta \to |f_{\rm NL}| \sim \frac{\gamma}{c_s^2 H}, \tag{1.53}$$

which is consistent with the more detailed result of eq. (7.11).

From here we conclude that a large value for γ is linked to large non-Gaussianities, provided the operator responsible for dissipation also induces terms such as in eq. (1.45), or more generally a $\gamma(\partial_i \pi)^2$ piece in the EOM as in eq. (1.46). As we shall see throughout the paper, this is indeed the case for a vast class of models.

1.4.2 Approximate shift symmetry

Let us assume the shift symmetry $\pi \to \pi + c$ is softly broken by a parameter $\epsilon \ll 1$, as it happens due to the slow-roll approximation. Without this invariance we can have a coupling of the form

$$-\dot{f}(t)\delta\mathcal{O}\pi,\tag{1.54}$$

responsible for a (local) dissipative term, plus a source noise of the form $-\hat{f}\delta\mathcal{O}_S$. (As we shall see these terms arise from a $-f(t+\pi)\mathcal{O}$ coupling in the effective action.) Notice at linear level this operator is of the same type we studied previously, except for the overall factor of \dot{f} , which we assume is (approximately) constant to preserve the shift symmetry. In this scenario, and assuming the noise is Gaussian, contributions to the three point function will be induced by $\delta\mathcal{O}\ddot{f}(t)\pi^2$ at linear order in the response. Then the level of non-Gaussianity can be estimated to be (see section 7.2 for more details)

$$\frac{\ddot{f}(t)\mathcal{O}\pi^2}{\dot{f}(t)\mathcal{O}\pi} \sim -\frac{\ddot{f}(t)}{\dot{f}(t)H}\zeta \to f_{\rm NL} \sim -\frac{\ddot{f}(t)}{\dot{f}(t)H} \sim O(\epsilon), \tag{1.55}$$

that is in practice very small, provided $\epsilon \ll 1$.

¹⁵For the estimate in (1.52) we used the linear part of eq. (1.47), integrated by parts the time derivative, and used $\int dt \dot{G}_{\gamma}^k \sim 1/\gamma$.

1.4.3 Non-linear response

Let us continue with the coupling $f(t + \pi)\mathcal{O}$ but include now the response beyond linear theory, in which case we do not necessarily have the constraint of eq. (1.55). Hence we have to include contributions to $\delta^{(2)}\mathcal{O}_R$ at second order in π which arise from the intrinsic three-point function of the $\delta\mathcal{O}$'s, i.e. $\langle [\delta\mathcal{O}(z), [\delta\mathcal{O}(y), \delta\mathcal{O}(x)]] \rangle$. In general, making use of the local approximation, we have (schematically)

$$\dot{f}\delta^{(2)}\mathcal{O}_k^R(\omega) \sim N_c g_\mathcal{O}(k,\omega)\pi_k^2,$$
(1.56)

with $g_{\mathcal{O}}(k,\omega)$ depending on the specific dynamics of the model. From here we get non-Gaussianities of order

$$\frac{g_{\mathcal{O}}(k,\omega)\pi_k^2}{c_s^2k^2\pi_k} \sim f_{\rm NL}\zeta \to f_{\rm NL} \sim \frac{g_{\mathcal{O}}(k_\star,\omega_\star)}{(c_sk_\star)^2H},\tag{1.57}$$

which is not suppressed by factors of $\ddot{f}/(H\dot{f})$. Unfortunately, it is not possible in general to relate the level of non-Gaussianities and the dissipative coefficient γ , unless the different terms in $\delta^{(n)}\mathcal{O}_R$ are somehow related. However, there are specific situations where this happens, in which case we expect a connection between dissipation and non-linear interactions.

For instance let us consider the case in which inflation is driven by a scalar field ϕ and the dynamics of the interaction is such that in the background

$$\bar{\mathcal{O}} = F(\bar{\phi}). \tag{1.58}$$

Intuitively eq. (1.58) follows from some basic requirement of a velocity dependence to induce dissipation.

Now we perturb $\phi \to \overline{\phi} + \delta \phi$. Given that \mathcal{O} is a scalar, then (provided $\delta \phi$ is a *smooth* perturbation)

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle \simeq F\left[\sqrt{\left(-\partial\phi\right)^2}\right] \quad \to \quad \dot{f}\delta\mathcal{O}_R \simeq N_c\gamma\left(\dot{\pi} + \frac{\alpha}{2}\dot{\pi}^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\partial_i\pi)^2 + \dots\right),\tag{1.59}$$

where $\pi = \delta \phi / \dot{\phi}$, and the factor of \dot{f} appears in order to properly normalize the coupling to π . In this expression we also assumed the linear piece is responsible for dissipation. (The coefficient α is an order one number which vanishes for the special case F(x) = |x|.)¹⁶ One might wonder whether there is any way to get $\dot{\phi}$'s other than through $\sqrt{-(\partial \phi)^2}$. Certainly the background breaks time diffeomorphisms, and therefore we have a natural timelike vector $n_{\mu} \sim \partial_{\mu} t$ at our disposition. However, if the response of the \mathcal{O} 's is predominately determined by the field ϕ , we have $n_{\mu} \sim \partial_{\mu} \phi$, then

$$\partial_t \phi \to n^\mu \partial_\mu \phi = \sqrt{-(\partial \phi)^2}.$$
 (1.60)

The extra terms in eq. (1.59) thus appear from the fact that the equal time surfaces set by the inflaton also fluctuate. This case is now similar to the one we discussed in section 1.4.1,

¹⁶The argument applies to a generic function $F(\dot{\phi})$, in which case $\gamma \equiv \gamma(\dot{\phi})$. See section 7.3 for more details.

and we end up with a $\gamma(\partial_i \pi)^2$ term in the EOM. Hence we get $g_{\mathcal{O}} \simeq \gamma k^2$, and plugging it back into eq. (1.57) we obtain

$$|f_{\rm NL}| \sim \frac{\gamma}{c_s^2 H},\tag{1.61}$$

as in eq. (1.51). Therefore, in this example large dissipation is also connected with an enhancement of non-linear effects.

There is a subtle point in the above argument. As we mentioned, in general large non-Gaussianities do not necessarily follow from a dissipative term. We obtain large effects in cases where the \mathcal{O} operators are sensitive only to fluctuations of the clock that controls the end of inflation, namely the field ϕ in the above example. We refer to this as having a *preferred clock*. We discuss this in more detail in section 7.3.

Note also that these estimations apply under the assumption of locality (in which case we have a well defined derivative expansion). Non-local effects can potentially increase even more the level of non-Gaussianities, such as it happens in the model analyzed in [31]. However in this regime the EFT treatment becomes more difficult. We do not explore this scenario in this paper.

1.4.4 Non-Gaussian noise

Going over the possible sources of non-linearties, we are finally led to consider the case in which correlation functions of the noise are themselves not Gaussian. If, for simplicity, we assume that the three-point function is local, i.e.

$$\langle \delta \mathcal{O}_S(\tilde{t}) \delta \mathcal{O}_S(t') \delta \mathcal{O}_S(t'') \rangle \sim \nu_{\mathcal{O}^3} \delta(\tilde{t} - t') \delta(t' - t''), \qquad (1.62)$$

we get from the $-\dot{f}(t)\delta \mathcal{O}\pi$ interaction

$$\langle \pi_k \pi_k \pi_k \rangle_{(\gamma)} \sim -\frac{\dot{f}^3 \nu_{\mathcal{O}^3}}{N_c^3} \int dt' (G_{\gamma}^k(t-t'))^3.$$
 (1.63)

Then using eq. (1.50) we can estimate

$$f_{\rm NL} \sim \frac{\gamma \nu_{\mathcal{O}^3} N_c}{\dot{f}(t) \nu_{\mathcal{O}}^2},\tag{1.64}$$

which depends on various parameters, although clearly it can also be large. See section 7.4 for more details.

Adding the expansion of the universe changes things a little bit, in particular we will have to deal with exponential dilution. However, once we assume the dissipative effects are taking place at a faster pace than the Hubble expansion our results in flat space are a good guidance to understand the basic features of the full computation. As we shall see, most of our previous analysis remains essentially unchanged (provided the dissipative mechanism acts periodically over the inflationary epoch).

The new ingredient is the construction of an EFT formalism from which we will obtain the type of terms we discussed, and more importantly the non trivial connections between the linear and non-linear effects. We start with the EFT setup next.

2 Effective field theory setup

As shown in [17], for single clock inflation the action in the unitary gauge is given by

$$S = \frac{M_p^2}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} R + \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} (\overline{p} - \overline{\rho} - (\overline{p} + \overline{\rho})g^{00}) + \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} M_2^4(t) (1 + g^{00})^2 - \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \overline{M}_1^3(t) \delta K_{\mu}^{\mu} (1 + g^{00}) - \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \overline{M}_2^2(t) (\delta K_{\mu}^{\mu})^2 - \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \overline{M}_3^2(t) \delta K_{\nu}^{\mu} \delta K_{\nu}^{\nu} + \frac{1}{6} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} M_3^4(t) (1 + g^{00})^3 - \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \overline{M}_4^2 \hat{g}_{\nu}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \delta g^{00} \hat{g}^{\nu\rho} \partial_{\rho} \delta g^{00} - \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \overline{M}_4^2(t) (\delta K_{\mu}^{\mu})^2 (1 + g^{00}) \dots$$
(2.1)

where the spatially flat FRW background metric is given by

$$d\overline{s}^2 = \overline{g}_{\mu\nu} dx^\mu dx^\nu = -dt^2 + a^2(t)\delta_{ij} dx^i dx^j, \qquad (2.2)$$

and the unit vector perpendicular to surfaces of constant time t,

$$n_{\mu} = \frac{-\partial_{\mu}t}{\sqrt{-g^{\nu\rho}\partial_{\nu}t\partial_{\rho}t}},\tag{2.3}$$

takes the form $n_{\mu} = -\delta^0_{\mu} (-g^{00})^{-1/2}$. The extrinsic curvature of the surfaces is

$$K^{\mu}_{\nu} = \hat{g}^{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\rho} n_{\nu} \tag{2.4}$$

where $\hat{g}_{\mu\rho} = g_{\mu\rho} + n_{\mu}n_{\rho}$ is the induced spatial metric. Thus $\delta K^{\mu}_{\nu} = K^{\mu}_{\nu} - H\hat{g}^{\mu}_{\nu}$ is the variation of the extrinsic curvature of constant time surfaces with respect to the unperturbed FRW. The ellipses in (2.1) account for any additional term that respect (time dependent) spatial diffeomorphisms. Defining

$$T_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}},\tag{2.5}$$

Einstein equations imply (a bar over any quantity denotes its unperturbed value)

$$\overline{\rho} = 3M_p^2 H^2, \tag{2.6a}$$

$$\overline{p} = -M_p^2 (2\dot{H} + 3H^2). \tag{2.6b}$$

where $H = \dot{a}/a$, $M_p^2 = (8\pi G_N)^{-1}$.

To introduce the π field in the EFT we follow Stückelberg's trick,

$$t \to \tilde{t} = t - \pi, \ x^i \to \tilde{x}^i = x^i, \tag{2.7}$$

so that g^{00} can be written as

$$g^{00}(x) = \tilde{g}^{00}(\tilde{x})(1+\dot{\pi})^2 + 2\partial_i \pi \tilde{g}^{0i}(\tilde{x})(1+\dot{\pi}) + \tilde{g}^{ij}(\tilde{x})\partial_i \pi \partial_j \pi, \qquad (2.8)$$

and δK_i^i is

$$\delta K_j^i(x) = -\frac{\partial_i \partial_j \pi}{a^2} - \frac{1}{2} [\partial_j \delta \tilde{g}^{0i} + \partial_i \delta \tilde{g}^{0j}] - \frac{\partial_t (a^4 \delta \tilde{g}^{ij})}{2a^2} + a^2 H \delta \tilde{g}^{ij} - \left(\frac{H}{2} \delta \tilde{g}^{00} - \dot{H}\pi\right) \delta_{ij}, \qquad (2.9)$$

to linear order in the perturbations. From now on tildes will be omitted. In addition, we can choose coordinates so that the metric in the perturbations is given by

$$ds^{2} = -N^{2}dt^{2} + h_{ij}(dx^{i} + N^{i}dt)(dx^{j} + N^{j}dt).$$
(2.10)

In this paper we will ignore tensor perturbations.

In general the metric perturbations δN and N_i are determined by the momentum and Hamiltonian constraints. The action for π is obtained after introducing their solution back into the action. For single field inflation, it was shown in [17] that in certain regimes the metric fluctuations can be ignored, and indeed these are suppressed either by slow roll parameters, or by ratios of H^2/M_p^2 . The same occurs when we include ADOF. We discuss the details of this decoupling limit in appendix D.

The quadratic contribution to the action for π can thus be written as

$$S_{\pi} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x a^3 \left\{ (\overline{p} + \overline{\rho} + 4M_2^4) \dot{\pi}^2 - (\overline{p} + \overline{\rho} + H\overline{M}_1^3) \frac{(\partial_i \pi)^2}{a^2} - (\overline{M}_2^2 + \overline{M}_3^2) \frac{(\nabla^2 \pi)^2}{a^4} \right\}.$$
(2.11)

(To arrive at this result we have performed integrations by parts.¹⁷) The above expression can be re-arranged as follows (ignoring \overline{M}_2 and \overline{M}_3)

$$S_{\pi} = \int d^4 x a^3 \frac{N_c}{2} \left\{ \dot{\pi}^2 - c_s^2 \frac{(\partial_i \pi)^2}{a^2} \right\}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where

$$c_s^2 = \frac{(\overline{p} + \overline{\rho} + H\overline{M}_1^3)}{(\overline{p} + \overline{\rho} + 4M_2^4)}, \ N_c = (\overline{p} + \overline{\rho} + H\overline{M}_1^3)/c_s^2.$$
(2.13)

For more details on the EFT formalism see [17, 22, 30]. As we show next, the introduction of ADOF changes the relations in (2.13), since in general they can have a non-vanishing background stress energy tensor.¹⁸

3 Adding new degrees of freedom

In order to include dissipative effects in our system we will follow the procedure of section 1.2 and introduce a set of (composite) operators that behave as an effective environment. Since we are dealing with gravity, we should take into account that the stress tensor

¹⁷The differences with [17] are due to the fact that here we are using a term $\delta g^{00} \delta K^{\mu}_{\mu}$ instead of $\delta N \delta E^{\mu}_{\mu}$, where $K^{\mu}_{\mu} = \sqrt{-g^{00}} E^{\mu}_{\nu}$. The relations between the coefficients are $\overline{M}_{1}^{3} = d_{1}M^{3}/2$, $M^{4}_{2} = M^{4} - 3/4d_{1}HM^{3}$, $\overline{M}_{2} + \overline{M}_{3} = M^{2}(d_{2} + d_{3})$.

¹⁸As we will explain later, this in not in contradiction with the results of [17], where it was shown that the tadopole coefficients are uniquely fixed by H and \dot{H} . This is due to a different choice for the field π .

corresponding to these new degrees of freedom, $T_{\mathcal{O}}^{\mu\nu}$, may contribute significantly to the background. This is the case, for example, in the trapped inflation model of [31] where particles are created while the inflaton slow rolls (see section 8).

The fact that there is more than one field whose stress energy density takes an expectation value slightly complicates the construction of the EFT. The basic idea of the EFT of inflation is rooted in the necessity of having an end point for the accelerated expansion, and that there is a physical clock that defines a special time-slicing where the clock is taken to be uniform. This is the so-called unitary gauge. Time translations are spontaneously broken during inflation by the presence of this preferred clock, which means that there is a Goldstone boson that non-linearly realizes the symmetry. In the case where we add the ADOF, there is an ambiguity in the definition of the clock field, as the additional fields may have non-vanishing background expectation value that also break time-translation invariance. Nevertheless, there are two natural definitions of the field that interpolates for the Goldstone boson, both equally good. The first one follows the approach of [30], in which one introduces the Goldstone boson of time-translations, $\tilde{\pi}$, such that the action takes the form [17, 30]

$$\int \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} \left(-M_p^2 (3H^2(t+\tilde{\pi}) + \dot{H}(t+\tilde{\pi})) + M_p^2 \dot{H}(t+\tilde{\pi}) \tilde{g}^{00}(\tilde{\pi}) \right) + \dots$$
(3.1)

(The ellipses include other (non-Goldstone) combinations that depend on the ADOF.) In this approach the only tadoples (namely terms that are linear in $\delta g^{\mu\nu}$) are the ones associated with the operators $\sqrt{-g}g^{00}$ and $\sqrt{-g}$, whose coefficients are uniquely fixed by the geometry as shown in [17, 30].

A second alternative, which is the one we take in this paper, is to define a unitary gauge in which the physical clock that controls the end of inflation is taken to be uniform. Then by performing a time diffeomorphism we introduce a different Stückelberg field, that we will denote as π . The main difference between the two gauges relies on the fact that now the coefficients for the tadpole operators, $\sqrt{-g}g^{00}$ and $\sqrt{-g}$, are not determined by the geometry and will in general depend on contributions from the ADOF in the background (see eqs. (3.2)-(3.5) below). This is the case because we also need to include tadpole operators induced by the ADOF. The two different π 's are related by a mixing that involves the ADOF fluctuations, schematically: $\tilde{\pi} \sim \pi + \delta \mathcal{O}$. The field $\tilde{\pi}$ has a simpler Lagrangian, because the coefficients of the two tadpole terms are fixed, as shown in [17]. However, it is not convenient for us because $\tilde{\pi}$ is not sufficient to determine the end of inflation. If we were working with $\tilde{\pi}$, then the curvature perturbation would be related to the latter by a relationship of the form $\zeta \sim H\tilde{\pi} + \delta \mathcal{O}$. Instead, by taking the second choice, we have a slightly more complicated Lagrangian, yet the link between ζ and π is simply $\zeta \simeq -H\pi$ (at linear order), with no dependence on the \mathcal{O} operators. This is the case because, as we emphasized in the introduction, we work under the assumption that the ADOF do not contribute to density fluctuations at late times.

This is the main difference between the cases we are studying here and the analysis of [30], where additional light fields were included to the EFT of inflation of [17]. It is easy to convince oneself that the two gauge choices are equivalent. We take the second.

Let us continue with the construction of the effective Lagrangian. Following [17] our starting point is an effective action in a unitary gauge in which we write

$$\int \sqrt{-g} (\Lambda(t) - c(t)g^{00}) + S_{\mathcal{O}}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where $c(t), \Lambda(t)$ are certain tadpole coefficients soon to be fixed by enforcing Einstein equations. Note we added $S_{\mathcal{O}} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{O}}$ to account for the dynamics of \mathcal{O} independent of π . (We will incorporate the couplings between π and \mathcal{O} in the next section.) Also, by construction, $S_{\mathcal{O}}$ is a scalar under diffeomorphisms. Then with

$$\overline{T}^{\mathcal{O}}_{\mu\nu} = \operatorname{diag}(\overline{\rho}_{\mathcal{O}}, a^2 \overline{p}_{\mathcal{O}}, a^2 \overline{p}_{\mathcal{O}}, a^2 \overline{p}_{\mathcal{O}}), \qquad (3.3)$$

it is straightforward to show

$$\Lambda(t) + \frac{1}{2}(\bar{p}_{\mathcal{O}} - \bar{\rho}_{\mathcal{O}}) = -M_p^2(3H^2 + \dot{H})$$
(3.4)

$$c(t) + \frac{1}{2}(\bar{p}_{\mathcal{O}} + \bar{\rho}_{\mathcal{O}}) = -M_p^2 \dot{H}.$$
(3.5)

As explained in [17] we introduce π following the Stückelberg trick (see eqs. (2.7) and (2.8)), which for the action in eq. (3.2) means that only c(t) contributes to the normalization of the quadratic Lagrangian in π , so that¹⁹

$$c_s^2 N_c \equiv 2c(t) = -2M_p^2 \dot{H} - (\bar{\rho}_{\mathcal{O}} + \bar{p}_{\mathcal{O}}).$$
(3.6)

(Note this coefficient would be given by $-2M_p^2\dot{H}$ in the absence of ADOF, in which case both definitions of π would agree.)

As an example, let us consider once again inflation described by a scalar field with the following action

$$S_{\text{tot}} = \int \sqrt{g} \left(-\frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 - V(\phi) + \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{O}} \right).$$
(3.7)

Since we assume the ADOF do not contribute significantly to density fluctuations at late time, our unitary gauge is the one where $\delta \phi = 0$. Then we obtain

$$S_{\text{tot}} = \int \sqrt{g} \left(-\frac{1}{2} \dot{\bar{\phi}}^2 g^{00} - V(\bar{\phi}) + \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{O}} \right), \qquad (3.8)$$

where $\bar{\phi}(t)$ is the background value. On the other hand, Friedmann equations (including the ADOF) tell us $-\dot{\phi}^2/2 = -N_c/2$ and $V(\bar{\phi}) = \Lambda(t)$, with (Λ, N_c) defined in eqs. (3.4) and (3.6) (for $c_s = 1$). Hence the action takes the form of the expression in eq. (3.2) with the aforementioned coefficients. Moreover, we also get the usual Lagrangian for π normalized by N_c , after identifying $\pi = \delta \phi/\dot{\phi}$. We notice in passing that assuming the stress energy tensor that follows from $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{O}}$ obeys the null energy condition, i.e. $\bar{\rho}_{\mathcal{O}} + \bar{p}_{\mathcal{O}} \ge 0$, then

$$c_s^2 N_c \le -2M_p^2 \dot{H}.\tag{3.9}$$

¹⁹Terms linear in π cancel out once the background EOM are satisfied.

Adding higher dimensional operators will shift the normalization of π , like in eq. (2.13). In particular we will generate a non-zero correction to the speed of sound, so that $c_s \leq 1$. Therefore, before including interactions with the ADOF, at quadratic order the action is given by eq. (2.12), with (N_c, c_s) some matching coefficients, defined as in eq. (2.13).

We will not adopt any particular model for the ADOF, rather we will attempt to produce correlations between different observables, such as the power spectrum and non-Gaussianities, under some mild assumptions about the *n*-point functions of the type $\langle \mathcal{O} \dots \mathcal{O} \rangle$. But first let us start by constraining the type of operators that we may add to the effective action in the unitary gauge.

4 The interaction terms in unitary gauge

We move now to the description of the type of operators that we can add to our Lagrangian in the unitary gauge that will induce couplings between the ADOF and the fluctuations of the clock. In general, the operators will have some tensorial transformation properties under space-time diffeomorphisms, and so they will be classified according to their rank. As it was shown in the analysis of [17, 30], one can write down operators containing only free upper 0 indices. In our case, however, there is a subtlety we need to address since the \mathcal{O} 's are composite operators that may also contain the metric. Since the metric can be used to contract tensors made out of several different fields, we define tensor operators $\mathcal{O}_{\alpha\beta...}$ always with indices down, and so that $\delta \mathcal{O}_{\alpha\beta...}/\delta g^{\mu\nu} = 0$.

Let us give an example. Let us consider two operators, $\mathcal{O}_1 = \psi^2$ and $\mathcal{O}_2 = g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\psi\partial_{\nu}\psi$, with ψ a scalar field. These are both scalar operators, however, according to our prescription we should write: $\mathcal{O}_2 = g^{\mu\nu}\tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{2\mu\nu}$, with $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{2\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\psi\partial_{\nu}\psi$. In this way the ambiguity with respect to metric factors is removed. Operators are then classified as a Taylor expansion in fluctuations and derivatives as usual. We now proceed to illustrate the leading ones.

4.1 Scalars

In an expansion in metric fluctuations and derivatives, the most relevant operator is given by

$$S_1^{\mathcal{O}} = -\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} f_1(t) \mathcal{O}_1, \qquad (4.1)$$

where \mathcal{O}_1 is a scalar under full space-time diffeomorphisms. The next type of operators can be organized as follows

$$S_2^{\mathcal{O}} = -\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left\{ f_2(t) \delta g^{00} \mathcal{O}_2 + f_3(t) (\delta g^{00})^2 \mathcal{O}_3 + f_4(t) (\delta g^{00})^3 \mathcal{O}_4 + \dots \right\},$$
(4.2)

where \mathcal{O}_a , a = 1, 2..., are also scalars and the ellipses include pieces involving higher power of the fluctuations as well as higher derivative terms such as $\partial^0 \delta g^{00}$ or δK . In appendix E we discuss briefly operators of the form

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \ s(t) \frac{1}{M_K} \hat{\mathcal{O}} \delta K^{\nu}_{\nu}. \tag{4.3}$$

As we discussed, the operators $\mathcal{O}_{1,2}$ may have (time dependent) background values, e.g. $\mathcal{O}_{1,2} = \bar{\mathcal{O}}_{1,2}(t) + \delta O_{1,2}$, which could also contribute to the background Einstein equations. These lead to corrections to $\bar{T}_{\mu\nu}$ from the interaction between the ADOF and the one responsible for inflation. For example, let us take once again the example of a slowly rolling scalar inflaton and add the coupling

$$\frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \, \frac{\chi^2}{\Lambda_\chi^2} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha \phi \partial_\beta \phi \to -\frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{\chi^2}{\Lambda_\chi^2} \dot{\phi}^2\right) g^{00}, \tag{4.4}$$

to a scalar field χ (say we have a shift symmetry $\phi \to \phi + c$ to prevent other couplings). Then the new contribution to $\bar{T}_{\mu\nu}$ is given by

$$\bar{T}^{\chi\phi}_{\mu\nu} = \left((\bar{\rho}_{\chi\phi} + \bar{p}_{\chi\phi}) \delta^0_\mu \delta^0_\nu + \bar{p}_{\chi\phi} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} \right) \tag{4.5}$$

with $\bar{\rho}_{\chi\phi} = \bar{p}_{\chi\phi} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 \bar{\chi}^2 / \Lambda_{\chi}^2$. Einstein equations require

$$-c(t) = \left[M_p^2 \dot{H} + \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\rho}_{\mathcal{O}} + \bar{p}_{\mathcal{O}}) + \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\rho}_{\chi\phi} + \bar{p}_{\chi\phi}) \right], \qquad (4.6)$$

and similarly for $\Lambda(t)$. Notice that the term in eq. (4.4) now contributes to the quadratic action for π , and we get

$$\left[-c(t) - \frac{1}{2}(\bar{\rho}_{\chi\phi} + \bar{p}_{\chi\phi})\right]g^{00}$$
(4.7)

thus the canonical normalization coefficient becomes

$$N_c = -2M_p^2 \dot{H} - (\bar{\rho}_{\mathcal{O}} + \bar{p}_{\mathcal{O}}).$$
(4.8)

This is a general feature: the normalization of the π Lagrangian will be given by the difference between the total 'kinetic term', $(\bar{\rho}+\bar{p})_{\text{tot}} = -2M_p\dot{H}$ and (only) the contribution from $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{O}}$ (the Lagrangian for \mathcal{O} independent of π). In this example N_c is not equal to $\dot{\bar{\phi}}^2$ but rather

$$N_c = \bar{\phi}^2 + 2f_2(t)\bar{\mathcal{O}}_{\chi},\tag{4.9}$$

where $f_2(t) = \dot{\phi}^2/2$ and $\bar{\mathcal{O}}_{\chi} = \bar{\chi}^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2$. But this is what we expect upon noticing that adding the term in (4.4) to the usual Lagrangian, $-\frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi)^2 - V(\phi)$, renormalizes the kinetic part of the action by a factor

$$-\frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi)^2 \to -\frac{1}{2}\left[1 + \frac{\bar{\chi}^2}{\Lambda_{\chi}^2}\right](\partial\phi)^2, \qquad (4.10)$$

and therefore we obtain (using $\pi \sim \delta \phi / \bar{\phi}$)

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\dot{\bar{\phi}}^2 + 2f_2(t)\bar{\mathcal{O}}_{\chi}\right)\left(\frac{\delta\dot{\phi}^2}{\dot{\bar{\phi}}^2} + \ldots\right) \equiv c_s^2 N_c\left(\frac{\dot{\pi}^2}{2} + \ldots\right),\tag{4.11}$$

as in eq. (4.10). Note that from an effective field theory point of view, the consistency of this particular example with a slow rolling scalar field requires to have, even in a situation where $\bar{\chi}^2 \gtrsim |\dot{\phi}|$, $\Lambda_{\chi}^2 \gg \bar{\chi}^2$, and therefore $c_s^2 N_c$ remains essentially given by $\dot{\phi}^2$. This is so

as otherwise we should consider an infinite amount of terms. However this situation is not necessarily the case for all possible UV models, since we could instead of the term in (4.4) write a generic expansion (see for example [51])

$$(\chi^2/\Lambda_{\chi}^2)(\partial\phi)^2 \to M^4 F(\hat{\chi}^2) P(X),$$
(4.12)

with $\hat{\chi} = \chi/\Lambda_{\chi}$ and $X = -(\partial \phi)^2/M^4$ with M some mass scale, such that $f_2(t)\bar{\mathcal{O}}_{\chi} > \dot{\phi}^2$. One of the most useful aspects of the EFT of inflation is that we do not need to worry about a specific realization of the background while studying its perturbations. As a result the scale N_c may be dominated by $f_2(t)\bar{\mathcal{O}}_{\chi}$, rather than $\dot{\phi}^2$.

Let us now return to the operator in eq. (4.1). In principle it can also have a background value, i.e. $\sqrt{-g}f_1(t)\bar{\mathcal{O}}_1(t)$. Since it only contributes a piece proportional to $\sqrt{-g}$ it can be absorbed into $\Lambda(t)$ in eq. (3.2), to ensure the background satisfies Einstein equations. Notice that the full \mathcal{O}_1 is a scalar so that the coupling $f_1(t)\mathcal{O}_1$ only develops π 's from $f_1(t) \to f_1(t+\pi)$. However, if we absorb $f_1(t)\bar{\mathcal{O}}_1$ into $\Lambda(t)$ then its value gets fixed as in eq. (3.4), which we now have to expand in $t + \pi$. Hence somehow the pieces from $\bar{\mathcal{O}}_1(t+\pi)$ must cancel out, and they do once we realize $\delta \mathcal{O}_1(t)$ is not invariant under time reparameterizations and their background values are re-introduced from

$$\delta \mathcal{O}_1 \to \delta \mathcal{O}_1 - \dot{\bar{\mathcal{O}}}_1(t)\pi + \dots$$
 (4.13)

In other words, the fact that the \mathcal{O} operators have background expectation values means that if we split them into background plus fluctuations, the latter shift under a time diffeomorphism.²⁰ Of course if we do not split the operator in this manner, then since \mathcal{O} is a scalar, no π field will be associated with it once we perform a time diffeomorphism.

Let us consider for instance a coupling $\phi^2 \chi^2$ between the inflaton and a second scalar field (this will reappear later on), and allow for a non-zero expectation value $\bar{\chi}^2(t) \neq 0$. In our unitary gauge we have a term in the action $\bar{\phi}(t)^2 \langle \chi^2 \rangle(t)$ (plus perturbations in the χ 's), which we can think of as being included in $V(\bar{\phi})$ (with time dependent coefficients). This corresponds to a $f(t)\mathcal{O}$ type of coupling. As we mentioned above, we do not want to stream π off the time dependence in $\bar{\chi}^2(t)$ (because the full operator is a scalar), but this will happen once we solve for $V(\bar{\phi})$, i.e. $\Lambda(t)$ as in eq. (3.4). However, it is easy to see these extra terms cancel out against the ones induced from eq. (4.13).

Let us finally briefly comment on the slow roll approximation, since in principle the coupling $(f_1(t)\overline{O}_1(t))$ may break it. In general the slow roll condition can be satisfied provided

$$\frac{d^2 \left(f_1(t)\bar{\mathcal{O}}_1(t)\right)}{dt^2} \lesssim \frac{\dot{H}}{H^2}.$$
(4.14)

This requires, in addition to $\epsilon = -\dot{H}/H^2 \ll 1$ and $\eta \equiv \frac{\dot{\epsilon}}{\epsilon H} \ll 1$, that any explicit function of time f(t) in the action, plus all background quantities associated to the ADOF, change very little in a Hubble time. Schematically we write: $\epsilon_f \equiv \frac{\ddot{f}}{\dot{f}H} \ll 1$ and $\epsilon_{\mathcal{O}} \equiv \frac{\dot{\mathcal{O}}}{H\mathcal{O}} \ll 1$.

²⁰If instead we had chosen to work with $\tilde{\pi}$, such that by construction all the information about $\bar{\mathcal{O}}$ is already incorporated in eq. (3.1), we would still have these background values appearing in the Lagrangian from the shift of $\delta \mathcal{O}$ after re-inserting $\tilde{\pi}$, similarly to eq. (4.13).

In practice we assume all the terms proportional to $\bar{\mathcal{O}}_{1,2}(t)$, or in general stemming from $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{O}}$, are included in the background geometry (H, \dot{H}) or into the coefficients (c_s, N_c) , and furthermore with their time dependence suppressed by slow roll parameters unless otherwise noted.

4.2 Vectors

Moving into vector couplings, the one with the least number of metric fluctuations has the form

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \ \tilde{f}_1(t) \mathcal{O}_\mu \delta g^{\mu 0}, \tag{4.15}$$

where we have been careful in defining the vector with the index lowered as we stressed at the beginning of the section. As we will see when we reinsert the π field, something unusual about this operator is that it only entails terms linear in π , provided $\tilde{f}_1(t)$ is a constant. At higher order the generalization is straightforward:

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\tilde{f}_2(t) \mathcal{O}_\alpha \delta g^{00} \delta g^{\alpha 0} + \dots \right).$$
(4.16)

4.3 Tensors

We can move on by considering generic tensors, with their indices contracted with $g^{\mu 0}$'s, as for instance

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \ \hat{f}(t) \mathcal{O}_{\mu...\nu} \delta g^{\mu 0} \dots \delta g^{\nu 0} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \ \hat{f}(t) \mathcal{O}^{0...0}.$$
(4.17)

Another type of terms, perhaps more interesting, are those coupled to the extrinsic curvature. For example,

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \ s(t) \frac{1}{M_K} \tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{\mu\nu} \delta K^{\nu\mu}, \tag{4.18}$$

where the factor of M_K , which we take to be much bigger than Hubble, accounts for the mass dimensions of K^{μ}_{ν} . We can clearly continue adding factors of $\delta g^{0\mu}$ and δK^{μ}_{ν} .

5 The interaction terms for π

As we already pointed out, in this paper we ignore the mixing with gravity and work in the decoupling limit (see appendix D). Therefore, following our previous sketching of the procedure, to construct the interacting part of the action between the ADOF and the π 's we simply replace (see section 2)

$$g^{00} \rightarrow -1 - 2\dot{\pi} - \dot{\pi}^2 + \frac{1}{a^2} (\partial_i \pi)^2$$
 (5.1)

$$g^{0\mu} \rightarrow -\delta_0^{\mu} (1+\dot{\pi}) + \delta_i^{\mu} \frac{1}{a^2} \partial_i \pi.$$
(5.2)

Also terms from the extrinsic curvature, that at linear order induces

$$\delta K_{ij} \to a^2 H \delta_{ij} \dot{\pi} - \partial_i \partial_j \pi + \dots$$
(5.3)

As we anticipated, at quadratic order the Lagrangian for the π field takes the form in eq. (2.12).

Next we include the interaction terms between the \mathcal{O} 's and π in the effective action. Let us start at quadratic level in the fluctuations. There are many operators that contribution at linear order in π . However, from eqs. (5.1), (5.2), (5.3) we note that all the terms at leading order in derivatives can be re-grouped basically as

$$\dot{f}_1(t)\mathcal{O}\pi, \ f_2(t)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}\pi, \ \tilde{f}_1(t)\mathcal{O}^i\partial_i\pi, \ \dots,$$

$$(5.4)$$

where the dots include higher derivative terms. Since the non-trivial features of the nonlinear realization of time-diffeomorphisms comes from the connection between terms with different powers of π , at linear level we obtain basically all the terms allowed by rotational invariance. The first term appears after expanding $f_1(t+\pi)\mathcal{O}$ in powers of π to first order, whereas the second term comes from $f_2(t)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}\delta g^{00}$. Note that there is a contribution from eq. (4.3) to the second term, however, it is suppressed by a factor of $H/M_K \ll 1$. Terms like $\partial_i \pi \mathcal{O}^i$, which follow from $\mathcal{O}_{\mu} \delta g^{\mu 0}$, may also generate contributions to c_s as well as k-dependent friction.

For the purpose of understanding the generation of friction, we can concentrate on the linear order. We can therefore simply use integratation by parts and study an effective operator of the form

$$-\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \,\dot{f}(t)\mathcal{O}(x)\pi(x),\tag{5.5}$$

where $\dot{f}(t)$ provides an overall normalization scale which we assume remains constant protected by an approximate shift symmetry, but see sections 1.4.2 and 7.2. In most of the expressions below we assume \dot{f} is absorbed into \mathcal{O} unless otherwise noted. Here \mathcal{O} accounts for a series of contributions, including $\partial_i \mathcal{O}^i$ etc, so that we expect its Green's function to be quite generic.

We wish to understand now under which circumstances we recover an equation equivalent to (1.2). The main difference, as we just mentioned, lies in the expansion of the universe. A crucial simplification will come from our assumption of a faster than a H^{-1} time scale for dissipation, and therefore our analysis from section 1 remains essentially unaltered.²¹

5.1 Modified dynamics & local approximations

In section 1.2 we started our discussion of the effect of terms such as $\mathcal{O}\pi$ in the dynamics of π in a flat background. The main difference now is the explicit time dependence introduced by the scale factor. For that reason, instead of working in frequency space, we find convenient to work in mixed Fourier space (t, \mathbf{k}) , keeping time as usual. Again we split the operator into pieces,

$$\mathcal{O}(t, \mathbf{x}) = \bar{\mathcal{O}}(t) + \delta \mathcal{O}_S(t, \mathbf{x}) + \delta \mathcal{O}_R(t, \mathbf{x}), \qquad (5.6)$$

²¹This means that in practice we will work in the regime where terms like $H\delta\tilde{\mathcal{O}}$, that appear after we integrate by parts and hit the *a*'s in the volume factors, are such $H\delta\tilde{\mathcal{O}} \ll \delta\tilde{\tilde{\mathcal{O}}}$.

with $\bar{\mathcal{O}}(t)$ the background expectation value, $\delta \mathcal{O}_S(t, \mathbf{x})$ the stochastic fluctuations, and $\delta \mathcal{O}_R(t, \mathbf{x})$ the those induced by π . In what follows we omit the background piece $\bar{\mathcal{O}}(t)$, which as explained in section 4.1, we assume is absorbed in H, \dot{H}, N_c , and its time-dependence is suppressed in the slow roll approximation $(\epsilon, \eta, \epsilon_f, \epsilon_{\mathcal{O}}) \ll 1$.

Recall the first variation in eq. (5.6) represents the noise, whereas the second one is the response to the perturbation induced by the π field, and is given as the integral of a Green's function as in eqs. (1.14), (1.15). Varying the action we obtain the EOM

$$\ddot{\pi}_k(t) + 3H\dot{\pi}_k(t) + \frac{c_s^2 \mathbf{k}^2}{a^2} \pi_k - \frac{1}{N_c} \int dt' a^3(t') G_{\rm ret}^{\mathcal{O}}(t, t', \mathbf{k}) \pi_k(t') = -\frac{1}{N_c} \delta \mathcal{O}_S(t, \mathbf{k}), \quad (5.7)$$

with

$$G_{\rm ret}^{\mathcal{O}}(t,t',\mathbf{k}) = i \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{y}}{(2\pi)^3} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{y}} [\delta \mathcal{O}(t,\mathbf{y}), \delta \mathcal{O}(t',\mathbf{0})] \theta(t-t').$$
(5.8)

(The overall normalization is given by N_c as in eq. (2.12).)

Our first approximation entails locality in space, and so we take the Green's function to be of the form

$$G_{\rm ret}^{\mathcal{O}}(t,t',\mathbf{k}) = \frac{G_{\rm ret}^{\mathcal{O}}(t,t')}{a^{3/2}(t)a^{3/2}(t')} + O(|\mathbf{k}|/M_{\mathcal{O}}),$$
(5.9)

with $M_{\mathcal{O}} \gg k_{\star}$. (The factors of $a^{-3/2}$ account for the fact that we work in co-moving coordinates.) In other words, there is a 'gap' in momentum space determined by the 'mean free path' $l_{\mathcal{O}} \sim 1/M_{\mathcal{O}} \ll 1/k_{\star}$. We perform the same approximation for the correlation functions of the noise. For example for the two-point function we have

$$\langle \delta \mathcal{O}_S(t, \mathbf{k}) \delta \mathcal{O}_S(t', \mathbf{q}) \rangle \simeq \frac{\tilde{\nu}_{\mathcal{O}}(t, t')}{a^{3/2}(t)a^{3/2}(t')} (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{k}).$$
(5.10)

To obtain a local approximation in time we assume that the characteristic time scale for the variation of the kernels, $\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}^{-1} \ll 1/H$, is much smaller than the one of the sources, i.e. the π field. (Notice that, at least in principle, $\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$ is not necessarily related to $l_{\mathcal{O}}$.) Then by changing the integration variable $t' = t - \tau$ in the above EOM we can approximate

$$\pi_k(t-\tau) \simeq \pi_k(t) - \dot{\pi}_k(t)\tau + \dots, \qquad (5.11)$$

The first term would introduce a mass for π , as can be seen after using this approximation in eq. (5.7). However, as we mentioned in section 1, in this paper we concentrate in models where ζ_k is not affected by the ADOF after horizon exit. This requires that the equations for the ζ modes do not have a mass term.²² This imposes the condition that for a constant ζ the response from the \mathcal{O} 's should vanish. More specifically we impose $\delta \mathcal{O}_k^R \to 0$ as $k/a \to 0$, such that we do not generate a mass term for π . We enforce this at the level of the Green's function, imposing an emergent shift symmetry such that the effect of the first term vanishes, i.e.

$$\int \frac{a^{3/2}(t-\tau)}{a^{3/2}(t)} G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\text{ret}}(t,t-\tau) d\tau = 0.$$
(5.12)

²²This is guaranteed if we have a (softly broken) shift symmetry.

On the other hand, the second term of eq. (5.11) produces our desired result, where the friction part is given by (see eqs. (5.7) and (5.9))

$$N_c \gamma \simeq -\int \frac{a^{3/2}(t-\tau)}{a^{3/2}(t)} \cdot \tau \cdot G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\text{ret}}(t,t-\tau)d\tau.$$
(5.13)

In the flat space limit this corresponds to the condition

$$G_{\rm ret}^{\mathcal{O}}(t,t') \simeq -\gamma N_c \partial_t \delta(t-t') + \dots,$$
 (5.14)

or eq. (1.19) in Fourier space, after re-introducing the factors of N_c .

The noise part will affect π only through integrals of the Green's function whose variation time scale is assumed to be much longer than the characteristic scale corresponding to the noise. This means that π will be sensitive only to the integral in cosmic time of $\nu_{\mathcal{O}}(t, t')$, and therefore we can approximate

$$\tilde{\nu}_{\mathcal{O}}(t,t') \simeq \nu_{\mathcal{O}}\delta(t-t'). \tag{5.15}$$

If for example we would assume \mathcal{O} is in thermal equilibrium, at high temperature T we could use the FD theorem which relates

$$\gamma \simeq \frac{\nu_{\mathcal{O}}}{N_c T}.\tag{5.16}$$

Notice that the expansion of the universe, i.e. the factors of $e^{-\frac{3H}{2}\tau}$, helps to improve the locality of the expression in eq. (5.13). That is to say, there is no significant influence between different Hubble times. In this paper we thus take $\gamma, \nu_{\mathcal{O}}$ to be essentially constant up to slow roll effects, i.e. $\left(\frac{\dot{\gamma}}{\gamma H}, \frac{\dot{\nu}_{\mathcal{O}}}{\nu_{\mathcal{O}} H}\right) \sim O(\epsilon)$.

At the end of the day the EOM becomes

$$\ddot{\pi}_k(t) + (3H + \gamma)\dot{\pi}_k(t) + \frac{c_s^2 \mathbf{k}^2}{a^2} \pi_k = -\frac{1}{N_c} \delta \mathcal{O}_S(t, \mathbf{k}),$$
(5.17)

plus the behavior of the noise dictated by eqs. (5.10), (5.15).

5.2 The homogenous solution

Here we show that the homogenous part of eq. (5.17) becomes negligible at horizon crossing for $\gamma \gg H$, which is the domain we are interested in this paper. To solve the equation we first make the change of variables $\pi = z^{\lambda/2}\varphi$, with $\lambda = 2 + \gamma/H \gg 1$. The equation for the perturbation reads

$$\left(\frac{d^2}{dz^2} + 1 - \frac{\lambda}{2z^2}(1 + \lambda/2)\right)\varphi_k = 0,$$
(5.18)

with $z = -kc_s\eta$, and η the conformal time. Naively, as in the case with $\lambda = 2$, it appears as if the mode freezes out when $\lambda^2/z^2 \sim 1$, namely $z^2 \sim \gamma^2/H^2$, or $c_s k_\star \sim \gamma$. However, as we mentioned already, this expectation is incorrect. In fact, we can solve eq. (5.18) exactly and the solution for π looks like

$$\pi_k(z) = A_1^k y_1(z) + A_2^k y_2(z), \tag{5.19}$$

where

$$y_1(z,\nu) = z^{\nu} J_{\nu}(z); \ y_2(z,\nu) = z^{\nu} Y_{\nu}(z),$$
 (5.20)

 $\nu = \frac{3}{2} + \frac{\gamma}{2H}$, and J_{ν}, Y_{ν} are Bessel functions. By studying the asymptotic behavior we notice only y_2 tends to a finite value as $z \to 0$,

$$y_2(z \to 0, \nu) \to -\frac{2^{\nu}}{\pi} \Gamma[\nu] \simeq -2^{\nu} \sqrt{\frac{2\nu}{\pi}} e^{\nu(\log \nu - 1)} \text{ for } \nu \gg 1,$$
 (5.21)

using Stirling's approximation. In order to estimate $\pi(z \to 0)$, and consequently its contribution to the two-point function, we need to specify the initial conditions to extract the value of A_2^k . The most conservative approach is to assume that at some given z_0 the mode is in the Bunch-Davies vacuum. (More precisely: $\langle \pi(z_0)\pi(z_0)\rangle \sim \langle \pi(z_0)\pi(z_0)\rangle_{BD}$.) This requires²³

$$A_2^k \sim z_0^{-\nu} \text{ for } \nu \gg 1.$$
 (5.22)

The origin of the early time scale z_0 can be understood by taking our dissipative system to be characterized by a typically high energy scale, so that it decouples from fluctuations above this threshold. This implies that we can put π in the Bunch-Davies vacuum above some this scale. Then as it approaches freeze out we have

$$y_2(z \to 0, \nu) \simeq 2^{\nu} z_0^{-\nu} \sqrt{2\nu} e^{\nu(\log \nu - 1)} \to \left(\frac{2\nu}{z_0}\right)^{\nu} \sqrt{2\nu} e^{-\nu},$$
 (5.23)

which is exponentially small for $z_0 > 2\nu \gg 1$. Notice that even performing the matching at $z_0 = 2\nu \sim \lambda \gg 1$, as $\eta \to 0$ the suppression is still exponential. In other words, the mode does not immediately freeze out, as naively suggested by eq. (5.18), in fact it continues decreasing as it approaches $z \to \sqrt{\nu}$.²⁴

Hence we conclude that the homogenous part effectively becomes unimportant for $\gamma \gg H$ which means that the two-point function can be easily dominated by the noise, as we will assume from now on.

6 The power spectrum

The computation of the power spectrum follows the same step as in section 1.3.2, except that we have to deal with a somewhat more elaborate Green's function. The particular solution of eq. (5.17) is given by

$$\pi_k(\eta) = \frac{kc_s}{N_c H^2} \int_{\eta_0}^{\eta} d\eta' G_{\gamma}(kc_s|\eta|, kc_s|\eta'|) \frac{\delta \mathcal{O}_S}{(kc_s\eta')^2},\tag{6.1}$$

²³Note that the solutions in eq. (5.20) tend to $\cos z_0$ and $\sin z_0$, and therefore both are required to match into the Bunch-Davies vaccum, i.e. e^{iz_0} . This is slightly different than the analysis in section 1.3.1, however, notice that the factor of $z_0^{-\nu}$ resembles the exponential suppression $e^{-\frac{\gamma|t_0|}{2}}$ in eq. (1.29). ²⁴To show this more explicitly we can take the ratio $\frac{d\pi/dz}{\pi/z}$ which, using

$$\frac{d(z^{\nu}Y_{\nu})}{dz} = z^{\nu}Y_{\nu-1}, \quad Y_{\nu} \sim -\frac{2^{\nu}\Gamma[\nu]}{\pi z^{\nu}} \quad \text{(for } z \sim 0, \ \nu \gg 1\text{)},$$
(5.24)

we see goes like

$$\frac{d\pi/dz}{\pi/z} \simeq \frac{z^2}{\nu}.\tag{5.25}$$

This suggests the solution starts to deviate from the asymptotic value near $z \sim \sqrt{\nu}$, or $c_s k_\star \sim \sqrt{\gamma H}$, as we anticipated in section 1.3.1.

where

$$G_{\gamma}(z,z') = \frac{\pi}{2} z \left(\frac{z}{z'}\right)^{\nu-1} \left[Y_{\nu}(z) J_{\nu}(z') - J_{\nu}(z) Y_{\nu}(z') \right], \qquad (6.2)$$

with $z = -kc_s\eta$ and $z' = -kc_s\eta'$. Then with the use of eq. (5.10), (5.15) we obtain

$$P_{\pi}(k) \equiv \langle \pi_k \pi_k \rangle_{\mathcal{O}} = \frac{\nu_{\mathcal{O}}}{N_c^2 (kc_s)^3} \int_z^{z_0} dz' (G_{\gamma}(z, z'))^2.$$

For $kc_s\eta \to 0$ and $kc_s\eta_0 \to -\infty$ we find

$$P_{\pi}(k) = \frac{\nu_{\mathcal{O}}}{N_c^2(kc_s)^3} \frac{16^{\frac{\gamma}{H}} (\frac{\gamma}{H} + 1)^3 \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma + H}{2H}\right)^4}{\pi \Gamma(\frac{2\gamma}{H} + 4)} \quad \to \quad \sqrt{\pi/4} \frac{\nu_{\mathcal{O}}^{\star} \sqrt{H_{\star}/\gamma_{\star}}}{N_c^2(k_{\star}c_s^{\star})^3} \quad \text{for} \quad \gamma \gg H,$$
(6.3)

or $(P_{\zeta} = H^2 P_{\pi})$

$$\Delta_{\zeta} \equiv k^3 P_{\zeta}(k) \simeq \nu_{\mathcal{O}}^{\star} \sqrt{\pi H_{\star}/\gamma_{\star}} \frac{H_{\star}^2}{2c_s^{\star} \left(c_s^{\star} N_c\right)^2}.$$
(6.4)

(Recall the \star means that the quantity is evaluated at freeze out $c_s k/a(t_\star) \sim \sqrt{\gamma_\star H_\star}$.)

In figure 1 the power spectrum is shown as a function of γ and also $|kc_s\eta_0|$. Notice that the dependence on η_0 drops out once we take $|kc_s\eta_0| \gg 1.^{25}$

If we were to assume the ADOF are in thermal equilibrium at a (high) temperature T, using the FD theorem we would obtain

$$k^{3}\langle\zeta_{k}\zeta_{k}\rangle_{T} \simeq \sqrt{\pi\gamma_{\star}H_{\star}} \frac{TH_{\star}^{2}}{2c_{s}^{\star}\left(c_{s}^{\star2}N_{c}\right)}.$$
(6.5)

These are exactly (up to numerical factors) the results in eq. (1.43), (1.44). We note that an expression similar to eq. (6.5) was first introduced in [39–41], and plays a key role in warm inflation models [42–44].

A few comments are in order. First of all, since we lump a series of operators into a single one, i.e. $\mathcal{O}\pi$, the local approximations look significantly different depending on the type of terms we are dealing with. However, once our assumptions are enforced the analysis is quite robust, and does not depend on the very details of the models. The only constraint we need to ensure is the scale invariance of the two-point function, which is guaranteed as long as $\gamma, \nu_{\mathcal{O}}$ remain relatively constant during inflation (more below).

The distinction between models starts to play a role when we move to the non-linear level. For example, the friction term could derive exclusively from the operator $\mathcal{O}_{\mu}\delta g^{\mu 0}$, which does not lead to non-linear couplings between \mathcal{O} and π ; or it may be produced by the scalar couplings $f(t)\mathcal{O}$ or $\mathcal{O}\delta g^{00}$, in which case we do generate quite distinct non-linear interactions. As we discussed before, $\mathcal{O}\delta g^{00}$ appears to be the cleanest, for which the value of $f_{\rm NL}$ is tied up with the friction coefficient. This is not always the case for $f(t)\mathcal{O}$, where the level of non-Gaussianities depends on the details of the model. However, as we argued before, in cases where there is only one preferred clock and the (non-linear) response $\delta \mathcal{O}_R$ has an emergent shift symmetry and $f_{\rm NL}$ is equally enhanced. We make this analysis more precise in what follows.

²⁵Note that even in the case where $\gamma \ll H$, this contribution is still larger than the result for the Bunch-Davies vacuum, provided $\nu_{\mathcal{O}} > \frac{3}{\pi} N_c H^2$. Hence, as long as $N_c < \epsilon H^2 M_p^2$, it is enough to have $\nu_{\mathcal{O}} \gtrsim \epsilon H^4 M_p^2$.



Figure 1. Top: Dependence on γ of power spectrum given in eq. (6.3) normalized as $p_{\pi}(\gamma) = 6N_c^2(kc_s)^3 P_{\pi}(k)/(\pi\nu_{\mathcal{O}})$, for $z_0 \to +\infty$; Bottom: The power spectrum $P_{\pi}(k)$ for $|kc_s\eta| \to 0$ as a function of z_0 , for $\gamma/H = 0$ (solid), $\gamma/H = 3$ (Dashed), and $\gamma/H = 9$ (Dotted).

7 Non-Gaussianities

The non-Gaussian features of the models we discussed in this paper are perhaps the most interesting results from the point of view of observational signatures. Indeed, while the two point function is essentially fixed by the symmetries of the quasi de Sitter space, and characterized just by two parameters, namely the overall amplitude and the tilt, higher order correlation functions enjoy a functional freedom that, if observed, it would allow us to decode a much larger amount of information about the physical mechanisms that produces them.

Studying the full spectrum of non-Gaussian signatures for the vast class of possible operators we introduced is difficult, mainly because of its generality, and thus lies beyond the scope of the present paper. Therefore we will concentrate on the leading (scalar) operators $\mathcal{O}\delta g^{00}$ and $f(t)\mathcal{O}$. Very interestingly, we will show that enforcement of the symmetries allows us to relate the linear and (some of) the non-linear contributions in the EOM, such that large dissipation will be linked to large non-Gaussianities. In the next sections we assume dissipation takes on the form $\gamma \dot{\pi}$. We will study the case of higher derivative dissipation in section 7.5.

7.1 $\mathcal{O}\delta g^{00}$

Here we analyze a situation in which the dominant interaction term has one time derivative of π , and it is produced by scalar operators of the form $-\mathcal{O}\delta g^{00}$. This term has a piece which is linear in $\dot{\pi}$, more precisely $2\mathcal{O}\dot{\pi}$. (In what follows we absorb the factor of 2 induced from eq. (5.1) into the operator \mathcal{O} , i.e. $\mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O}/2$.)

Notice that now we have a choice about the local approximation described in section 5.1, namely it may apply to $\langle \delta \mathcal{O}_S \delta \mathcal{O}_S \rangle$ and $G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}$, or $\langle \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_S \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_S \rangle$ and $G_{\text{ret}}^{\dot{\mathcal{O}}}$. For the first case we will not obtain the usual dissipative term $\gamma \dot{\pi}$, but higher derivative terms (as in the ADL force). Here we analyze the second possibility and discuss the former in section 7.5.

Since we take the scale of time variation for $\delta \mathcal{O}_S$ to be much shorter than 1/H, the main contribution to the noise comes from $\delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_S \gg H \delta \mathcal{O}_S$. We can then basically follow the same steps as in section 5.1 to show that to linear order the equation for π reduces to eq. (5.17) with $\delta \mathcal{O}_S$ replaced by $\delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_S$. Then the power spectrum is given in eq. (6.3), with the replacement $\nu_{\mathcal{O}} \rightarrow \nu_{\dot{\mathcal{O}}}$. More explicitly, to second order the equation for π is given by

$$\ddot{\pi} + 3H\dot{\pi} - \frac{c_s^2 \nabla^2}{a^2} \pi = -N_c^{-1} \left(\delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}(1+\dot{\pi}) + \delta \mathcal{O}\ddot{\pi} - \frac{1}{a^2} \partial_i (\delta \mathcal{O} \partial_i \pi) \right), \tag{7.1}$$

where $\delta \mathcal{O} = \delta \mathcal{O}_S + \delta \mathcal{O}_R$. From eq. (5.1) we see that the force disturbing $\delta \mathcal{O}$ is given by $F = \dot{\pi} + \dot{\pi}^2/2 - (\partial_i \pi)^2/2$. Using however the local approximation for the time derivative of the response part, $\delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_R$ as in section 5.1, we obtain

$$\delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_R \simeq N_c \gamma \left(\dot{\pi} + \frac{\dot{\pi}^2}{2} - \frac{\partial_i \pi \partial_i \pi}{2a^2} \right). \tag{7.2}$$

As we already noted in section 1.4, working within this local approximation (and without making additional assumptions) we are not able to compute all the contributions to non-Gaussianities, since in eq. (7.1) there appear not only $\delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}$ but also $\delta \mathcal{O}$. In general, in the perspective of EFT we do not foresee any fine cancellations and, as we estimated in eq. (1.52), we expect the contributions to the level of non-Gaussianities of the non-local terms to be about the same as the local ones. Therefore, in what follows we concentrate on the terms involving only $\dot{\mathcal{O}}$ and reduce eq. (7.1) to

$$\ddot{\pi} + (3H + \gamma)\dot{\pi} - \frac{c_s^2 \nabla^2}{a^2} \pi = \frac{\gamma}{2} \frac{\partial_i \pi \partial_i \pi}{a^2} - \frac{3\gamma}{2} \dot{\pi}^2 - N_c^{-1} \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_S(1 + \dot{\pi}).$$
(7.3)

Let us start by focusing on the contribution of the first term on the r.h.s.: $\gamma(\partial_i \pi)^2$. To analyze the non-Gaussianities we decompose $\pi = \pi_1 + \pi_2$, where the subscripts represent as usual the order of the solution for the fluctuations. Then

$$\pi_1(k,\eta) = \frac{kc_s}{N_c H^2} \int_{\eta_0}^{\eta} d\eta' g_{\gamma}(kc_s|\eta|, kc_s|\eta'|) \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_S,$$
(7.4)

where $g_{\gamma}(kc_s|\eta|, kc_s|\eta'|) = G_{\gamma}(kc_s|\eta|, kc_s|\eta'|)/(kc_s\eta')^2$ with G_{γ} defined in eq. (6.2), and (using eq. (7.4))

$$\pi_{2}(k_{3},0) = \frac{\gamma k_{3} c_{s}^{3}}{2N_{c}^{2} H^{4}} \int_{\eta_{0}}^{0} d\eta' {\eta'}^{2} g_{\gamma}(0,k_{3}c_{s}|\eta'|) \int \frac{d^{3}\mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^{3}} |\mathbf{q}| |\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{q}| (\mathbf{q}\cdot(\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{q})) \\ \times \int_{\eta_{0}}^{\eta'} d\eta'' g_{\gamma}(qc_{s}|\eta'|,qc_{s}|\eta''|) \int_{\eta_{0}}^{\eta'} d\eta''' g_{\gamma}(|\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{q}|c_{s}|\eta'|,|\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{q}|c_{s}|\eta'''|) \\ \times \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_{S}(\mathbf{q},\eta'') \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_{S}(\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{q},\eta''').$$
(7.5)

(Notice π_2 is sourced by terms quadratic in the perturbations: δO_S , π_1 .)

We want to compute the 3-point function for $\zeta \simeq -H\pi$ in the limit $\eta \to 0$:

$$\langle \zeta(\mathbf{k}_1, 0)\zeta(\mathbf{k}_2, 0)\zeta(\mathbf{k}_3, 0) \rangle = \langle \zeta_1(\mathbf{k}_1, 0)\zeta_1(\mathbf{k}_2, 0)\zeta_2(\mathbf{k}_3, 0) \rangle + \text{cyclic sum in } k_i\text{'s} \equiv (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3)F(k_1, k_2, k_3).$$
(7.6)

Then, after eqs. (5.10) and (5.15) plus the condition that the noise is Gaussian (we will consider non-Gaussian noise later), i.e.

$$\langle \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_{S}(\mathbf{k}_{2},\tilde{\eta}') \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_{S}(\mathbf{k}_{1},\tilde{\eta}) \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_{S}(\mathbf{q},\eta'') \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_{S}(\mathbf{k}_{3}-\mathbf{q},\eta''') \rangle = (2\pi)^{6} \nu_{\dot{\mathcal{O}}}^{2} \frac{\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}_{1}+\mathbf{k}_{2}+\mathbf{k}_{3})}{a^{4}(\eta'')a^{4}(\eta''')} \quad (7.7)$$

$$\times \left\{ \delta(\tilde{\eta}'-\eta'') \delta(\tilde{\eta}-\eta''') \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}_{2}+\mathbf{q}) + \delta(\tilde{\eta}-\eta'') \delta(\tilde{\eta}'-\eta''') \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}_{1}+\mathbf{q}) \right\} \quad (\text{for } k_{3}\neq 0),$$

defining $x_i = k_i/k$, with k an arbitrary scale with units of momentum, we obtain (for $\eta_0 \to -\infty$):

$$F(x_1, x_2, x_3) = k^6 F(k_1, k_2, k_3) = -\frac{\gamma H^3 \nu_{\dot{\mathcal{O}}}^2}{2N_c^4 c_s^8} x_1^2 x_2^2 x_3 (x_3^2 - x_2^2 - x_1^2) \int_0^{+\infty} dy y^2 g_\gamma(0, x_3 y)$$
(7.8)

$$\times \int_{y}^{+\infty} dz z^4 g_{\gamma}(x_2 y, x_2 z) g_{\gamma}(0, x_2 z) \int_{y}^{+\infty} dw w^4 g_{\gamma}(x_1 y, x_1 w) g_{\gamma}(0, x_1 w) + \text{cyclic sum in } x_i \text{'s}$$

(we performed a change of variables: $y' = -kc_s\eta', z = -kc_s\eta'', w = -kc_s\eta''$).

The associated parameter $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq}$ (defined for equilateral configurations) is given by

$$F(1,1,1) = \frac{18}{5} f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq} \Delta_{\zeta}^2, \tag{7.9}$$

(with $\Delta_{\zeta} = k^3 P_{\zeta}$), and in terms of the Green's functions:

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq} = \frac{5}{12} \left(\frac{\gamma}{Hc_s^2} \frac{2^{-8\gamma/H} \pi^2 \Gamma\left(\frac{2\gamma}{H} + 4\right)^2}{\left(\frac{\gamma}{H} + 1\right)^6 \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma+H}{2H}\right)^8} \right) \int_0^{+\infty} dy y^2 g_\gamma(0, y) \int_y^{+\infty} dz z^4 g_\gamma(y, z) g_\gamma(0, z) \\ \times \int_y^{+\infty} dw w^4 g_\gamma(y, w) g_\gamma(0, w),$$
(7.10)

where we have used the power spectrum given in eq. (6.3) (with $\nu_{\mathcal{O}} \rightarrow \nu_{\dot{\mathcal{O}}}$). Performing a numerical integration we extract

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq} \simeq -\frac{\gamma}{4Hc_s^2},\tag{7.11}$$

in the strong dissipative regime $\gamma \gg H$. Notice this can be large even when $c_s \simeq 1$. Using the analysis from ref. [19] we can also quote a bound at order of magnitude level:

$$\frac{\gamma}{Hc_s^2} \lesssim 500. \tag{7.12}$$

In figure 2 we plot the shape for two values of γ ($\gamma = 4H$ and 40H). Notice there is a peak on equilateral configurations, and a smaller peak around $x_2 \simeq x_3 \simeq 1/2$, whose relative amplitude decreases with γ . The latter is one of the main features in the bispectrum, and it is due to the fact that the fluctuations are dominated by the noise.

For moderate values of $\gamma \gg H$, the shape resembles the orthogonal one described in [19], which is currently at 2σ level in the WMAP 7-yr data [52].

Similarly, for the second source term on the r.h.s. of eq. (7.3) we obtain

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq} = -\frac{5}{2} \frac{\gamma}{H} \left(\frac{2^{-8\gamma/H} \pi^2 \Gamma \left(\frac{2\gamma}{H} + 4\right)^2}{\left(\frac{\gamma}{H} + 1\right)^6 \Gamma \left(\frac{\gamma+H}{2H}\right)^8} \right) \int_0^{+\infty} dy g_\gamma(0, y) \int_y^{+\infty} dz z^4 y \frac{dg_\gamma}{dy}(y, z) g_\gamma(0, z) \times \int_y^{+\infty} dw w^4 y \frac{dg_\gamma}{dy}(y, w) g_\gamma(0, w).$$
(7.13)

Despite appearances, the contribution from this term to $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq}$ does not increase with γ and becomes an order one sub-dominant effect. This follows from the properties of the Green's functions, and in particular because time derivatives scale as powers of H (rather than $\sqrt{\gamma H}$), since this is the time dependence of the Green function at freeze out. This is indeed what we expected judging from our results in flat space of section 1.3.2 (" $\tau_{\rm eq}$ " ~ 1/H). See appendix F for some collective details on these Green's functions.

For the last term in eq. (7.3) we find

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq} = \frac{5}{3} \left(\frac{2^{-8\gamma/H} \pi^2 \Gamma \left(\frac{2\gamma}{H} + 4\right)^2}{\left(\frac{\gamma}{H} + 1\right)^6 \Gamma \left(\frac{\gamma+H}{2H}\right)^8} \right) \int_0^{+\infty} dy y^4 \left(g_\gamma(0, y)\right)^2 \int_y^{+\infty} dz z^4 y \frac{dg_\gamma}{dy}(y, z) g_\gamma(0, z),$$
(7.14)

which is also a contribution of order one that does not increase with γ . The shape corresponding to this term is shown in figure 3 for $\gamma = 10H$.

As expected (because the contributions involve time derivatives of π , and also because $\delta \mathcal{O}$ is local) all of these shapes are suppressed as we approach the squeezed limit. That is when one of the momenta, say $k_1 \equiv k_L$ (long mode), is much smaller than the other two (short modes), i.e. $k_L \ll k_S$ (with $k_S = |\mathbf{k}_2 - \mathbf{k}_3|/2$). However an interesting question remains, and that is whether the suppression entails one (or more) power(s) of k_L compared with the local shape, since this particular scaling could potentially distinguish signatures from single field models in measurements of the scale-dependent bias [54]. We return to this point in the following section. (Let us point out that from figure 3 the shape itself approaches zero in the squeezed limit $k_L/k_S \rightarrow 0$, thus $F(x_1, x_2, x_3)$ cannot scale like $1/x_L^2 \equiv (k_S/k_L)^2$, but rather as a softer power.)



Figure 2. The shape $F(x_2, x_3) = x_2^2 x_3^2 \frac{F(1, x_2, x_3)}{F(1, 1, 1)}$ given by eq. (7.8) for $\gamma = 4H$ (top) and $\gamma = 40H$ (bottom). To avoid showing equivalent configurations twice, the function is set to zero outside the region $1 - x_2 \le x_3 \le x_2$.

7.2 $f(t)\mathcal{O}$ I: linear response

Let us now consider the contribution from an interaction of the form $f(t)\mathcal{O}$ as in eq. (4.1). We divide the possibilities in two: linear and non-linear response. We treat the latter in the next section.

To compute non-linear effects in linear response theory we use the force affecting the ADOF to second order in π . This is given by $F = \dot{f}\pi + \ddot{f}\pi^2/2 + \ldots$, where the dots stand for terms with higher powers of π proportional to higher temporal derivatives of f(t). As we mentioned in sec 1.4.2, in general we neglect these terms in the slow roll approximation. Therefore in what follows we will treat \dot{f} as essentially constant.


Figure 3. The shape $F(x_2, x_3) = x_2^2 x_3^2 \frac{F(1, x_2, x_3)}{F(1, 1, 1)}$ for $\gamma = 10H$ corresponding to the last term in eq. (7.3).

Working within the local approximation for $G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}$, the response part $\delta \mathcal{O}_R$ can be written as

$$\delta \mathcal{O}_R \simeq \frac{\gamma N_c}{\dot{f}} \left(\dot{\pi} + \frac{\ddot{f}}{\dot{f}} \dot{\pi} \pi \right), \tag{7.15}$$

up to terms suppressed by higher powers of the slow roll parameter(s). (Recall we assume the presence of an emergent shift symmetry to neglect terms which do not involve derivatives.) Thus the equation for π to second order reads

$$\ddot{\pi} + (3H + \gamma)\dot{\pi} + \frac{k^2 c_s^2}{a^2} \pi + 2\gamma \frac{\ddot{f}}{\dot{f}} [\pi \dot{\pi}]_k = -N_c^{-1} \left(\dot{f} \delta \mathcal{O}_S + \ddot{f} [\pi \delta \mathcal{O}_S]_k \right),$$
(7.16)

where the noise part $\delta \mathcal{O}_S$ satisfies eqs. (5.10), (5.15). By comparing this equation with eq. (5.17), it follows that the power spectrum is the same as the one given in eq. (6.3), up to an overall factor of \dot{f}^2 , namely $\nu_{\mathcal{O}} \rightarrow \nu_{f\mathcal{O}} = \dot{f}^2 \nu_{\mathcal{O}}$. Therefore, to guarantee the scale invariance of the power spectrum we require $\dot{\nu}_{f\mathcal{O}}/(\nu_{f\mathcal{O}}H) \simeq O(\epsilon)$ (more on this below).

As we stressed in section 1.4.2, the contribution to $f_{\rm NL}$ from the non-linear terms above will be suppressed by $\ddot{f}/(\dot{f}H) \simeq O(\epsilon)$. Notice that at this order we can no longer ignore other effects, such as the mixing with gravity. Moreover, we show in the next section that non-Gaussianities will be dominated by the non-linear response. Nevertheless, we include here the computation for the terms in eq. (7.16) for two reasons. First of all we explicitly show that even though the non-linear terms are proportional to γ , it factors out in the final answer; but more importantly because it appears to give us a contribution in the squeezed limit which could be non-negligible in cases where \dot{f} is not a constant.

Let us start analyzing the last source term in eq. (7.16): $f \pi \delta \mathcal{O}_S$. Since this term does not involve enough derivatives of π , it is easy to see that the shape, given by $F(x_2, x_3) =$ $x_2^2 x_3^2 \frac{F(1,x_2,x_3)}{F(1,1,1)}$, will have its maximum contribution in the squeezed limit. In such limit the parameter $f_{\rm NL}$ is given by

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm sq} = \lim_{x_3 \to 0, \ x_2 \to 1} \frac{5}{6} \frac{F(1, x_2, x_3)}{(P_{\zeta}(1)P_{\zeta}(x_2) + P_{\zeta}(1)P_{\zeta}(x_3) + P_{\zeta}(x_2)P_{\zeta}(x_3))}.$$
 (7.17)

Then following a procedure similar to that of the previous sections we find

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm sq} \simeq -\frac{5}{6} \frac{f}{H\dot{f}},\tag{7.18}$$

whatever the value for γ . This agrees with our previous estimation in eq. (1.55). Similarly, one can compute the contribution of the last term on the l.h.s. of eq. (7.16). Even though this term is proportional to γ , the parameter $f_{\rm NL}$ does not result in a significant increase compared to the one above. This follows from our heuristic arguments in section 1.4.2, but can also be seen directly from the properties of the Green's function, see appendix F. Since the approximate shift symmetry requires $\ddot{f}/(H\dot{f}) \simeq O(\epsilon)$, this leads to very small $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm sq}$ in eq. (7.18), as we mentioned before.

One may nonetheless worry about the result in eq. (7.18) had we assumed $\dot{f}, \nu_{\mathcal{O}}$ were not approximately constant, while keeping constant the product $\nu_{f\mathcal{O}} = \dot{f}^2 \nu_{\mathcal{O}}$, which is the combination that appears in the power spectrum. However, notice that the above computation is incomplete since at non-linear level there are contributions that arise from the fact that π also affects the probability density functional for the noise. (These are suppressed in the limit $\dot{\nu}_{\mathcal{O}} \ll H\nu_{\mathcal{O}}$.) If all the contributions are taken into account, at the end of the day we should have $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm sq}$ proportional to $(n_s - 1)$ to be consistent with the fact that we did not include any type of perturbation outside of the horizon other than the clock [18, 53].

To better understand the properties in the squeezed limit, let us compare the contributions from $\delta \mathcal{O} \dot{\pi}$ and $\delta \mathcal{O} \pi$ type of non-linearities, which appear commonly in our study. It is not difficult to see that if we fix the \mathcal{O} operators to be the same in both cases, the relevant difference between the two is that while the shape for the latter contains $g_{\gamma}(x_L y, z)$, the former involves $y \partial_y g_{\gamma}(x_L y, z)$ (where z and y are integration variables). Using

$$\frac{y\partial_y g_\gamma(x_L y, z)}{g_\gamma(x_L y, z)} \sim \frac{x_L^2 y^2}{(1 + \gamma/H)},\tag{7.19}$$

for $yx_L \ll 1$, and taking into account that the integrals are dominated by values of y and z near $\sqrt{\gamma/H}$ (see appendix F), we conclude that the squeezed limit for $\delta \mathcal{O} \dot{\pi}$ is suppressed by a factor of $x_L^2 = (k_L/k_S)^2$ with respect to the contribution from $\delta \mathcal{O} \pi$, in the region $x_L^2 \ll H/\gamma$. This agrees with the findings in [54]. We will discuss the squeezed limit and consistency conditions in more detail elsewhere.

We study next the non-linear response for a $f(t)\mathcal{O}$ coupling, which turn out to provide the largest contributions to non-Gaussianities.

7.3 $f(t)\mathcal{O}$ II: non-linear response

So far we considered the response $\delta \mathcal{O}_R$ to linear order in π . This entails the knowledge of only the two point function $G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}$ (see eq. (5.8)). However, we can also induce non-linearities

by going to higher *n*-point functions of the $\delta \mathcal{O}$'s, for instance including their three point function

$$C_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(x, y, z) \equiv \langle [\delta \mathcal{O}(z), [\delta \mathcal{O}(y), \delta \mathcal{O}(x)]] \rangle \theta(t_y - t_z) \theta(t_x - t_y),$$
(7.20)

while keeping the leading order force $F(\pi) = \dot{f}\pi$ (in what follows we treat \dot{f} as constant). Then we have

$$\dot{f}\delta\mathcal{O}_R(x) = -\dot{f}^2 \int G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}} \pi(y) dy + \dot{f}^3 \int dy dz \ C_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(x, y, z) \pi(y) \pi(z) + \dots$$
(7.21)

where the ellipses represent higher order corrections.

A priori, even assuming both are local in space and time, we would not expect any relationship between $G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}$ and $C_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}$. However, as we argue below, we will have a connection in cases where the response of the ADOF is governed by a single (preferred) clock.

As we emphasized throughout the paper to obtain a dissipative term from an operator $f(t)\mathcal{O}$ we require (assuming a local Green's function)

$$\dot{f}\delta^{(1)}\mathcal{O}_R = N_c \gamma \dot{\pi}.\tag{7.22}$$

Notice that this expression can be suggestively re-written as

$$\dot{f}\delta^{(1)}\mathcal{O}_R = N_c\gamma\;\delta^{(1)}\left\{n^\mu\partial_\mu(t+\pi)\right\},\tag{7.23}$$

where (note $n^0 = 1$ up to $O(\pi^2)$)

$$n^{\mu} = \frac{-g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\tilde{t}}{\sqrt{-g^{\nu\rho}\partial_{\nu}\tilde{t}\partial_{\rho}\tilde{t}}}, \quad \tilde{t} = t + \pi,$$
(7.24)

such that eq. (7.23) makes the symmetries manifest: \mathcal{O} is a scalar operator. This allows us now to extrapolate the response to all orders in π , that is²⁶

$$\dot{f}\delta^{(n)}\mathcal{O}_R = N_c\gamma \ \delta^{(n)} \left\{ n^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}(t+\pi) \right\} = N_c\gamma \ \delta^{(n)} \left(\sqrt{-g^{\nu\rho}\partial_{\nu}\tilde{t}\partial_{\rho}\tilde{t}} \right).$$
(7.25)

It is then straightforward to show the above equation implies a relationship between linear and non-linear terms in the EOM. For example in the unitary gauge, i.e. $\tilde{t} = t$,

$$\dot{f}\delta^{(n)}\mathcal{O}_R = N_c\gamma \ \delta^{(n)}\sqrt{-g^{00}},\tag{7.26}$$

which allows us to read off the π interactions using $g^{00}(\pi) = -1 - 2\dot{\pi} - \dot{\pi}^2 + (\partial_i \pi)^2$. Hence

$$-\dot{f}\delta^{(1)}\mathcal{O}_R = -N_c\gamma\dot{\pi},\tag{7.27}$$

$$-\dot{f}\delta^{(2)}\mathcal{O}_R = \frac{1}{2}N_c\gamma(\partial_i\pi)^2.$$
(7.28)

We thus get a non-linear term that resembles the one we obtained for the case of an exact shift symmetry. (See the first term on the r.h.s. of eq. (7.3), compare also with eq. (7.2).²⁷)

²⁶In principle this can be generalized to $F_{\mathcal{O}}\left(\sqrt{-g^{\nu\rho}\partial_{\nu}\tilde{t}\partial_{\rho}\tilde{t}}\right)$. For simplicity we restrict to $F_{\mathcal{O}}(x) = x$.

²⁷Notice that for the type of non-linear response in eq. (7.26) we did not obtain a $\dot{\pi}^2$ term. However, these can be generated if we allow for a generic function $F_{\mathcal{O}}(\sqrt{-g^{00}})$.

Then the analysis of the non-Gaussianities follows as in section 7.1 (see also section 1.4.1), so that

$$f_{\rm NL} \simeq -\frac{\gamma}{c_s^2 H},\tag{7.29}$$

as anticipated in section 1.4.3. The shape will also resemble figure 2.

The previous argument is perhaps better illustrated if we particularize to the traditional model of scalar field inflation. The crucial point is that the response to the perturbation must be compatible with diffeomorphism invariance. Then in order to induce dissipation we need factors of $\dot{\phi}$ which in turn lead to large non-Gaussianities (for $\gamma \gg H$) as sketched in 1.4.3.

The reasoning goes as follows. Let us consider an interaction Hamiltonian that takes the form (with \mathcal{O} a scalar operator)

$$H_{\rm int} = \phi \ \mathcal{O}. \tag{7.30}$$

The EOM for the inflaton thus becomes

$$D_{\phi}\phi = \mathcal{O},\tag{7.31}$$

where $D_{\phi}\phi = 0$ represents the EOM in the absence of \mathcal{O} . There is certainly a dynamical system behind \mathcal{O} , with its own $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{O}}$. Nevertheless, in the spirit of EFT we do not make any assumption other than the coupling in eq. (7.30). We start now by solving for the background, i.e. $\bar{\phi}(t)$. Assuming a local response we have

$$\langle \bar{\phi} | \mathcal{O} | \bar{\phi} \rangle = F_{\mathcal{O}}(\bar{\phi}, \bar{\phi}), \tag{7.32}$$

where the brackets emphasize we are computing the response in the background given by $\bar{\phi}$. Plugging into eq. (7.31) we get

$$D_{\phi}\bar{\phi} = F_{\mathcal{O}}(\bar{\phi}, \bar{\phi}). \tag{7.33}$$

In order to have the type of (velocity dependent) dissipation we study in this paper we will impose

$$F_{\mathcal{O}}(\bar{\phi}, \bar{\phi}) \simeq |\bar{\phi}|. \tag{7.34}$$

We discuss a specific example of this behavior in section 8 (albeit with a more elaborate response function). The next step is to perturb $\bar{\phi} \rightarrow \bar{\phi} + \delta \phi$. The crucial piece of the argument is what replaces eq. (7.32). There are several ways to attack this question. Perhaps the simplest is the following. Since \mathcal{O} is a scalar operator (by construction) the expression in eq. (7.32) must be covariantized. (Notice Lorentz invariance is only broken by the presence of a preferred frame, i.e. n^{μ} in eq. (7.24) with \tilde{t} replaced by ϕ .) Therefore, as we argued, we should rewrite eq. (7.32) as

$$\langle \phi | \mathcal{O} | \phi \rangle = F_{\mathcal{O}} \left(\phi, n^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \phi = -g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \partial_{\mu} \phi / \sqrt{-g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \partial_{\mu} \phi} \right), \tag{7.35}$$

where we assumed the function $F_{\mathcal{O}}$ is not essentially modified, which is a valid (local) approximation provided $\delta \phi$ is a *smooth* long wavelength perturbation.²⁸

Once again we go to the unitary gauge, and choose coordinates such that $\phi = \overline{\phi}$, i.e. $\delta \phi = 0$. This means

$$\langle \phi | \mathcal{O} | \phi \rangle = F_{\mathcal{O}} \left(\bar{\phi}, \dot{\bar{\phi}} \sqrt{-g^{00}} \right).$$
 (7.36)

We then introduce the perturbation $\delta \phi$ (our π) using eq. (7.33) and the Stückelberg trick. On the l.h.s. of we get the usual term, whereas on the r.h.s. we use the requirement of eq. (7.34), then

$$D_{\phi}\delta\phi \simeq \delta\left(|\dot{\bar{\phi}}|\sqrt{-g^{00}(\pi)}\right),\tag{7.37}$$

similarly to what we obtained from eq. (7.26), with $\pi = \delta \phi / \dot{\phi}$. Then, as advertised, we get a dissipative term $\gamma \dot{\pi}$ and also $\gamma (\partial_i \pi)^2$ with its subsequent enhancement of non-Gaussianities as shown in section 7.1.

There are some subtleties in the previous discussion that must be stressed out. Strictly speaking, the presence of dissipation requires only a linear coupling to π . In our discussion the non-linear term obtained from $n^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\pi$ in eq. (7.25) was intrinsically related to n^{μ} being the time-like vector orthogonal to the uniform slices of the physical clock that controls the end of inflation. However, in general the presence of ADOF may also include time-like vector operators, let us collectively denote them as $u_{\mathcal{O}}^{\mu}$, that might have non-zero expectation values in the background. Hence, rather than $n^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\pi$ we may have $u_{\mathcal{O}}^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}\pi$ in eq. (7.25).²⁹ In this case there will not be a guaranteed relationship between the linear term $\gamma \dot{\pi}$ (now derived from $\langle u_{\mathcal{O}}^{\mu} \rangle = (1,0,0,0)$) and the non-linear counterparts. In this situation large dissipation may not necessarily lead to strong non-Gaussianity.

It is worth pointing out that had we chosen to work directly with the Goldstone boson $\tilde{\pi}$ that we introduced in section 3, we would have had no vector-like operator taking a non-zero expectation value. This means that (up to normalization) the only vector taking a background expectation value is $n^{\mu} \sim g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} (t + \tilde{\pi})$, which appears to induce the type of term in eq. (7.28). However the two descriptions are equivalent, and in fact, upon noticing (schematically) $\tilde{\pi} \sim \pi + \delta O$, even in this case we cannot in general prevent an interplay between $\tilde{\pi}$ and fluctuations of vector operators $\delta u^{\mathcal{O}}_{\mu}$ such that the term in eq. (7.28) does not get generated at the non-linear level. Therefore, in order to ensure a connection between dissipation and non-Gaussianities, we will demand that there are no such cancellations.

There is no simple way to implement this condition, although in practice this amounts to requiring that the $\delta \mathcal{O}$'s are sensitive mostly to the field π whose fluctuations control the end of inflation. In this paper we referred to this condition as having a preferred clock.

²⁸In other words, we need the scale of variation of the extrinsic curvature of constant time surfaces (recall $K^{ij} \simeq \nabla^i_{(3)} n^j$) to be much larger than the typical length scale $M_{\mathcal{O}}^{-1}$, which controls the local approximation for the interaction between ϕ and \mathcal{O} , such that we have a well defined derivative expansion. For instance if we take the perturbations at horizon crossing, namely $\delta\phi_{k_\star}$, and say $M_{\mathcal{O}}^2 \simeq g|\dot{\phi}|$ with g some coupling constant, then we require $k_\star^2 \ll M_{\mathcal{O}}^2$, or $\gamma < g|\dot{\phi}|/H$. (In all generality, even if suppressed, we should in principle include also corrections induced by $\delta K_{\mu\nu}$.) See section 8.1 for more details.

²⁹This may happen if the response of \mathcal{O} is controlled by $u^{\mu}_{\mathcal{O}}$.



Figure 4. The shape $F(x_2, x_3) = x_2^2 x_3^2 \frac{F(1, x_2, x_3)}{F(1, 1, 1)}$ obtained from eq. (7.40) for $\gamma \simeq 10H$. To avoid showing equivalent configurations twice, the function is set to zero outside the region $1 - x_2 \le x_3 \le x_2$.

Hence we conclude that the existence of such clock inevitably entails large non-Gaussianities in the strong dissipative regime, either from $\mathcal{O}g^{00}$, as explicitly shown in section 7.1, or via non-linear response for $f(t)\mathcal{O}$ as we just described. We will study relaxing this assumption in future work.

7.4 Non-Gaussian noise

As a final source of non-Gaussianities, we have to consider the effect of the intrinsic non-Gaussianity of the noise fluctuations. Let us consider, as in eq. (1.62), a non-Gaussian noise $\delta \mathcal{O}_S$ that is local, that is

$$\langle \delta \mathcal{O}_{S}(t_{1},\mathbf{k}_{1}) \delta \mathcal{O}_{S}(t_{2},\mathbf{k}_{2}) \delta \mathcal{O}_{S}(t_{3},\mathbf{k}_{3}) \rangle \simeq (2\pi)^{3} \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}_{1}+\mathbf{k}_{2}+\mathbf{k}_{3}) \nu_{\mathcal{O}^{3}} \frac{\delta(t_{1}-t_{2})}{a^{3}(t_{1})} \frac{\delta(t_{2}-t_{3})}{a^{3}(t_{2})}.$$
(7.38)

Then using

$$\pi(t, \mathbf{k}) = \frac{\dot{f}kc_s}{N_c H^2} \int_{\eta_0}^{\eta} d\eta' g_{\gamma}(kc_s|\eta|, kc_s|\eta'|) \delta\mathcal{O}_S(\eta', \mathbf{k})$$
(7.39)

we find (for $\eta \to 0$ and $\eta_0 \to -\infty$)

$$F(x_1, x_2, x_3) = -\frac{\dot{f}^3 H^5 \nu_{\mathcal{O}^3}}{N_c^3 c_s^6} x_1 x_2 x_3 \int_0^{+\infty} dz z^8 g_\gamma(0, x_1 z) g_\gamma(0, x_2 z) g_\gamma(0, x_3 z).$$
(7.40)

The shape is plotted in figure 4. As expected there is a peak on equilateral configurations, and

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq} \simeq \frac{\gamma N_c \nu_{\mathcal{O}^3}}{\dot{f} \nu_{\mathcal{O}}^2},\tag{7.41}$$

as we anticipated in eq. (1.64).

7.5 Higher-derivative dissipation

Let us consider now the same situation as in section 7.1, where the dominant interaction has one derivative of π : $\delta g^{00}\mathcal{O}$. However, unlike before, we will now assume a local approximation for the two-point functions of \mathcal{O} (or $\text{Im}G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}} \sim \omega$), such that we get

$$\delta \mathcal{O}_R \simeq -\frac{N_c}{a^3 \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}} \partial_t (a^3 \dot{\pi}), \qquad (7.42)$$

where $\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$ (with units of mass) depends on the specific details of the model. Given that the interaction term goes like $\pi \delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}$, the EOM becomes³⁰

$$\ddot{\pi} + \frac{c_s^2 k^2}{a^2} \pi + 3H\dot{\pi} - \frac{1}{\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}} a^3} \partial_t^2 (a^3 \dot{\pi}) = -\frac{\partial_t (a^3 \delta \mathcal{O}_S)}{a^3 N_c},$$
(7.43)

Note this equation is now reminiscent of the ADL force. The presence of higher derivative terms forces us to restrict $\omega \simeq H \ll \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$, and treat the higher derivate term as a small perturbation. In this case freeze out occurs at $\omega \sim H$ and the leading effect is not on the two-point function, that here is dominated by the vacuum solution, but on the three-point function. This can be estimated by comparing the non-linear term in the EOM to the linear term. The second order equation can be written as

$$\ddot{\pi}_2 + \frac{c_s^2 k^2}{a^2} \pi_2 + H\left(3 + \frac{k^2 c_s^2 \delta}{a^2 H^2}\right) \dot{\pi}_2 = J_k, \tag{7.44}$$

where the term J_k contains the quadratic sources. From the coupling between π and δO we have

$$J_k = -\frac{1}{N_c} \left\{ \frac{\partial_t (a^3 \delta_2 \mathcal{O})}{a^3} + \frac{\partial_t (a^3 \dot{\pi}_1 \delta_1 \mathcal{O})}{a^3} - \frac{\partial_i (\delta_1 \mathcal{O} \partial_i \pi)}{a^2} \right\},\tag{7.45}$$

where $\delta \mathcal{O} = \delta \mathcal{O}_S + \delta \mathcal{O}_R$, and the subscripts represent to what order in π the contributions are to be computed. For estimating purposes we consider the last one, which dominates for small speed of sound models. After using (7.42) the resulting level of non-Gaussianity is given by

$$f_{\rm NL}\zeta \sim \left. \frac{\frac{1}{N_c} \partial_i (\delta_1 \mathcal{O} \partial_i \pi)}{\ddot{\pi}} \right|_{\omega \sim H} \sim \frac{H^4 \pi^2}{c_s^2 \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}} \cdot \frac{1}{H^2 \pi} \sim \frac{H}{\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}} \cdot \frac{1}{c_s^2} \zeta \ll \frac{1}{c_s^2} \zeta, \tag{7.46}$$

which tells us that this can be at most a subleading signal.

8 Matching dissipative effects during inflation

Even though from the EFT standpoint the conditions on $G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}$ and noise kernels may be taken as a given, it is still desirable to be able to identify those situations where we can be assured these conditions hold within certain degree of approximation. For instance we expect such description to be valid in cases where the memory effects decays sufficiently fast, as in Drude's model of eq. (1.7). This would be the case provided the dynamics of

 $^{^{30}}$ We also generate corrections to the speed of sound of order $H/\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$ that we neglect here.

the \mathcal{O} 's is such that the back reaction on the π field becomes negligible after a (short) interaction time. In this section we study a specific realization in the spirit of the trapped inflation model of [31], and also briefly discuss the warm inflation paradigm [39–44]. See appendix **H** for a class of models with $\gamma \dot{\pi}$ dissipation with a $\mathcal{O} \dot{\pi}$ coupling.

8.1 Local trapped inflation: $f(t)\mathcal{O} \to \sum_i (\phi - \phi_i)^2 \chi_i^2 + \mathcal{L}(\chi_i)$

We are after an example in which we can apply the local approximation in time. In trapped inflation the energy of the inflaton is being transferred into the ADOF both because the particles are created and also due to the increase of their mass with time. In the original model this is important until the particles have diluted enough due to the expansion of the universe. The characteristic time scale for this to happen is given by H^{-1} , which does not allow us to use the local response functions that we used so far. However, this characteristic time scale can be significantly reduced if the produced particles decay into yet other degrees of freedom, with decay rate much faster than Hubble. With this in mind let us consider the trapped inflation action

$$S_{\text{trap}} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left\{ \sum_i \left[-\frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \chi_i \partial^\mu \chi_i - \frac{g^2 (\phi - \phi_i)^2}{2} \chi_i^2 \right] - \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi - V(\phi) \right\}, \quad (8.1)$$

where ϕ is the inflaton and $V(\phi)$ is its potential, and we add an interaction term, $S_{\text{int}}(\chi_i, \varphi)$, that characterizes the coupling between χ_i 's and some additional degrees of freedom φ that leads to a decay rate for the χ_i 's satisfying $\Gamma_{\chi_i} \gg H$. The only condition we need to impose is the requirement that S_{int} does not modify the leading order picture from S_{trap} . In particular we need to ensure it does not generate a large mass for χ_i when $\phi \simeq \phi_i$. For example we can have

$$S_{\rm int} = \sum_{i} \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\varphi}} \partial^2 \chi_i \varphi^2, \qquad (8.2)$$

with φ some scalar field which we assume has some small mass, $m_{\varphi} \lesssim \sqrt{g} |\dot{\phi}|$, and does not couple directly to ϕ . In what follows we show that this model admits a local approximation. (To simplify notation in this section we drop the bar for the unperturbed values of ϕ .)

As in the original trapped inflation scenario, particles associated to the field χ_i are created when ϕ approaches ϕ_i . The computation of the production of particles follows the same line as in [31, 32]. The time interval $\delta t_c = t - t_i$ during which modes of a given χ_i field do not behave adiabatically (so that the corresponding particles are produced) can be estimated as

$$\delta t_c \sim 1/\sqrt{g|\dot{\phi}|},$$
(8.3)

which we want to be shorter than a Hubble time, $\delta t_c \ll H^{-1}$, hence [31]

$$H^2 \ll g |\dot{\phi}|. \tag{8.4}$$

Note this condition implies that after particles are produced the mass satisfies

$$M_{\chi_i}(t_i + \delta t_c) = g|\phi - \phi_i| \simeq g|\phi|\delta t_c \gg H.$$
(8.5)

Moving to the decay rate, using eq. (8.2) we can estimate

$$\Gamma_{\chi_i} \simeq \frac{M_{\chi_i}^3}{\Lambda_{\omega}^2}.\tag{8.6}$$

To ensure the decay time scale is longer than the time it takes to create the particles we need

$$\frac{1}{\delta t_c} \simeq \sqrt{g|\dot{\phi}|} \gtrsim \Gamma_{\chi_i} \simeq \frac{(g|\dot{\phi}|)^{3/4}}{\Lambda_{\varphi}^{1/2}} \quad \to \quad \Lambda_{\varphi} \gtrsim \sqrt{g|\dot{\phi}|}, \tag{8.7}$$

where we have approximated $M_{\chi_i} \simeq g |\dot{\phi}| \tau_{\chi_i} \equiv M_{\chi_i}(\tau_{\chi_i})$, with τ_{χ_i} the lifetime of the χ_i -particles, while at the same time $\Gamma_{\chi_i} \gg H$, which is necessary for our local approximation.³¹ After the particles are produced, the occupation number for each species is given by

$$|\beta_k|^2 = e^{-\frac{\pi k^2}{a^2(t_i)\kappa^2(t_i)}},\tag{8.8}$$

where $\kappa(t_i) = \sqrt{g|\dot{\phi}(t_i)|}$, and the number density

$$n_{\chi_i}(t_i + \delta t_c) = M_{\chi_i} \bar{\chi}_i^2 \simeq \frac{\kappa^3(t_i)}{(2\pi)^3}.$$
(8.9)

Then, taking into account the decay rate of the particles for later times, we have

$$n_{\chi_i}(t,t_i) \simeq \frac{\kappa^3(t_i)}{(2\pi)^3} \left(\frac{a(t_i)}{a(t)}\right)^3 e^{-\Gamma_{\chi}(t-t_i)} \Theta(t-t_i),$$
(8.10)

where in order to obtain an estimation we have approximated Γ_{χ_i} by a constant Γ_{χ} . The EOM for the unperturbed inflaton becomes

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} + V'(\phi) + g\sum_{i} n_{\chi_i}(t, t_i) = 0.$$
(8.11)

As the sum over the particle production events is difficult to deal with, we will replace it by an integral. Defining $\Delta = \phi_{i+1} - \phi_i$, the last term on the l.h.s. of eq. (8.11) can be thus approximated by

$$\sum_{i} n_{\chi_{i}}(t,t_{i}) \simeq \int^{t} dt' \frac{\dot{\phi}(t')|}{\Delta} \frac{\kappa^{3}(t')}{(2\pi)^{3}} e^{-(3H+\Gamma_{\chi})(t-t')}.$$
(8.12)

This is a good approximation only if the variation of the integrand is small between production events. This is quantified by the conditions

$$\frac{(3H+\Gamma_{\chi})|\Delta|}{|\dot{\phi}|} \ll 1, \quad \frac{|\ddot{\phi}\Delta|}{\dot{\phi}^2} \ll 1.$$
(8.13)

Hence, for $\Gamma_{\chi} \gg H$ and $|\ddot{\phi}| \ll \Gamma_{\chi} |\dot{\phi}|$ we can approximate the integral as

$$g\sum_{i} n_{\chi_i}(t, t_i) \simeq \frac{g|\dot{\phi}(t)|}{\Gamma_{\chi}\Delta} \frac{\kappa^3(t)}{(2\pi)^3} \simeq \frac{(g|\dot{\phi}|)^{5/2}}{\Gamma_{\chi}|\Delta|(2\pi)^3}.$$
(8.14)

³¹Notice that $\tau_{\chi_i} > \delta t_c$ requires $\Gamma_{\chi_i} < M_{\chi_i}(\tau_{\chi_i})$, which also consistent with the particle interpretation.

We discuss the consistency of our approximations in more detail in appendix I.

We now define the (composite) operator $f(t)\mathcal{O} \equiv \sum_i f_i(t)\mathcal{O}_i$, where³²

$$f_i(t) = \frac{g^2}{2} (\phi(t) - \phi_i)^2, \quad \mathcal{O}_i = \chi_i^2,$$
(8.15)

whose background expectation values are given by (see eq. (8.9))

$$\sum_{i} f_{i}(t)\bar{\mathcal{O}}_{i} = \frac{g^{2}}{2} \sum_{i} (\phi(t) - \phi_{i})^{2} \bar{\chi}_{i}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} M_{\chi_{i}} n_{\chi_{i}}.$$
(8.16)

Then, using eq. (8.14), the expression in eq. (8.11) becomes (where we add the gradient piece, that vanishes in the background, for later convenience)

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} - \frac{c_s^2}{a^2}\partial_i^2\phi + V'(\phi) + \frac{(g|\dot{\phi}|)^{5/2}}{\Gamma_{\chi}|\Delta|(2\pi)^3} = 0,$$
(8.17)

which is local in time as we advertised. (The same applies for the EOM of the perturbations we study in the next section.)

To wrap up this section let us comment on the emergence of the shift symmetry, which plays an essential role in our analysis. Even though the EOM has a term $\sum_i g^2(\phi - \phi_i)\bar{\chi}_i^2$ which is apparently not invariant under $\phi \to \phi + c$, secretly it is, since we end up with eq. (8.17) which is manifestly invariant (ignoring the shift in $V(\phi)$ which we assume is small).

Notice, first of all, the non-perturbative result

$$\bar{\chi}_i^2 \simeq \frac{n_{\chi_i}(\phi(t_i))}{g|\phi - \phi_i|},\tag{8.18}$$

which cancels the explicit factors of $\phi - \phi_i$. However this is not enough, since n_{χ_i} depends on t_i (the time defined as $\phi(t_i) = \phi_i$), which in turn depends explicitly on ϕ . Nevertheless, this dependence is ultimately removed by the presence of the sum, which is the key feature. At this point the EOM becomes invariant under $\phi \to \phi + c$. (This is the case because we can absorb the shift in ϕ into a redefinition of ϕ_i , which is summed over a large number of periods.) We call this an emergent shift symmetry.

8.1.1 Perturbations

In order to obtain the equation for the perturbations at linear order we expand $\phi \rightarrow \phi + \delta \phi$ in eq. (8.17). Taking into account the contribution of the noise we obtain

$$\ddot{\delta\phi} + \frac{c_s^2 k^2}{a^2} \delta\phi + 3H\dot{\delta\phi} + V''(\phi)\delta\phi + \frac{5}{2} \frac{g^{5/2} |\dot{\phi}|^{3/2}}{\Gamma_{\chi} |\Delta| (2\pi)^3} \dot{\delta\phi} = -g\Delta n_{\chi}, \tag{8.19}$$

with

$$\Delta n_{\chi} = g \sum_{i} M_{\chi_i} \Delta \bar{\chi}_i^2, \qquad (8.20)$$

³²We chose to work with $f(t)\mathcal{O}$, rather than each individual $f_i\mathcal{O}_i$, in order make direct contact with our analysis of the EFT in previous sections.

the variance of the number of particles produced.³³ Hence we arrive at an equation as in (1.2), with an effective damping rate γ given by

$$\gamma = \frac{5}{2} \frac{g^{5/2} |\dot{\phi}|^{3/2}}{\Gamma_{\chi} |\Delta| (2\pi)^3}.$$
(8.21)

In this expression we ignored the spatial variation of the field in Δn_{χ} at linear order, provided the physical wave vector $k_{\rm ph} = k/a$ satisfies $k_{\star} \ll \kappa$, and also $k_{\rm ph}\Delta \ll |\dot{\phi}|$, in order to be able to replace sum into integrals.

Notice that while each individual f_i is not a constant the power spectrum still obeys scale invariance. This can be seen by redefining $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_i \to n_{\chi_i}$, in which case the new $\hat{f}_i(t) \simeq gM_{\chi_i}(\phi)$ does obey $\ddot{f}_i/(\dot{f}_iH) \ll 1$ in the slow roll approximation. Indeed, the response at linear order in $\delta\phi$ becomes

$$g\sum_{i}\delta n_{\chi_{i}} \simeq \frac{5}{2} \frac{g^{5/2} |\dot{\phi}|^{3/2}}{\Gamma_{\chi} |\Delta| (2\pi)^{3}} \dot{\delta\phi} + \dots \quad \rightarrow \quad \sum_{i} \dot{f}_{i} \delta\mathcal{O}_{i}^{R} = \dot{f}\sum_{i} \delta n_{\chi_{i}} \simeq N_{c} \gamma \dot{\pi} + \dots, \quad (8.22)$$

where we used $\delta \phi / \sqrt{N_c} \simeq \pi$ and defined $\dot{f} = g \dot{\phi}$, with the normalization $N_c \simeq \dot{\phi}^2$ as explained in section 3. Likewise, for the noise (see eq. (8.20))

$$\frac{1}{N_c} \sum_i \dot{f}_i \delta \mathcal{O}_i^S \quad \to \quad \frac{1}{N_c} \dot{f} \Delta n_{\chi}.$$
(8.23)

So far so good. What we need now is a local approximation for the two point function of Δn_{χ_i} , the noise, which should also include the effects of the decay rate of the particles. The expression is given by [31]

$$\langle \Delta n_{\chi_i}(t, \mathbf{k}) \Delta n_{\chi_j}(t', \mathbf{k}') \rangle \simeq (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{k}') \frac{\delta_{ij} \kappa^3 e^{-2\Gamma_X |t-t'|}}{a^{3/2}(t) a^{3/2}(t')} \theta(t-t_i) \frac{a^3(t_i)}{a^3(t)} \theta(t'-t_j) \frac{a^3(t_j)}{a^3(t')}.$$
(8.24)

This kernel sources $\delta\phi$ only through the integral in cosmic time of the Green's function. We can then approximate this equation by (see eq. 3.20 in [31])

$$\langle \Delta n_{\chi}(t,\mathbf{k})\Delta n_{\chi}(t',\mathbf{k}')\rangle \simeq (2\pi)^{3}\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}+\mathbf{k}')\frac{\delta(t-t')}{a^{3}(t)}\frac{\kappa^{3}N_{\text{hits}}}{2\Gamma_{\chi}} \equiv \nu_{\chi}(2\pi)^{3}\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}+\mathbf{k}')\frac{\delta(t-t')}{a^{3}(t)},$$
(8.25)

with

$$\nu_{\chi} \equiv \frac{\kappa^3 N_{\text{hits}}}{2\Gamma_{\chi}},\tag{8.26}$$

and $N_{\rm hits} \sim \dot{\phi}/(H\Delta)$. The computation of the power spectrum then follows as in section 6.

Finally let us add a few words on our assumption that φ is a light field. If they were too light one might wonder whether they could contribute to the density fluctuations. Notice that since we require $H \ll \Gamma_{\chi_i} < M_{\chi_i}(\tau_{\chi_i})$, we do not necessarily need m_{φ} to be as light as Hubble, in fact $m_{\varphi} \leq M_{\chi_i}(\tau_{\chi_i})/2$ would be just fine. In this case they quickly redshift away. (Let us stress that even if they were effectively massless they could still be irrelevant for the late time curvature perturbations.)

³³Notice that in generalizing the result derived for the background into the one for the perturbations, we are assuming that effects due to the extrinsic curvature of the surfaces of constant ϕ are suppressed by powers of $k_{\star}/\kappa \ll 1$ i.e. $\gamma \ll g|\dot{\phi}|/H$, at the time of freeze-out with $\kappa \sim (g|\dot{\phi}|)^{1/2}$.

8.1.2 Non-Gaussianities

To compute non-Gaussianities we follow [31] and replace ϕ by $\phi + \delta \phi_1 + \delta \phi_2$ in eq. (8.17), and expand to linear and quadratic order in $\delta \phi_2$ and $\delta \phi_1$ respectively. To this purpose we need to compute particle creation in a time dependent background to second order in the perturbation, namely $\delta^{(2)}n_{\chi}$. In eq. (8.19) we neglected the space variation of the field in the computation of δn_{χ} , but at the non-linear level those gradient terms will provide us with the largest non-Gaussianities. (Recall the term proportional to $\gamma(\partial_i \pi)^2$ in eq. (7.2) is the one that induces the largest effects since $k_{\star} \sim \sqrt{\gamma H}$.)

Given that the $\mathcal{O}_i \equiv \chi_i^2$ are scalars, as we argued in section 7.3, we are then able to extend the result in eq. (8.14) to a spatially varying field, namely $\dot{\phi} \rightarrow n^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi$ with $n_{\mu} \sim \partial_{\mu}\phi$, hence

$$\frac{(g|\dot{\phi}|)^{5/2}}{\Gamma_{\chi}|\Delta|(2\pi)^3} \to \frac{g^{5/2} \left(\sqrt{-(\partial\phi)^2}\right)^{5/2}}{\Gamma_{\chi}|\Delta|(2\pi)^3}.$$
(8.27)

(This is analogous to the covariant version of Schwinger pair production in an electromagnetic field with a purely electric background $E \sim \dot{\phi}$, which turns out to be a scalar function of $\mathcal{F} = F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}$ and $\mathcal{B} = F_{\mu\nu}F^{\star}_{\mu\nu}$.)

One might worry about the validity of this procedure once we add inhomogeneities. In our example the particles are created in the state given by eq. (8.8), where (momentum) gradients of the unperturbed distribution are suppressed by factors of $1/(g|\dot{\phi}|)^{1/2} = 1/\kappa$. In fact, κ is the scale that controls the validity of the local approximation. If we ignore these higher derivative (extrinsic curvature) terms, which are suppressed by k_{\star}/κ , we can then choose coordinates such that $\tilde{t} = t + \pi$. Hence for equal \tilde{t} surfaces we get $n_{\chi} (\partial_{\tilde{t}} \phi(\tilde{t}))$ given by eq. (8.9). Then we just replace $\partial_{\tilde{t}} \to n^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}$ for any coordinate system, with $n^{\mu} \sim g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} \tilde{t}$. To incorporate all type of corrections we also need to include terms involving the extrinsic curvature, $\delta K_{\mu\nu}$, and so on.

From the expression in (8.27) we already obtain the terms (with $\pi = \delta \phi / \dot{\phi}$)

$$\ddot{\pi}_2 - c_s^2 \partial_i^2 \pi_2 + (3H + \gamma)\dot{\pi}_2 + \gamma \left(\alpha \dot{\pi}_1^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\partial_i \pi_1)^2\right) + \dots = \text{Noise}, \quad (8.28)$$

with α some numerical coefficients (which may vanish). In particular we get $\gamma(\partial_i \pi_1)^2$ at the non-linear level as advertised,³⁴ leading to $|f_{\rm NL}| \simeq \frac{\gamma}{c_s^2 H} \gg 1$ for $\gamma \gg H$, similarly to the calculation in section 7.1.

There are yet other sources of non-linearities which can be induced and we have not incorporated (represented by the ellipses). Since $\ddot{f}_i \simeq \dot{\phi}^2$, one may worry about terms like $\ddot{f}_i \pi \delta \bar{\mathcal{O}}_i$, which do not respect the shift symmetry. (Moreover, they could induce nonnegligible non-Gaussianities in the squeezed limit). However it turns out these terms actually cancel out, and the theory has an approximate shift symmetry, as we found already at linear order. To show this let us return to the interacting part of the effective action in eq. (8.1)

$$S_{\text{trap}}^{\text{int}} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \sum_i \frac{g^2(\phi - \phi_i)^2}{2} \chi_i^2 - V(\phi), \qquad (8.29)$$

³⁴Notice that for the model at hand we also need to include the perturbations in $\Gamma_{\chi}(\dot{\phi})$. This will slightly modify the form of the function of $\sqrt{-\partial \phi^2}$ in eq. (8.27), and ultimately the coefficient α in eq. (8.28).

and perform the shift $\phi \to \phi + c$. Assuming $V(\phi)$ obeys the slow roll conditions, the action will remain invariant provided we shift at the same time $\phi_j \to \tilde{\phi}_j \equiv \phi_j - c$. The new action then has the same form as the original one, with $\phi_j \to \tilde{\phi}_j$. Since, as we saw previously, the strength of the trapping mechanism depends on the velocity as it passes through the sweet spot, the physics stays essentially unchanged as long as we sum over a large number of periods. Hence the EOM will be (approximately) shift invariant. The crucial point is that the change $\phi \to \phi + c$ is compensated by a concurrent shift in t_i , i.e. $t_i \to t_i + \delta t_i$ with $\delta t_i \simeq c/\dot{\phi}$, which is ultimately summed over a large number of periods [31]. Although this is not entirely obvious, the would-be breaking terms already canceled out at linear order.

Something similar occurs in the model of [31] before making the local approximation. In that case the contribution to the EOM from particle production reads [31]

$$\hat{m}^{2}\delta\phi + \int^{t} dt' \hat{m}^{2} \left(\frac{5}{2}\dot{\delta\phi}(t') - 3H\delta\phi(t')\right) \frac{a^{3}(t')}{a^{3}(t)},\tag{8.30}$$

which appears to have a 'mass' term and violate the shift symmetry. However, that is not the case since the change in that term cancels against the shift in the second term in the integral, using $a(t) \sim e^{Ht}$. In the local approximations these pieces do not even show up, since they explicitly cancel each other out. To include these effects to all orders we need to be careful with the sum over $f_i \mathcal{O}_i$. At the end of the day the same cancellation occurs at second order and so on, such that we restore the shift symmetry as we argued before.

Finally let us stress that our results here apply for the case of a local response. In principle, as in the trapped inflation scenario of [31], large non-Gaussianities may also be produced via the non-locality in time of the response.

8.2 Warm inflation

Another example where we have dissipation/fluctuation is warm inflation [39–44]. In this case \mathcal{O} represents ADOF in thermal equilibrium at a given temperature T mutually interacting with the inflaton ϕ . Even though $\bar{T}_{\mathcal{O}}^{\mu\nu}$ may be large enough to modify the dynamics of ϕ , it remains sub-dominant with respect to the potential energy, $V \sim M_p^2 H^2$, and one could hope inflation might not be drastically perturbed as long as $T \ll V^{1/4}$. The interesting aspect of this approach is the possibility of having $T \gg H$, which implies that thermal fluctuations dominate over vacuum effects. In warm inflation the evolution of the inflaton is governed by an equation of the type [42–44]

$$\ddot{\phi} + (3H + \gamma)\dot{\phi} + V'(\phi) = K\xi, \qquad (8.31)$$

where ξ represents the (Gaussian) noise with $\langle \xi \rangle = 0$ and $K \simeq \sqrt{\gamma T}$. Provided γ does not depend significantly on the temperature, the computation of the power spectrum follows the same steps as in section 6. The case $\partial_T \gamma \neq 0$ is more elaborate since one has to include perturbations in T already at first order (see [55, 56] for more details).

The dependence of γ on the temperature varies with the different realizations of warm inflation. The most promising example is given by the so called two-stage decay model [42–44]. Similarly to the trapped inflationary case (although due to different mechanisms) the rolling inflaton produces some (ultimately heavy) particles ($m_{\chi} \gg T$) through

a $g^2 \phi^2 \chi^2$ coupling, which subsequently decay into lighter degrees of freedom, φ 's. As we discussed before, this 'catalyzing' mechanism may allow us to approximate the evolution equations by local dynamics. However, contrary to the model in [31], in warm inflation the decaying product is assumed to have thermalized. The friction coefficient can be then computed and scales like [42–44]

$$\gamma(T) \simeq g^2 h^4 \left(\frac{m}{m_\chi}\right)^4 \frac{T^3}{m_\chi^2},\tag{8.32}$$

where h and $m = g\bar{\phi}$ enter in the coupling between χ and φ , e.g. $\mathcal{L}_{\chi\varphi} = hm\chi\varphi^{2}.^{35}$ Clearly this effect is rather inefficient, since $m_{\chi} \gg T$. One possibility is to increase the number of χ particles such that more than one field is excited, or equivalently the number of decaying channels. Unfortunately, if we denote by \mathcal{N} this 'enhancement factor', the assumption that warm inflation occurs for sufficient e-foldings ($N_e \gtrsim 50 - 60$) with $\gamma(T) \gg H$ requires $\mathcal{N} \gtrsim 10^6$ [58, 59].³⁶

Non-Gaussianities in the warm inflationary scenario have been also computed in the literature. In most cases the contributions are small, i.e. slow roll suppressed [62] (since they stem off the non-linearities induced by the potential). Following the reasoning of our previous section, to include other type of non-linearities in warm inflation one needs to generalize the $\gamma \dot{\phi}$ coupling to the case where $\phi \rightarrow \phi + \delta \phi$, which we would now write as $\gamma u^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \phi$ with u^{μ} some four vector. In principle there are different possibilities for u^{μ} depending on the model. For the two-stage case we can have either n^{μ} (as before) or u_{χ}^{μ} , the four velocity of the χ particles. The latter indeed would enter through the computation of the γ factor in eq. (8.32). However, in the limit $T \ll m_{\chi}$, the χ particles are non-relativistic (namely they are created essentially at rest) hence $u_{\chi}^{\mu} \simeq n^{\mu}$.³⁷ This suggests a coupling of the form $\gamma(T)n^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi$ with $\gamma(T)$ given by eq. (8.32), which following our previous arguments, would lead to non-linear effects of order $|f_{\rm NL}| \simeq \gamma(T)/H$.

9 Conclusions

In this paper we generalized the EFT for single field inflation [17-27] to include dissipative effects. Following [34, 35] we introduced ADOF described by composite operators in the

³⁷This is a consequence of the validity of a derivative expansion for heavy m_{χ} 's, which also supports the local approximations. The replacement $u^{\mu} \to n^{\mu}$ agrees with the expressions in [56].

³⁵In [57] it was argued that assuming warm inflation occurs and the potential obeys a series of slow roll conditions [42–44], the thermal hypothesis becomes plausible and $\rho_{\rm rad} \simeq (\gamma/H)\dot{\phi}^2$ has a stable equilibrium provided $\gamma(T) \simeq T^3$, as in eq. (8.32).

³⁶Even though one may be able to relax the condition on the curvature of the potential (the so called η -problem), some sort of tuning reappears in the form of very peculiar conditions on the matter content of the theory. Moreover, another important challenge for warm inflation model building is to keep under control the radiative and thermal corrections to the effective potential which could potentially ruin the slow roll conditions. (More so if one is going to assume γ becomes sufficiently large [60], in view of the previous requirement.) Supersymmetry may be invoked to tame the radiative corrections [61]. However, Supersymmetry is broken at finite temperature (and for non-zero vacuum energy), therefore some extra tuning may be required. A detailed account of the tuning of thermal inflation models lies beyond the scope our present paper.

effective action compatible with the symmetries of the long distance physics. Our general assumptions were: i) the existence of a preferred clock, ii) negligible (or vanishing) contribution from the ADOF to the curvature perturbations at late time, iii) the time scale for dissipation and fluctuation induced by the ADOF is much smaller than a Hubble time with negligible memory effects, and iv) the validity of an expansion in spatial derivatives. The last two allow us to use a local approximation for the dynamics of the perturbations. Under these conditions then we showed that in the strong dissipative regime the two point function is dominated by the noise, and that it can be significantly larger than the standard result for slow roll single field inflation. In particular

$$k^{3} \langle \zeta \zeta \rangle_{\mathcal{O}} \simeq \nu_{\mathcal{O}\star} \sqrt{\pi H_{\star}/\gamma_{\star}} \frac{H_{\star}^{2}}{2c_{s}^{\star} \left(c_{s}^{\star} N_{c}\right)^{2}},\tag{9.1}$$

which departs considerably from the Bunch-Davies result. The reason is twofold. First of all the size of the perturbations for the canonically normalized π field ($\pi_c = \sqrt{N_c}\pi$) is larger than in the Bunch-Davies vacuum, but moreover because the normalization scale N_c can be smaller than the value it takes in single field inflation without ADOF for fixed \dot{H} and c_s , namely $c_s^2 N_c \leq 2M_p^2 |\dot{H}|$.³⁸ This is even more transparent if we assume the FD theorem applies, or formally define $T_{\mathcal{O}}$ as $\frac{\nu_{\mathcal{O}}}{N_c \gamma}$, in which case

$$k^{3} \langle \zeta \zeta \rangle_{T} \simeq \sqrt{\pi \gamma_{\star} H_{\star}} \frac{T_{\mathcal{O}} H_{\star}^{2}}{2c_{s}^{\star} \left(c_{s}^{\star 2} N_{c}\right)} \simeq \frac{c_{s} k_{\star} T_{\mathcal{O}} H_{\star}^{2}}{\Lambda_{c}^{4}}, \qquad (9.2)$$

with $\Lambda_c^4 \equiv c_s^3 N_c$, similarly to what happens in warm inflation [39–44]. Then, introducing $\Lambda_b^4 \equiv 2M_p^2 |\dot{H}| c_s \geq \Lambda_c^4$, we get³⁹

$$\frac{\langle \zeta \zeta \rangle_T}{\langle \zeta \zeta \rangle_{\rm BD}} \simeq \left(\frac{c_s k_\star T_{\mathcal{O}}}{H_\star^2}\right) \left(\frac{\Lambda_b}{\Lambda_c}\right)^4 \gg 1,\tag{9.3}$$

already for $T_{\mathcal{O}} \geq H$ when $\gamma \gg H$. The factor of $c_s k_\star T_{\mathcal{O}}$ in the numerator can be understood as follows. The energy density for π is given by $(\tilde{\partial}\pi_c)^2 \simeq \tilde{k}_\star^2 \pi_c^2$ (where $\tilde{\partial}$ represents the derivative with respect to $\tilde{x}^i = x^i/c_s$), which goes like $\tilde{k}_\star^3 T_{\mathcal{O}}$ (a.k.a. Rayleigh-Jeans law). Hence $\pi_c^2 \simeq \tilde{k}_\star T_{\mathcal{O}} = c_s k_\star T_{\mathcal{O}}$, which we compare with the quantum noise in the Bunch-Davies vaccum given by H_\star^2 .

As a result it is no longer the case that the power spectrum provides us the values of H_{\star} and ϵ_{\star} as in the standard scenario, but rather with a set of new parameters: $\gamma, \nu_{\mathcal{O}}, N_c$ (or $T_{\mathcal{O}} = \nu_{\mathcal{O}}/(N_c\gamma)$). Therefore, the tensor/scalar ratio would no longer give us a *clean*

³⁸Notice this implies that the cutoff scale for higher dimensional operators in the EFT, Λ_U , (such as those obtained from $(1+g^{00})^n$ type of terms) may be lower than in the case of single field inflation without ADOF (for a given value of \dot{H}, c_s), where $\Lambda_U \sim M_p |\dot{H}| c_s^5$ for $c_s \ll 1$ [17, 25]. However, keep in mind the our EFT description breaks down when $E \gtrsim \Gamma_O$, hence the 'lowering' of Λ_U is only meaningful in cases where $\Lambda_U \lesssim \Gamma_O$.

³⁹One might be tempted to identify $c_s^3 N_c$ with the symmetry breaking scale Λ_b^4 [25], but this would not be correct. The reason is that in order to define the scale at which time translations are broken one has to properly account for the contributions to $\bar{T}^{\mu\nu}$ stemming from all degrees of freedom, including the \mathcal{O} 's. Following the procedure outlined in [25], one can easily show that Λ_b^4 remains at $2M_p^2 |\dot{H}| c_s$. (This is actually not that surprising, since the normalization of the Goldstone boson $\tilde{\pi}$ did not change, as show in eq. (3.1).)

measurement of the energy scale of inflation. (Also because the ADOF might significantly contribute to gravitational wave production [63].)

We were also able to identify some specific signatures for non-Gaussianities. In particular, we showed that the level of non-Gaussianities can potentially be much larger than in the case of single field inflation without ADOF by a factor of $\gamma/H \gg 1$. Our main observation was the following: in order to dissipate we require $\dot{\phi}$'s in the EOM, however, we need not only perturbe ϕ but also 'the dot', since the equal time surfaces are fluctuating. Hence, the non-linear realization of time diffeomorphisms requires the following combination

$$F(\partial_t \phi) \to F(n^\mu \partial_\mu \phi) \to F(\dot{\phi} \sqrt{-g^{00}}),$$
(9.4)

which not only induces $\gamma \dot{\pi}$ dissipation, but also (among others) a non-linear term: $-\gamma (\partial_i \pi)^2$. (Notice the relative sign is dictated by the non-linear realization of the symmetry.) Since horizon crossing happens at $c_s k_\star \simeq \sqrt{\gamma H}$, this type of non-linear coupling leads to

$$\frac{\gamma(\partial_i \pi)^2}{c_s^2 \partial_i^2 \pi} \sim f_{\rm NL} \zeta \to |f_{\rm NL}| \simeq \frac{\gamma}{c_s^2 H}.$$
(9.5)

The shape is plotted in figure 2, and peaks at the equilateral configuration. (This is not surprising given the fact that the non-linearities involve derivatives of ζ .) However, there is also a significant contribution at folded triangles $x_1 = 1, x_2 \simeq x_3 \simeq 1/2$. Other nonlinear terms may depend explicitly on the noise, such as $\delta \dot{\mathcal{O}}_S \dot{\pi}$, and are plotted in figure 3. Despite the fact that it scales with a single power of $\dot{\pi}$ one can show that its contribution in the limit $k_L \ll k_S$ is suppressed by $(k_L/k_S)^2$ with respect to the local shape, in agreement with the results in [54]. We will analyze the squeezed limit and consistency conditions in the presence of dissipation in future work.

In this paper we also studied specific realizations of the type of operators introduced in the EFT and the matching procedure. In particular we analyzed a local version of trapped inflation where the produced particles decay after they are created, which leads to (approximately) localized response functions. We showed how the term $\gamma(\partial_i \pi)^2$ gets generated, with the subsequent $\gamma/(c_s^2 H)$ imprint on $|f_{\rm NL}|$. Crucial aspects of the model include: *i*) The ADOF responsible for dissipation do not contribute to the density perturbations at late time, *ii*) The emergence of a shift symmetry at the level of the perturbations, and *iii*) The response functions were predominately sensitive to the preferred clock ϕ , whose fluctuations uniquely control the end of inflation, via $n_{\mu} \simeq \partial_{\mu}(t + \pi)$.

Intuitively, the necessary gradients of π appear as a result of the fluctuations of the clock, the field ϕ itself, which sets the equal time surfaces where the unperturbed computation is assumed to hold to a good approximation. The derivative expansion remains valid as long as the typical length scale for the variation of the extrinsic curvature (of equal time surfaces) is larger than the typical wavelength of the produced particles, namely $1/\kappa \ll 1/k_{\star}$. (Our conclusions also apply to the two-stage model of warm inflation, provided one succeeds in producing sufficient e-foldings while having $\gamma \gg H$ in a consistent fashion.)

One might wonder about the possibility of having a 'second clock' controlling the response functions for the ADOF. As long as we are only concerned about effects on the dynamics of the one clock driving inflation (assuming this second clock produces negligible direct contributions to ζ), one can incorporate its presence in the \mathcal{O} -system by replacing $n^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} \rightarrow u^{\alpha}_{\mathcal{O}}\partial_{\alpha}$. We will study this in more detail in future work.

In a nutshell, departing from the vanilla single field scenario opens new possibilities which may well be realized in nature. Once again, the EFT machinery is a wonderful tool to reduce the plethora of conceivable realizations to a theory of low energy degrees of freedom coupled to a set of composite operators whose correlation function encode all the information about the dissipation/fluctuation properties of each specific model. In our case we reduced the number of additional parameters to three: $\gamma, \nu_{\mathcal{O}}, N_c$. (Also $\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$ and $M_{\mathcal{O}}$, controlling the validity of local approximations.) By taking the ratio between ζ -correlation functions, such as the two and three point functions, we manage to cancel out most of our ignorance on the underlying dissipative mechanism, thanks to the link between different *n*-point functions induced by the symmetries. In this fashion we were able to show (assuming the noise is Gaussian) that the bispectrum peaks at equilateral configurations and moreover $|f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq}| \sim \frac{\gamma}{c^2 H}$ for a vast class of models.

A detection of the generic type of signatures we discussed in this paper, as a result of incorporating dissipative effects during inflation, would increase our understanding of the dynamics of the early universe and also lead us towards a more precise description of the inflationary epoch.

Acknowledgments

It is our pleasure to thank Daniel Baumann, Esteban Calzetta, Paolo Creminelli, Raphael Flauger, Dan Green, Sean Hartnoll, Lam Hui, Fernando Lombardo, Diego Mazzitelli, Alberto Nicolis and Eva Silverstein for helpful discussions. This work was supported by: Universidad de Buenos Aires, CONICET and ANPCyT (DLN); NSF grant AST-0807444, DOE grant DE-FG02-90ER40542 and NASA grant NNX10AH14G (RAP); NSF grant PHY-0503584 (LS); NSF grants PHY-0855425, AST-0506556 & AST-0907969, and by the David & Lucile Packard and the John D. & Catherine T. MacArthur Foundations (MZ). DLN is grateful to the Institute for Advanced Study and Stanford Institute for Theoretical Physics for hospitality over the course of this project. RAP, LS and MZ appreciate the hospitality of the CERN theory group during the final stages of this work.

A Examples with Ohmic behavior

Let us consider the well-known case in which the system (described by π) is linearly coupled to a "bath" of harmonic oscillators, such that [33, 45]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{tot}} = \mathcal{L}_{\pi}(\pi, \dot{\pi}) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}(q, \pi) + \mathcal{L}_{q}(q, \dot{q}), \tag{A.1}$$

with

$$\mathcal{L}_{\pi} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\pi}^2 - \frac{1}{2}\omega_0^2 \pi^2, \ \mathcal{L}_q = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{1}{2}\dot{q}_{\alpha}^2 - \frac{1}{2}\omega_{\alpha}^2 q_{\alpha}^2, \ \mathcal{L}_{\rm int} = -c_{\alpha}\sum_{\alpha} \pi q_{\alpha}.$$
(A.2)

Then the EOM become

$$\ddot{\pi} + \omega_0^2 \pi + \sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} = 0 \tag{A.3}$$

$$\ddot{q}_{\alpha} + \omega_{\alpha}^2 q_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha} \pi = 0.$$
(A.4)

Plugging the solution to eq. (A.4) back into eq. (A.3) we obtain an equation of the so called Langevin form:

$$\ddot{\pi} + \omega_0^2 \pi + \int dt' \tilde{\gamma}(t-t') \pi(t') = J(t), \qquad (A.5)$$

where

$$J(t) = -\sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha} q_{\alpha}^{\pi=0}(t), \qquad (A.6)$$

with $q_{\alpha}^{\pi=0}(t)$ representing the classical trajectories of the oscillators in the absence of π and

$$\tilde{\gamma}(t-t') \equiv \sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha}^2 G_{\text{ret}}^{\alpha}(t-t').$$
(A.7)

In the above expression we introduced

$$G_{\rm ret}^{\alpha}(t-t') = \theta(t-t') \frac{\sin(\omega_{\alpha}(t-t'))}{\omega_{\alpha}},\tag{A.8}$$

the retarded Green's function for an harmonic oscillator of frequency ω_{α} . If we now assume random initial conditions, taken independently for each oscillator in the environment, we can consider J(t) as a stochastic variable. Then, as π is being affected by the 'noise' induced by J(t), its dynamics acquires a stochastic character. In the jargon of particle physics, we have integrated out the bath of oscillators and obtained an effective EOM for the π field, with a generalized friction term plus noise. (However, as we emphasized in this paper, this EOM does not derive from a Lagrangian of the form $\mathcal{L}(\pi, \dot{\pi})$.)

As it stands the EOM for π is non-local (unless very particular properties for the c_{α} coefficients are assumed [33, 45]). Nevertheless, as we argue below, there are situations where we get

$$\mathrm{Im}\tilde{\gamma}(\omega)\simeq\gamma\omega,\tag{A.9}$$

with γ a constant, such that the EOM takes the desired form

$$\ddot{\pi} + \gamma \dot{\pi} + \omega_0^2 \pi = J \tag{A.10}$$

with $\langle J \rangle = 0$ (and after we redefine ω_0 to include a renormalization piece).

A Lagrangian description of the sort of eq. (A.1) arises in the so called Rubin's model, where a heavy mass M is coupled to a half-infinite chain of harmonic oscillators of mass m and spring constant $m\omega_R^2/4$, after diagonalization (ω_R is the highest attainable frequency) [45]. In such case one has [45]

$$\mathrm{Im}\tilde{\gamma}_R \simeq \omega \ \frac{m\omega_R}{M} \sqrt{1 - \omega^2/\omega_R^2} \ \theta(\omega_R - \omega), \tag{A.11}$$

which is of the type in eq. (1.5) for $\omega \ll \omega_R$ with $\gamma \sim (m/M)\omega_R$.⁴⁰

The reason non-local effects make appearance in the EOM relies on the ability of the environment to back react in our system. Hence in order to have a local approximation, we should consider a situation where the energy of the system is damped into the environment and the latter has a negligible back reaction effect (or it becomes important on a time scale much longer than the length of the experiment).

As an example, and in the spirit of Rubin's model, let us take the case of a ring of mass M attached to a half-infinite rope. If we denote by y(x,t) the height of the rope as a function of x > 0 and time, and place the ring at $\pi(t) \equiv y(0,t)$, the EOM read

$$\frac{\partial^2 y}{\partial x^2} = \frac{\partial^2 y}{\partial t^2} \tag{A.12}$$

$$M\ddot{\pi} = F\left(\frac{\partial y}{\partial x}\right)_{x=0} \tag{A.13}$$

where F is the tension per unit of length on the rope (and we work in units where the speed of propagation is taken to be one). From the wave equation we know

$$\left(\frac{\partial y}{\partial x}\right)_{x=0} = \pm \left(\frac{\partial y}{\partial t}\right)_{x=0},\tag{A.14}$$

and choosing boundary conditions such that only outgoing waves are allowed (i.e. y(x,t) = f(x-t)) we obtain

$$\ddot{\pi} + \gamma \dot{\pi} = 0, \tag{A.15}$$

with $\gamma = F/M$. We can now simply add a spring of frequency ω_0 attached to the ring to return to eq. (A.10), in this case with J = 0. (Notice that the rope represents the continuum limit of Rubin's model, where we take $m \to 0$ and $\omega_R \to \infty$ while keeping $m\omega_R$ finite, so that eq. (A.11) leads to a constant γ_R for all times.)

In a more realistic setting we may imaging fixing the rope (now of length L) at an end, such that waves will bounce back on a time scale of order $t_B \sim L$, introducing non-local effects. In such scenario, and as long as we are interested in time scales $t \ll t_B$, our local approximation remains valid.

B The optical theorem

Even though in this paper we deal with dissipation, our results are still consistent with unitarity. To make the connection more transparent let us consider the forward scattering amplitude for the π particles, which we depict in figure 5 as a 'self-energy' diagram, with π propagators represented by the wavy lines.

As it turns out, this amplitude is proportional to the time order product

$$\langle T(\delta \mathcal{O}(x)\delta \mathcal{O}(y))\rangle,$$
 (B.1)

⁴⁰Notice the asymptotic behavior is given by $\gamma_R(t) \sim \frac{m}{M} \sqrt{\frac{\omega_R}{t^3}} \sin \omega_R t$ for $t \gg \omega_R^{-1}$, which is milder than in eq. (1.7).



Figure 5. The wavy lines correspond to π and the dark interactions are insertions of $\mathcal{O}\pi$ couplings. The line connecting the dots represents Feynman's time order product of eq. (B.1).

also known as Feynman propagator, $iG_{\rm F}(x-y)$, which appears after we integrate out $\delta \mathcal{O}$ in the usual path integral formalism with $\mathcal{L}_{\rm int} = \delta \mathcal{O} \pi$. Unitarity, in the form of the optical theorem, tells us that the imaginary part of this amplitude must be related to the total power loss [34, 35]. Hence, using

$$\operatorname{Im}\mathcal{A}_{\pi\to\pi}\simeq\operatorname{Im}G_{\mathrm{F}}(\omega)$$
 (B.2)

and (for $\omega > 0$)

$$\operatorname{Im} G_{\mathrm{F}}(\omega) = \operatorname{Im} G_{\mathrm{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega), \tag{B.3}$$

multiplying by a factor of ω (to go from rates to energies) we obtain

$$\frac{dE}{dt} \simeq \omega \operatorname{Im} \mathcal{A}_{\pi \to \pi} \simeq \omega \operatorname{Im} G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\mathrm{ret}}(\omega).$$
(B.4)

If we require this expression to match the condition

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = \gamma \dot{\pi}^2, \tag{B.5}$$

that follows from a dissipative term of the form $\gamma \dot{\pi}$, we conclude (for $\omega > 0$)

$$\mathrm{Im}G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\mathrm{ret}}(\omega) \simeq \gamma \omega \tag{B.6}$$

as expected. In general the expression in eq. (B.5) may be more elaborate, but the procedure generalize to any function of ω [34, 35].

The reader may be puzzled about the appearance of the Feynman propagator rather than the retarded propagator. However Feynman boundary conditions can be used to relate the imaginary part of self-energy diagrams with the total radiated power (or energy loss), similarly to what is done in the EFT for gravitational radiation of [5–11, 14, 15]. The crucial point is that the boundary conditions are so chosen to ensure 'in' and 'out' vacuum states for the $\delta \mathcal{O}$'s (e.g. no external gravitational radiation), but at the same time producing an imaginary part which precisely account for the total radiated power. Another way to see this is to notice that the total rate induced by the coupling $\delta \mathcal{O}\pi$ is proportional to (ignoring factors of **k** for the sake of argument)

$$\sum_{N} \langle \pi, 0 | \pi \delta \mathcal{O}(t) | 0, N \rangle \langle \pi, 0 | \pi \delta \mathcal{O}(0) | 0, N \rangle^{\star} = \sum_{N} \langle 0 | \delta \mathcal{O}(0) | N \rangle \langle N | \delta \mathcal{O}(t) | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | \delta \mathcal{O}(0) \delta \mathcal{O}(t) | 0 \rangle,$$
(B.7)

which is nothing but the sum over the square of the emission amplitudes $\mathcal{A}_{\pi \to N}$, for all N possible (intermediate) states. Then, using the relation (valid for $\omega > 0$)

$$\int dt \, e^{i\omega t} \langle 0|\delta \mathcal{O}(0)\delta \mathcal{O}(t)|0\rangle = 2 \operatorname{Im} \, i \int dt \, e^{i\omega t} \langle 0|T(\delta \mathcal{O}(0)\delta \mathcal{O}(t))|0\rangle, \tag{B.8}$$

we reproduce our previous result (after multiplying by a factor of ω). This is nothing but the optical theorem at work. What turns out to be a bit more subtle is how to obtain the correct retarded boundary conditions of eq. (1.14) from the path integral approach. However, this is possible in the so called 'in-in' formalism [33, 45, 46]. (See [48, 49] for a discussion in the case of gravitational radiation reaction.)

C Retarded Green's function

In this appendix we provide some basic features of retarded Green's functions, and in particular we discuss an example where $\text{Im}G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\text{ret}} \simeq \omega$ as we used throughout the paper.

Let us start with some axiomatic properties for the retarded Green's functions and let us work at zero spatial momentum. First of all, from causality we know $G_{\text{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega)$ is an analytic function of ω for Im $\omega > 0$. Moreover, the imaginary part is odd in ω :

$$\operatorname{Im} G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\operatorname{ret}}(-\omega) = -\operatorname{Im} G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\operatorname{ret}}(\omega).$$
(C.1)

Also, the real and imaginary parts are related via Kramers-Kronig relations,

$$\operatorname{Re} G_{\operatorname{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega) = P \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega'}{\pi} \frac{\operatorname{Im} G_{\operatorname{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega')}{\omega' - \omega}, \qquad (C.2)$$

$$\operatorname{Im} G_{\operatorname{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega) = -P \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega'}{\pi} \frac{\operatorname{Re} G_{\operatorname{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega')}{\omega' - \omega}, \qquad (C.3)$$

where P stands for the principal value. This implies

$$\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} d\omega' \frac{\operatorname{Im} G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\operatorname{ret}}(\omega')}{\omega'} < \infty, \tag{C.4}$$

from which we obtain

$$\operatorname{Im} G^{\mathcal{O}}_{\operatorname{ret}}(\omega \to 0) \to 0. \tag{C.5}$$

Notice that eq. (C.5) precludes the existence of a pole at $\omega = 0$, however, it does not rule out the behavior of eq. (1.20) away from the origin, as we show in appendix H.

Let us now study the example of electric conductivity. As it is well known the relationship between the current and electric field in a conductor is given by

$$\mathbf{j}_e = -i\omega\sigma(\omega)\mathbf{A}(\omega),\tag{C.6}$$

with $\mathbf{E}(\omega) = -i\omega \mathbf{A}(\omega)$. Then using linear response theory one can show (Kubo formula)

$$\operatorname{Re}\sigma(\omega) = \frac{\operatorname{Im}G_{\operatorname{ret}}^{j}(\omega)}{\omega},\qquad(C.7)$$

where G_{ret}^{j} is the retarded Green's function for the electric current \mathbf{j}_{e} . In general this Green's function can be parameterized as [64]

$$G_{\rm ret}^j(\omega) = \frac{\alpha_j M_j(\omega)}{\omega + M_j(\omega)},\tag{C.8}$$

with $M_j(\omega)$ a 'memory function', and α_j a constant. Depending on the system, for some range of frequencies one can approximate $M_j(\omega) \sim i/\tau_j + O(\omega\tau_j)$ with τ_j the 'memory time', such that

$$G_{\rm ret}^j(\omega) \simeq -\frac{\sigma_j}{i\omega - \omega_D} \quad \Rightarrow \quad {\rm Im}G_{\rm ret}^j(\omega) \simeq \frac{\sigma_j\omega}{\omega^2 + \omega_D^2},$$
 (C.9)

with $\omega_D \simeq 1/\tau_j$, $\sigma_j = \alpha_j \omega_D$. For $\omega \ll \omega_D$ we obtain the behavior as in Drude's model in eq. (1.7).

Notice that we also have Re $G_{\rm ret}^j \simeq \sigma \omega_D$ (which is obviously consistent with the dispersion relations of eq. (C.2)). This means, in principle, that we get a large correction in the real part of the Green's function. In cases where our \mathcal{O} operators have a Green's function of this form, this could potentially lead to a large mass for π . In our cases of interest we assumed there is a mechanism that forbids a large contribution such that m_{π} remains $O(\epsilon)$, as in cases where there is an approximate shift symmetry.

D Decoupling limit

In single field inflation one can show that δN and δN_i are suppressed in the slow roll approximation, so that one may work with the theory of π up to $O(\epsilon)$ effects, for models not too close to de Sitter [17]. Here we argue that decoupling still occurs even after we include ADOF, and make some general comments about the structure of the mixing terms. In this section we work in $M_p^2 = 1$ units unless otherwise noted.

As we know, the full $\bar{T}^{\mu\nu}$ for the background takes the perfect fluid form

$$T_{\mu\nu} = (\bar{\rho}_{\text{tot}} + \bar{p}_{\text{tot}})\bar{u}_{\mu}\bar{u}_{\nu} + \bar{g}_{\mu\nu}\bar{p}_{\text{tot}}$$
(D.1)

(which follows from the isotropic and homogenous conditions). We will work in the Newtonian gauge where

$$g_{00} = -1 - 2\Phi, \ g_{0i} = 0, \ g_{ij} = \bar{g}_{ij}(1 - 2\Psi).$$
 (D.2)

If we concentrate on first order scalar perturbations we have

$$\delta T_{ij} = -2\Psi \bar{g}_{ij}\bar{p}_{\text{tot}} + \bar{g}_{ij}\delta p + \delta\tau_{ij} \tag{D.3}$$

$$\delta T_{00} = 2\bar{\rho}_{\rm tot}\Phi + \delta\rho \tag{D.4}$$

$$\delta T_{i0} = -(\bar{\rho}_{\text{tot}} + \bar{p}_{\text{tot}})\partial_i \delta u, \qquad (D.5)$$

where we included a dissipative term $\delta \tau_{ij}$, induced by the ADOF. (Keep in mind that the ADOF also enter in $\delta \rho, \delta p$.) The EOM become [65]

$$\partial_j \left(\delta p + 2\partial_0 (\epsilon H^2 \delta u) + 6\epsilon H^3 \delta u + 2\epsilon H^2 \Phi \right) + \partial_i \delta \tau_j^i = 0 \tag{D.6}$$

$$\delta\dot{\rho} + 3H(\delta\rho + \delta p) + H\delta\tau_i^i + 2\epsilon H^2\left(\frac{\nabla^2\delta u}{a^2} - 3\dot{\Psi}\right) = 0 \tag{D.7}$$

$$\frac{\nabla^2 \Psi}{a^2} - \frac{1}{2} \delta \rho + 3\epsilon H^3 \delta u = 0 \tag{D.8}$$

$$\frac{1}{a^2} \left(\partial_i \partial_j - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij} \nabla^2 \right) (\Psi - \Phi) = \left(\delta \tau_j^i - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij} \delta \tau_l^l \right)$$
(D.9)

where we used $\bar{\rho}_{tot} + \bar{p}_{tot} = -2\dot{H} = 2H^2\epsilon$, $(\epsilon = -\dot{H}/H^2)$. Let us assume for the moment that $\delta\rho$, δp , δu and $\delta\tau_{ij}$ do not depend on the metric perturbations. Then, from these equations one can immediately note that the metric perturbations decouple in the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit. Moreover, the constraint equations (last two) give us the value of Φ and Ψ in terms of $\delta\rho$, δu and $\delta\tau_{ij}$. At the end of the day we end up with equations where the mixing with gravity is suppressed by ϵ , and moreover, is independent of the relationship between $\delta\rho$ and δp .

To analyze the relative importance of the contributions of these mixing terms, we can combine eqs. (D.6)-(D.8) to obtain $(k \neq 0)$:

$$\delta\ddot{\rho}_{k} + 3H(\delta\dot{\rho}_{k} + \delta\dot{p}_{k}) - \frac{k^{2}}{a^{2}}\left(\delta p_{k} + \frac{2}{3}\delta\tau_{k}\right) + \frac{d}{dt}\left(H(\delta\tau_{i}^{i})_{k}\right) - 2\epsilon H^{2}\delta\rho_{k} - 3\epsilon H^{2}\delta p_{k}$$
$$+ 2\epsilon H^{2}\delta\tau_{k} + 10\epsilon H^{2}\frac{k^{2}}{a^{2}}\delta u - 3\frac{a^{2}\epsilon H^{2}}{k^{2}}\left(\delta\ddot{\rho}_{k} + 2H\delta\dot{\rho}_{k} + 4H^{2}\delta\rho_{k}\right) + O(\epsilon^{2}) = 0. \quad (D.10)$$

In this expression we replaced $\partial_i (\delta \tau_j^i)_k \to 2/3 \ \partial_j \delta \tau_k$, with $\delta \tau_k$ a scalar mode which follows from the decomposition $(\delta \tau_j^i)_k^{\text{TF}} = (\hat{k}^i \hat{k}^j - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij}) \delta \tau_k + \dots (\hat{k}^2 = 1)$, and we used eqs. (D.8), (D.9) to solve for Φ ,

$$\Phi = \frac{a^2}{k^2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \delta \rho_k + \delta \tau_k \right) + O(\epsilon).$$
 (D.11)

Therefore the presence of gravity has two net effects. First of all, there is a "mass" term proportional to $\sqrt{\epsilon}H$; and secondly there are mixing factors, of order $\epsilon H^2/k_{\star}^2$ at horizon crossing (recall $k_{\star} = k/a(t_{\star})$). Hence, as long as $\omega_{\star} \gg \epsilon^{1/2}H$ and $k_{\star} \gg \epsilon^{1/2}H$, we can ignore the mixing with gravity. For us, since $k_{\star} \sim \sqrt{\gamma H}/c_s > H$, this suppression is larger than the usual case upon noticing

mixing
$$\sim \frac{\epsilon_{\star} H_{\star} c_{s_{\star}}^2}{\gamma_{\star}} \ll 1.$$
 (D.12)

So far we have assumed that terms involving the metric perturbations in $\delta\rho$, δp , δu and $\delta\tau_{ij}$ are negligible. To clarify this point let us take the example of single field inflation without ADOF [17]. To linear order in the perturbations, the stress tensor obtained from the first contributions to the action defined in eq. (2.1), i.e.⁴¹

$$\frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \{ (\overline{p} - \overline{\rho} - (\overline{p} + \overline{\rho})g^{00}) + M_2^4 (1 + g^{00})^2 \},$$
(D.13)

⁴¹Note that the term $M_2^4(1+g^{00})^2$ allows for $c_s \neq 1$ (see eq. (2.13)).

can be written as in eq. (D.3), using

$$\delta\rho = \dot{\overline{\rho}}\pi + (\overline{\rho} + \overline{p} + 4M_2^4)(\dot{\pi} - \Phi), \qquad (D.14a)$$

$$\delta p = \dot{\overline{p}}\pi + (\overline{\rho} + \overline{p})(\dot{\pi} - \Phi), \qquad (D.14b)$$

$$\delta u = -\pi. \tag{D.14c}$$

For these variables to be approximately independent of Φ we need $\Phi \ll \dot{\pi}$. Solving for Φ using eq. (D.11) without the ADOF we obtain (in the slowly varying approximation and restoring M_p)

$$\Phi \sim \frac{a^2}{M_p^2 k^2} \left(\bar{\rho} + \bar{p} + 4M_2^4 \right) \dot{\pi}.$$
 (D.15)

Therefore the assumption $\Phi \ll \dot{\pi}$ is self-consistent provided

$$\frac{a^2}{M_p^2 k^2} (\bar{\rho} + \bar{p} + 4M_2^4) \ll 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad k_\star \gg \frac{(\bar{\rho} + \bar{p} + 4M_2^4)^{1/2}}{M_p}.$$
 (D.16)

Using $\bar{\rho} + \bar{p} \sim 2\epsilon M_p^2 H^2$ we recover an expression similar to (D.12) (but without the factor $c_{s_*}^2$),

mixing
$$\sim \frac{\epsilon_{\star} H_{\star}}{\gamma_{\star}} \ll 1.$$
 (D.17)

Note that the above estimations do not apply in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$, since the higher derivative contributions can no longer be ignored. To analyze this case we add the term proportional to \bar{M}_2^2 in eq. (2.1), i.e.

$$-\frac{1}{2}\int d^4x \sqrt{-g}\,\bar{M}_2^2 (\delta K^{\mu}_{\mu})^2.$$
(D.18)

Setting $\overline{\rho} + \overline{p} \to 0$ and $c_s \to 0$ we get

$$\delta\rho = 4M_2^4(\dot{\pi} - \Phi) - 3\bar{M}_2^2 H\left[\frac{k^2}{a^2}\pi - 3(H\Phi + \dot{\Psi})\right]$$
(D.19a)

$$\simeq 4M_2^4 \dot{\pi} - 3\bar{M}_2^2 H \frac{k^2}{a^2} \pi.$$
 (D.19b)

(The second line is valid provided $\Phi \ll \dot{\pi}$ and $H\Phi + \dot{\Psi} \ll \frac{k^2}{a^2}\pi$.) Using again eq. (D.11) (without ADOF) we have

$$M_p^2 \Phi \simeq \frac{a^2}{k^2} \delta \rho \simeq 4M_2^4 \frac{a^2}{k^2} \dot{\pi} - 3\bar{M}_2^2 H \pi.$$
 (D.20)

Therefore we see the assumption that we can neglect the dependence of $\delta\rho$ on the metric perturbations requires, not only $\bar{M}_2 \ll M_p$, but also [17]

$$M_2^4 \frac{a^2}{k^2} \ll M_p^2 \quad \to \quad k_\star \gg M_2^2/M_p. \tag{D.21}$$

In addition, this explains the apparent puzzle in the mixing expression of eq. (D.12), that appears to exactly vanish in the de Sitter limit. (This we know is not the case, for example in the Ghost Condensate. See [17] for more details.) Notice that the condition in (D.21)

does not make any reference to c_s , which is zero in the de Sitter limit. In general, for small (ϵ, c_s) the mixing with gravity will depend on which one is larger between $\bar{\rho} + \bar{p}$ and M_2^4 , as in (D.16), and therefore in the near de Sitter limit the mixing may become enhanced with respect to ϵ .

The inclusion of ADOF does not modify the previous analysis considerably. Similar arguments can be made for vector and tensor modes.

E Comment on $\hat{\mathcal{O}}\delta K^{\mu}_{\mu}$

Let us briefly analyze the importance of the terms with the extrinsic curvature. In particular we compare the operator $s(t)\frac{\hat{\mathcal{O}}}{M_K}\delta K^{\mu}_{\mu}$, given in eq. (4.3), with $f(t)\mathcal{O}_1$ of eq. (4.1). For the sake of argument we take $\mathcal{O}_1 \sim \hat{\mathcal{O}}$. By this we mean that for these operators all response and noise coefficients are of the same order. Then to linear order in π , from $f(t)\mathcal{O}_1$ we get $\dot{f}\pi\mathcal{O}_1$, whereas from the one with the extrinsic curvature we have $\frac{s(t)}{M_K}\hat{\mathcal{O}}\frac{\nabla^2}{a^2}\pi$.

Taking the ratio we see that if k_{\star} satisfies

$$k_{\star}^2 \ll M_K \dot{f}(t) / s(t), \tag{E.1}$$

we may be allowed to neglect operators with δK . As we have shown in this paper, the computation of the power spectrum and non-Gaussianities (due to the behavior of the retarded Green's function G_{γ}) is dominated by values for which, at freeze out, $k_{\star} \sim \sqrt{H\gamma}/c_s$. Therefore, to satisfy the condition in eq. (E.1) we need

$$\frac{s(t)\gamma H}{\dot{f}c_s^2} \ll M_K. \tag{E.2}$$

Otherwise, the contributions from $\mathcal{O}\delta K^{\mu}_{\mu}$ could be important.

F Dissipative Green's functions in an expanding universe

In this appendix we discuss some properties of the Green's function relevant for the computation of non-Gaussianities in section 7, in particular $G_{\gamma}(x, y) = y^2 g_{\gamma}(x, y)$ $(x = -kc_s \eta, y) = -kc_s \eta'$. In figure 6 we show some graphs of $G_{\gamma}(0, y)$ for three different values of γ . (For a fixed $x < (4 + \gamma/H)^{1/2}$,⁴² the behavior of $G_{\gamma}(x, y)$ is similar to the one shown for x = 0.) We notice that G_{γ} peaks at $y \simeq (4 + \gamma/H)^{1/2}$, and as γ increases its amplitude decreases, whereas its support increases.

For a particular value of γ , in figure 7 we plot the Green's function $G_{\gamma}(x, y)$ and its temporal derivative per Hubble time, $\partial_t G_{\gamma}(x, y)/H = -x \partial_x G_{\gamma}(x, y)$, for $x = \sqrt{4 + \gamma/H}$ as a function of y > x, and for $y = \sqrt{4 + \gamma/H}$ as a function of x < y. To estimate the amplitude of integrals of g_{γ} it is useful to note that

$$\int_{x}^{+\infty} dy \, G_{\gamma}(x,y) = -1. \tag{F.1}$$

⁴²We keep the factor of 4 to recover the standard result in the case $\gamma \to 0$.



Figure 6. The Green's function $G_{\gamma}(0, y) = y^2 g_{\gamma}(0, y)$ for three different values of γ : $4 + \gamma/H = 5^2$ (black), $4 + \gamma/H = 7^2$ (dashed) and $4 + \gamma/H = 10^2$ (dotted), the first peak of G_{γ} is around y = 5, 7, and 10, respectively, supporting the fact that the location of the peak is at $\sqrt{4 + \gamma/H}$.



Figure 7. The Green's function $G_{\gamma}(x, y)$ (on the top) and its temporal derivative, per Hubble time, $\partial_t G_{\gamma}(x, y)/H = -x\partial_x G_{\gamma}(x, y)$ (on the bottom); for $x^* = \sqrt{4 + \gamma/H}$ as a function of $y > x^*$ (on the left), and for $y^* = \sqrt{4 + \gamma/H}$ as a function of $x < y^*$ (on the right). All plots correspond to $x^* = y^* = 10$.

Then, for large values of γ a rough estimation for $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq}$ can be obtained by counting each power of y^2 as γ , adding a factor of $\gamma^{-1/2}$ for each G_{γ} (i.e. $\gamma^{-3/2}$ for each g_{γ}) and a factor of $\gamma^{1/2}$ for each integral, with units made up by γ/H . Note that having a time derivative

per Hubble time of G_{γ} cannot increase significantly $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq}$ (see figure 7). On the other hand, the contribution of an additional spatial derivative per Hubble length will increase $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq}$ by approximately a factor of γ/c_s^2 (since $k^2/(a^2H^2) = y^2/c_s^2$).

G Mixing

To study the effects of friction at leading order in π , in this paper we concentrated on the study of a generic type of operator, i.e. $\mathcal{O}\pi$, with \mathcal{O} including in principle a series of contributions (after integration by parts). However, once we start adding higher order effects, we treated each of them separately. The reasons were both the fact that not all the terms generate the same type of non-linearities, and also obviously for simplicity. In general however more than one operator will be present at the same time. Here we make a few comments about the kind of effects that may appear as a result of including more than one type of ADOF concurrently.

G.1 Scalars

Let us start with scalar operators \mathcal{O}_A , $A = 1, \ldots N$. In general, in addition to the contributions of the response and noise given by the self-correlation functions, we will also have the ones given by the mixed-correlations (e.g. $\langle \delta \mathcal{O}_A^S \delta \mathcal{O}_B^S \rangle$). To be more precise, we are considering interaction terms of the form

$$S_{\rm int} = -\int d^4x a^3(t) \mathcal{O}_A F^A, \qquad (G.1)$$

where F^B are taken as external forces that slightly disturb the dynamics of the ADOF associated to the \mathcal{O} 's, and where repeated index are summed over. The linear response of \mathcal{O}_A due to the application of the external forces can therefore be written as

$$\delta \mathcal{O}_{A}^{R} = -\int d^{4}x' a^{3}(t') G_{AB}^{\mathcal{O}}(x, x') F^{B}(x'), \qquad (G.2)$$

and

$$G_{AB}^{\mathcal{O}}(x,x') = i\theta(t-t')\langle [\delta \mathcal{O}_A(x), \delta \mathcal{O}_B(x')] \rangle.$$
(G.3)

Additionally, we have the fluctuations of the ADOF, which are characterized by the twopoint function of stochastic sources $\delta \mathcal{O}_A^S(x)$:

$$N_{AB}^{\mathcal{O}}(x, x') = \langle \delta \mathcal{O}_A^S(x) \delta \mathcal{O}_B^S(x') \rangle.$$
 (G.4)

By concentrating in the case where a local approximation applies, as described in section 5.1, we can write

$$\delta \mathcal{O}_A^R(t, \mathbf{k}) \simeq \mu_{AB}(t) F^B(t, \mathbf{k}) + \Gamma_{AB}(t) \frac{1}{a^{3/2}} \partial_t (a^{3/2}(t) F^B(t, \mathbf{k})), \quad (G.5)$$

$$\langle \delta \mathcal{O}_A^S(t, \mathbf{k}_1) \delta \mathcal{O}_B^S(t, \mathbf{k}_2) \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2) N_{AB}^{\mathcal{O}}(t, t'), \tag{G.6}$$

with

$$N_{AB}^{\mathcal{O}}(t,t') \simeq \nu_{AB}(t) \frac{\delta(t-t')}{a^3(t)}, \qquad (G.7)$$

where $\mu_{AB}(t)$, $\Gamma_{AB}(t)$ and $\nu_{AB}(t)$ are approximately time-independent.

G.2 $f(t)\mathcal{O}_1$ and $\mathcal{O}_2 g^{00}$

For the sake of completeness, let us study the effects due to the mixing between \mathcal{O}_1 and \mathcal{O}_2 , under the assumptions of the local approximation described previously. Note that if we ignore that mixing, the interaction $f_1\mathcal{O}_1$ yields a term $\gamma\dot{\pi}$ in the EOM for π (see section 7.2), while \mathcal{O}_2g^{00} produces a higher derivative contribution if we assume that both operators have a Green's function satisfying $\operatorname{Im} G(\omega) \propto \omega$ as $\omega \to 0$ (see section 7.5). Hence it is reasonable to consider the case where the term $f_1\mathcal{O}_1$ dominates over $f_2\delta g^{00}\mathcal{O}_2$ at linear order. This allows us to concentrate in a situation in which, at leading order in the corrections introduced by \mathcal{O}_2 , we can neglect the contributions coming from the interaction $\delta g^{00}\mathcal{O}_2$ alone, and its effects enter only through the mixing with \mathcal{O}_1 . For example, this would be the case if $\mathcal{O}_1 = \mathcal{O}_2$ and $f_2H \ll \dot{f}_1$. So in practice we can work at leading order in f_2 . Moreover, for simplicity, we concentrate here only in the contributions obtained using the linear response approximation, although as we have seen in section 7.5 the non-linear response contributions obtained from $f_1\mathcal{O}_1$ could produce the largest non-Gaussianities in this kind of models.⁴³

There are two types of mixed response terms: one is given by how $f_1(t)$ (the force coupled to \mathcal{O}_1) affects $\delta \mathcal{O}_2$ and the other by how $f_2 \delta g^{00}$ affects $\delta \mathcal{O}_1$. Using the local approximation, these can be written as

$$\delta \mathcal{O}_{1}^{R_{\text{mix}}} \simeq -f_{2} \tilde{\mu}_{12} \left(2\dot{\pi} + \dot{\pi}^{2} - \frac{\partial_{i} \pi \partial_{i} \pi}{a^{2}} \right) - f_{2} \Gamma_{12} \left(2\ddot{\pi} + 2\dot{\pi}\ddot{\pi} - 2\frac{\partial_{i} \pi \partial_{i} \dot{\pi}}{a^{2}} + 2H\frac{\partial_{i} \pi \partial_{i} \pi}{a^{2}} \right), \qquad (G.8a)$$

$$\delta \mathcal{O}_2^{R_{\text{mix}}} \simeq \tilde{\mu}_{21} \left(\dot{f}_1 \pi + \ddot{f}_1 \frac{\pi^2}{2} \right) + \Gamma_{21} \left(\dot{f}_1 \dot{\pi} + \ddot{f}_1 \dot{\pi} \pi \right), \qquad (\text{G.8b})$$

where $\tilde{\mu}_{AB} = \mu_{AB} + 3/2H\Gamma_{AB}$ and we assumed the existence of an emergent shift symmetry, as described in the main text.

To linear order in f_2 the equation for π_1 becomes

$$\ddot{\pi}_1 + (3H + \tilde{\gamma})\dot{\pi}_1 + \tilde{c}_s^2 \frac{\nabla^2}{a^2} \pi_1 = -\tilde{N}_c^{-1} \left(\dot{f}_1 \delta \mathcal{O}_1^S - 2f_2 \frac{\partial_t (a^3 \delta \mathcal{O}_2^S)}{a^3} \right), \tag{G.9}$$

where $\tilde{N}_c = N_c + 2 f_2 \dot{f}_1 (\Gamma_{21} - \Gamma_{12}))$, $\tilde{c}_s^2 = c_s^2 - 2 f_2 \tilde{N}_c^{-1} \dot{f}_1 c_s^2 (\Gamma_{21} - \Gamma_{12})$, and $\tilde{\gamma} = \tilde{N}_c^{-1} \left(\dot{f}_1^2 \Gamma_{11} + 2 f_2 \dot{f}_1 (3H\Gamma_{12} - \tilde{\mu}_{12}) \right)$. Note that $\tilde{c}_s^2 \tilde{N}_c = c_s^2 N_c$ (recall we are working to linear order in f_2). To ease notation we omit tildes in what follows. The particular solution to the above equation is

$$\pi_{1}(k,\eta) = \frac{\dot{f}_{1}kc_{s}}{N_{c}H^{2}} \int_{\eta_{0}}^{\eta} d\eta' g_{\gamma}(kc_{s}|\eta|, kc_{s}|\eta'|) \delta\mathcal{O}_{1}^{S}(\mathbf{k},\eta') + \frac{2f_{2}kc_{s}}{N_{c}H^{2}} \int_{\eta_{0}}^{\eta} d\eta' g_{\gamma}(kc_{s}|\eta|, kc_{s}|\eta'|) \frac{\partial_{t} \left(a^{3}(\eta')\delta\mathcal{O}_{2}^{S}(\mathbf{k},\eta')\right)}{a^{3}(\eta')}, \quad (G.10)$$

⁴³Note that from the analysis of section 7.2, if we have only the interaction $f_1\mathcal{O}_1$ the level of non-Gaussianities obtained within the linear response approximation are negligible.

and the resulting power spectrum can be written as

$$P_{\zeta} = P_{\zeta}^{f_2=0} \left(1 + 6 \frac{H f_2 \nu_{12}}{\dot{f}_1 \nu_{11}} \right) \tag{G.11}$$

where $P_{\zeta}^{f_2=0}$ is the one obtained for $f_2 = 0$, which is given in eq. (6.3) where $\nu_{\mathcal{O}} = \nu_{11} \dot{f_1}^2$. The source for π reads

$$J = N_c^{-1} \dot{f}_1 (2f_2 H \Gamma_{12} - f_2 \tilde{\mu}_{12}) \frac{\partial_i \pi \partial_i \pi}{a^2} - 2N_c^{-1} f_2 \dot{f}_1 (\Gamma_{12} - \Gamma_{21}) \frac{\partial_i \pi \partial_i \dot{\pi}}{a^2} + 2f_2 N_c^{-1} \dot{f}_1 \Gamma_{21} \dot{\pi} \frac{\nabla^2 \pi}{a^2} + f_2 N_c^{-1} \dot{f}_1 (\tilde{\mu}_{12} - 6H \Gamma_{21}) \dot{\pi}^2 + 2f_2 N_c^{-1} \dot{f}_1 (\Gamma_{12} - 2\Gamma_{21}) \dot{\pi} \ddot{\pi} - \dot{f}_1 \delta \mathcal{O}_1^S - 2f_2 \frac{\partial_t \left(a^3 \delta \mathcal{O}_2^S\right)}{a^3} - 2f_2 \frac{\partial_t \left(a^3 \dot{\pi} \delta \mathcal{O}_2^S\right)}{a^3} + 2f_2 N_c^{-1} \frac{\partial_i \left(\delta \mathcal{O}_2^S \partial_i \pi\right)}{a^2}.$$
(G.12)

Note that if $\mathcal{O}_1 = \mathcal{O}_2$ the second term vanishes.

As we have learned from our computations in section 7, the contribution of the non-linear terms with spatial derivatives become more important for generating non-Gaussianities than those with only time derivatives. Let us then analyze for simplicity only the first and the last term, which we expect to be among the leading ones. Notice that the calculations for the first source term are exactly the same as the ones we have already performed in section 7.1, in that case for the first term on the r.h.s. of eq. (7.3). In fact, it can be written as

$$J_k^1 = -s_1 \gamma \frac{\partial_i \pi \partial_i \pi}{a^2}, \tag{G.13}$$

with

$$s_1 = -\frac{2f_2H}{\dot{f}_1}\frac{\Gamma_{12}}{\Gamma_{11}} + \frac{f_2\tilde{\mu}_{12}}{\dot{f}_1\Gamma_{11}},\tag{G.14}$$

where we have $s_1 \ll 1$ consistently with our linear expansion in f_2 after taking, for simplicity, $\gamma_{AB} \sim H\mu_{AB}$. From eq. (7.10) we obtain

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq} \simeq \frac{s_1 \gamma}{2Hc_s^2},\tag{G.15}$$

which could be still large for $\gamma \gg H$, even when $c_s \lesssim 1$ and within the validity of our approximation, namely $s_1 \ll 1$.

Similarly, for the last part of the source term we obtain

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq} = -\frac{10}{3} \frac{s_2}{c_s^2} \frac{2^{-8\gamma/H} \pi^2 \Gamma \left(\frac{2\gamma}{H} + 4\right)^2}{\left(\frac{\gamma}{H} + 1\right)^6 \Gamma \left(\frac{\gamma+H}{2H}\right)^8} \int_0^{+\infty} dy' y'^6 (g_\gamma(0, y'))^2 \\ \times \int_{y'}^{+\infty} dz z^4 g_\gamma(y', z) g_\gamma(0, z), \tag{G.16}$$

where $s_2 = \frac{f_2 H}{f_1} \frac{\nu_{12}}{\nu_{11}} \ll 1$, and again for simplicity we take all mass scales to be of the same order. After a numerical calculation, in the regime $\gamma/H \gg 1$, we can well approximate $f_{\rm NL}$ by

$$f_{\rm NL}^{\rm eq} \simeq -3\frac{\gamma}{H}\frac{s_2}{c_s^2},\tag{G.17}$$

similar to our previous case.

G.3 Vectors & tensors

Finally, as we discussed in sections 4.2 and 4.3, there is a family of vector and tensor interactions terms that can be added. These can be written as

$$S^{\mathcal{O}} = -\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(f_1(t)\mathcal{O}_1^0 + f_2(t)\mathcal{O}_2^{00} + f_3(t)\mathcal{O}_3^{000} + \ldots \right)$$
(G.18)
$$-\delta g^{00} \left(s_1(t)\mathcal{O}_1^0 + s_2(t)\mathcal{O}_2^{00} + s_3(t)\mathcal{O}_3^{000} + \ldots \right) + \ldots$$

For the sake of simplicity (and notation), let us here ignore the factors $f_i(t)$'s and $s_i(t)$'s, whose time dependence is in general slow roll suppressed.

After introducing π , these terms become

$$\mathcal{O}_1^0 = \mathcal{O}_1^\mu \partial_\mu (\tilde{t} + \pi) = \mathcal{O}_1^0 + \mathcal{O}_1^\mu \partial_\mu \pi \tag{G.19a}$$

$$\mathcal{O}_2^{00} = \mathcal{O}_2^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu (\tilde{t} + \pi) \partial_\nu (\tilde{t} + \pi) \tag{G.19b}$$

$$=\mathcal{O}_{2}^{00}+2\mathcal{O}_{2}^{0\mu}\partial_{\mu}\pi+\mathcal{O}_{2}^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\pi\partial_{\nu}\pi$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{3}^{000} = \mathcal{O}_{3}^{\mu\nu\rho}\partial_{\mu}(\tilde{t}+\pi)\partial_{\nu}(\tilde{t}+\pi)\partial_{\rho}(\tilde{t}+\pi)$$

$$= \mathcal{O}_{3}^{000} + 3\mathcal{O}_{3}^{00\mu}\partial_{\mu}\pi + 3\mathcal{O}_{3}^{0\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\pi\partial_{\nu}\pi + \mathcal{O}_{3}^{\mu\nu\rho}\partial_{\mu}\pi\partial_{\nu}\pi\partial_{\rho}\pi,$$
(G.19c)

etc. Adding all them up we get

$$\mathcal{O}_1^0 + \mathcal{O}_2^{00} + \mathcal{O}_3^{00} + \ldots = \tilde{\mathcal{O}} + \tilde{\mathcal{O}}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \pi + \tilde{\mathcal{O}}^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \pi \partial_{\nu} \pi + \tilde{\mathcal{O}}^{\mu\nu\rho} \partial_{\mu} \pi \partial_{\nu} \pi \partial_{\rho} \pi \dots, \qquad (G.20)$$

with $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}^{\mu...\nu}$ made up from some combination of our original tensor operators. We can rearrange the second line of eq. (G.18) in a similar fashion.

As an example, let us consider $\mathcal{O}^0 \equiv \mathcal{O}_{\mu}g^{\mu 0}$, which produces the first π -dependent term in eq. (G.20). Notice that by simple inspection, at linear order in π , we can transform the analysis for this operator into the one for a scalar operator we studied throughout the paper. Indeed, after integrating by parts we obtain

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{O}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \pi \to \int d^4x \left(\partial_{\mu} \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{O}^{\mu} \right) \pi \equiv \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \tilde{\mathcal{O}} \pi, \qquad (G.21)$$

with $\tilde{\mathcal{O}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \partial_{\mu} (\sqrt{-g} \mathcal{O}^{\mu})$, an effective scalar operator. By construction, this interaction obeys the shift symmetry. Moreover, assuming it satisfies the hypothesis of section 5.1, it may induce a large friction term for $\gamma \gg H$, and yet no $O(\pi^2)$ terms in the action. Naively this might suggest an absence of connection between friction and non-Gaussianities in this case, however as we emphasized throughout the paper, the non-linear response will induce non-linear couplings that indeed we expect to be large, leading to $f_{\rm NL} \simeq \gamma/c_s^2 H$.

H $\mathcal{O}\delta g^{00}$ model(s) with $\gamma \dot{\pi}$ dissipation

In this appendix we discuss an example of a $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}g^{00}$ type of coupling with $\gamma \dot{\pi}$ dissipation. We argued in section 1.2 this requires some peculiar analytic structure, in particular (see eq. (1.20))

$$\operatorname{Im} \tilde{G}_{\operatorname{ret}}^{\mathcal{O}}(\omega) \sim 1/\omega,$$
 (H.1)

within a range of frequencies $\mu_{\mathcal{O}} < \omega < \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$ to be determined momentarily. Here we introduce one possible model where we couple the inflaton to a scalar field with strong dissipative dynamics induced by a second (hidden) sector that does not couple directly to π . We will explore this set up in more detail elsewhere. (We drop the tildes from now on, and due to the plethora of γ 's we use γ_{π} to identify the dissipative coefficient for π .)

The basic idea is to use the EFT of inflation of [17] but, in the spirit to the model in [25], let us couple π to a scalar field σ via a term $\sigma \delta g^{00}$ so that we generate a $\rho \sigma \dot{\pi}$ coupling with ρ having units of mass [25]. For its dynamics we write

$$\mathcal{L}_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} \sigma)^2 - \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \sigma^2 + \sigma J_{\Psi}, \qquad (\text{H.2})$$

where J_{Ψ} stands for the interaction between σ and a dissipative sector described collectively by Ψ , which does not couple directly to π .⁴⁴ In essence this is a two-steps model where π dissipate via a mixing term. This can also be described in the framework of [30], except that in addition we have a sector which couples to σ and induces (strong) dissipation. (We could for example put the Ψ -system in thermal equilibrium at a given temperature T_{Ψ} .)

If we now compute the retarded Green's function for σ we have (see figure 8)

$$\rho^2 G_{\rm ret}^{\sigma}(\omega, \mathbf{k}) = \frac{\rho^2}{\omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2 - \mu^2 + \Gamma_{\Psi}(\omega)},\tag{H.3}$$

where Γ_{Ψ} is the self-energy contribution from the $\langle [J_{\psi}, J_{\psi}] \rangle$ correlator due to the σJ_{Ψ} coupling (see below). We assume now that the imaginary part of this self-energy can be approximated as

$$\operatorname{Im} \Gamma_{\Psi}(\omega) \simeq \gamma_{\Psi} \frac{\omega}{\omega + \Lambda_{\psi}},\tag{H.4}$$

which is a more standard behavior (similar to Drude's model in eq. (1.7)) and behaves linearly in ω for $\omega < \Lambda_{\psi}$, see appendix C. Using analyticity of Γ_{Ψ} in the upper half plane we also have (via Kramers-Kronig relations)

$$\operatorname{Re}\Gamma_{\Psi}(\omega) \simeq \gamma_{\Psi}\Lambda_{\Psi}\left(\frac{\Lambda_{\Psi}^{2}}{\omega^{2} + \Lambda_{\Psi}^{2}}\right) \simeq \gamma_{\Psi}\Lambda_{\Psi},\tag{H.5}$$

for $\omega \leq \Lambda_{\Psi}$. Therefore

$$\rho^{2} \operatorname{Im} G_{\operatorname{ret}}^{\sigma}(\omega, \mathbf{k}) \simeq \frac{\gamma_{\Psi} \rho^{2} \omega}{\left[\omega^{2} - \mathbf{k}^{2} - \mu^{2} + \gamma_{\Psi} \Lambda_{\Psi}\right]^{2} + \gamma_{\Psi}^{2} \omega^{2}}.$$
 (H.6)

Our quest is to find a regime where we get $\gamma_{\pi} \dot{\pi}_k$ for the EOM, or in other words the scaling of eq. (1.20) in eq. (H.6). That is indeed the case when

$$\left[\omega^2 - \mathbf{k}^2 - \mu^2 + \gamma_{\Psi} \Lambda_{\Psi}\right]^2 \ll \gamma_{\Psi}^2 \omega^2. \tag{H.7}$$

 $^{^{44}}$ In principle Ψ could talk to the inflaton via gravitational interactions, but these are subleading.



Figure 8. The wavy lines correspond to π and the dark interactions are insertions of $\sigma \dot{\pi}$ couplings. The larger dark circle represents the Green's function for the $\langle [J_{\psi}, J_{\psi}] \rangle$ correlator from to the σJ_{Ψ} coupling.

Naively this seems like a difficult task given the constraint $\omega \lesssim \Lambda_{\Psi}$, however we can always set μ to cancel out the large contribution, for example by tuning⁴⁵

$$\gamma_{\Psi} \Lambda_{\Psi} - \mu^2 \simeq H^2. \tag{H.8}$$

Moreover we also assume $\omega_{\star}, k_{\star} \ll \gamma_{\Psi}$ (which we show is self-consistent), so that under our working hypotheses we get

$$\rho^{2} \operatorname{Im} G^{\sigma}_{\operatorname{ret}}(\omega) \simeq \frac{\gamma_{\Psi} \rho^{2}}{\gamma_{\Psi}^{2}} \frac{1}{\omega}, \tag{H.9}$$

for $H \lesssim \omega, |\mathbf{k}| \lesssim \gamma_{\Psi} (\lesssim \Lambda_{\Psi})$, hence

$$\gamma_{\pi} \sim \frac{\rho^2}{\gamma_{\Psi}},$$
(H.10)

which gives $\gamma_{\pi} \sim \gamma_{\Psi}$ for $\rho \sim \gamma_{\Psi}$. As we showed in this paper, with a $\gamma_{\pi}\dot{\pi}$ dissipation term we have $k_{\star} \simeq \sqrt{\gamma_{\pi} H}$, therefore the conditions which led to eq. (H.9) are satisfied, provided $\gamma_{\pi} \gg H$.

To compute the power spectrum and non-Gaussianities we also need the noise part. This follows also from the (indirect) coupling between π and J_{Ψ} via σ . This can be shown by explicitly writing the EOM (ignoring the Hubble expansion for simplicity)

$$\ddot{\pi}_k + k_{\rm ph}^2 \pi_k = -\rho \dot{\sigma}_k,\tag{H.11}$$

$$\ddot{\sigma}_k + (k_{\rm ph}^2 + \mu^2)\sigma_k = J_\Psi + \rho\dot{\pi}_k. \tag{H.12}$$

As we argued above, in the regime we are interested in we can write (treating J_{Ψ} as a particular operator $\delta \mathcal{O}$)

$$J_{\Psi} = J_{\Psi}^{S} + \int G_{\text{ret}}^{\Psi} \sigma \simeq J_{\Psi}^{S} + \gamma_{\Psi} \Lambda_{\Psi} \sigma - \gamma_{\Psi} \dot{\sigma}, \qquad (\text{H.13})$$

where we used eqs. (H.4) and (H.5) and added as before a stochastic source term J_{Ψ}^S . Therefore, choosing μ according to eq. (H.7) we have

$$\gamma_{\Psi} \dot{\sigma}_k \simeq \rho \dot{\pi}_k - J_{\Psi}^S, \tag{H.14}$$

⁴⁵It is not surprising we require some fine tuning while dealing with (unprotected) scalar fields. One possibility is to think of σ as a pseudo-Goldstone boson, or introduce a supersymmetric version, with the scale of breaking near Hubble. (In that sense we resemble the EFT for supersymmetric multi-field inflation of [30], see also [27].) We leave this open for future work.

and plugging it back into eq. (H.11) we finally obtain

$$\ddot{\pi}_k + k_{\rm ph}^2 \pi_k + \gamma_\pi \dot{\pi}_k = J_\pi^S, \tag{H.15}$$

with $J_{\pi}^{S} = (\rho/\gamma_{\Psi}) J_{\psi}^{S}$. Hence we are left with an equation as in (1.2) and the computations throughout the paper follow. In particular we get non-Gaussianities of order $f_{\rm NL} \simeq \gamma_{\pi}/(c_s^2 H)$ as in section 7.1.

Notice we can also construct a similar model for a $\mathcal{O}_{\mu}g^{\mu 0}$ type of operator replacing σ by a gauge coupling $gA^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\pi$. Then J_{Ψ} would play as similar role as the usual electromagnetic current (see appendix C).

I Consistency of local trapped inflation

Here we summarize some basic constraints that guaranteed the validity of our approximations. For the background equations we need

$$|\ddot{\phi}| \ll 3H |\dot{\phi}| \ll V'(\phi), \tag{I.1}$$

so that we have a constant velocity solution

$$\dot{\phi} \simeq -\frac{(\Gamma_{\chi}|\Delta|(2\pi)^{3}V')^{2/5}}{g}.$$
 (I.2)

In addition, we assume that the energy density is dominated by the potential energy,

$$3M_p^2 H^2 = \frac{\dot{\phi}^2}{2} + V(\phi) + \sum_i M_{\chi_i} n_{\chi_i} \simeq V(\phi).$$
(I.3)

The generalized slow roll parameter $\epsilon = -\dot{H}/H^2$ is given by

$$\epsilon = \frac{3(\dot{\phi}^2 + \sum_i M_{\chi_i} n_{\chi_i})}{2V(\phi)}.$$
(I.4)

Then, $\epsilon \ll 1$ implies

$$\dot{\phi}^2 \ll V(\phi),$$
 (I.5a)

$$\sum_{i} M_{\chi_i} n_{\chi_i} \ll V(\phi), \tag{I.5b}$$

which are the conditions required to make the approximation in eq. (I.3). To estimate the l.h.s. of eq. (I.5b) we replace the sum by an integral as above and find

$$\sum_{i} M_{\chi_{i}} n_{\chi_{i}} \simeq \frac{g^{5/2} |\dot{\phi}|^{7/2}}{\Gamma_{\chi}^{2} |\Delta| (2\pi)^{3}} \ll V(\phi).$$
(I.6)

Gathering all pieces together we collect eqs. (8.4), (8.7), (8.13), (I.1), (I.5a), (I.5b), as well as the conditions $k_{\rm ph} \ll \kappa$ and $k_{\rm ph} \Delta \ll |\dot{\phi}|$, plus $\Gamma_{\chi} \gg H$. In addition we also have the number of e-foldings, where we get

$$N_e = \int \frac{H}{\dot{\phi}} d\phi = \frac{5gm\phi^2}{162^{7/10}\sqrt{3}\pi^{6/5} \left(m^2\Gamma_{\chi}\Delta\phi\right)^{2/5}},\tag{I.7}$$



Figure 9. The region of the free parameters (m and g) allowed for consistency (with " \ll " replaced by "<"). The horizontal axis represents g and the vertical axis m/M_p . Top: $\Gamma_{\chi} = 100H$ (case I); Bottom: $\Gamma_{\chi} = 1000H$ (case II).

using $\phi \equiv \phi_I \gg \phi_E$, with $\phi_I \ (\phi_E)$, the inflaton field at the beginning (end) of inflation.

Next we analyze these constraints for the paradigmatic example

$$V(\phi) = \frac{m^2}{2}\phi^2.$$
 (I.8)

We have five parameters in the model: $m, \Delta, \Gamma_{\chi}, g$ and the initial value of the inflaton field, ϕ_I . To reduce the parameter space we impose $N_e = 60$ and

$$P_{\zeta} \simeq \left(\frac{H}{\dot{\phi}}\right)^2 P_{\delta\phi} \simeq \frac{10^{-9}}{k^3},\tag{I.9}$$

from where we obtain the condition (see eq. (6.4), using $N_c \simeq \dot{\phi}^2$)

$$\left(\frac{H}{\dot{\phi}}\right)^2 \frac{g^2 \nu_{\chi}}{4} \left(\frac{\pi H}{\gamma}\right)^{1/2} \simeq 10^{-9}.$$
 (I.10)

Then,

$$\phi \simeq \frac{162^{3/16} 3^{15/16} \pi^{3/4} \sqrt[4]{\Gamma_{\chi} |\Delta|}}{\sqrt[8]{g^5 m}} M_p, \quad |\Delta| \simeq \frac{1179648 \times 10^{34} \sqrt[4]{6} \pi^{11} g^{13/2} m^{9/2} M_p}{\Gamma_{\chi}}$$
(I.11)

For simplicity, we analyze two cases: $\Gamma_{\chi} = 100H$ (case I) and $\Gamma_{\chi} = 1000H$ (case II). In figure 9 we plot the 2-dimensional region for the parameters m and g for which all conditions are satisfied (with " \ll " replaced by "<"). The horizontal axis represents g and the vertical axis m/M_p : case I corresponds to the graph on the left and case II to the right. As an example, taking $\Gamma_{\chi} = 100H$, $m = 10^{-11}M_p$ and $g = 10^{-2}$, we obtain $H \simeq 1.3 \times 10^{-11}M_p$, $\gamma/H \simeq 135$, $\phi \simeq 3.3M_p$, $\delta t_c \simeq 1.98 \times 10^{-4}H^{-1}$, $|\Delta| \simeq 1.29 \times 10^{-8}M_p$ and $\epsilon \simeq 1/32$. Also, for $\Gamma_{\chi} = 1000H$, $m = 5 \times 10^{-13}M_p$ and $g = 10^{-1}$, we get $H \simeq 3.34 \times 10^{-13}M_p$, $\gamma/H \simeq 539$, $\phi \simeq 1.63M_p$, $\delta t_c \simeq 1.4 \times 10^{-5}H^{-1}$, $|\Delta| \simeq 2.27 \times 10^{-7}M_p$ and $\epsilon \simeq 1/32$. In all cases $\gamma/H \ll g|\dot{\phi}|/H^2$, which guarantees the validity of the local approximation $k_{\star} \lesssim \kappa$.

As a final check let us estimate the size of the curvature perturbations one obtains from the fluctuations in the additional scalar degrees of freedom we added into the theory. Following [31] we can estimate this contribution by computing

$$M_p^2 \frac{\partial_i^2}{a^2} \delta g_\chi \sim M_\chi \Delta n_\chi, \tag{I.12}$$

where we take $M_{\chi}(\delta t_c) \simeq g |\dot{\phi}| \delta t_c \simeq \sqrt{g |\dot{\phi}|}$. In the above expression δg_{χ} is not the curvature perturbation ζ_{χ} , but nonetheless it gives us an idea of the size of the curvature it induces. For the sake of comparison, let us evaluate this expression at $k/a \simeq H$, where we get

$$\langle \delta g_{\chi} \delta g_{\chi} \rangle \simeq \frac{(g|\dot{\phi}|)^{5/2} N_{\text{hits}}}{H M_p^4}.$$
 (I.13)

On the other hand, from the analysis in section 6 we have (see eq. (8.26))

$$\langle \zeta_{\phi} \zeta_{\phi} \rangle \simeq \sqrt{H/\gamma} \frac{H^2}{\dot{\phi}^2} \frac{g^2 (g|\dot{\phi}|)^{3/2} N_{\text{hits}}}{\Gamma_{\chi}}.$$
 (I.14)

Hence, using $\dot{\phi}^2 \sim \epsilon_{\phi} V$ ($\epsilon_{\phi} < \epsilon$), then

$$\frac{\langle \delta g_{\chi} \delta g_{\chi} \rangle}{\langle \zeta_{\phi} \zeta_{\phi} \rangle} \simeq \frac{\Gamma_{\chi} k_{\star}}{M_{\chi}^2} \epsilon_{\phi}^2 \ll 1, \tag{I.15}$$

as $\Gamma_{\chi} \lesssim M_{\chi}, k_{\star} \lesssim M_{\star}$ and $\epsilon_{\phi} \lesssim 1$. Therefore curvature perturbations become subleading.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] I.Z. Rothstein, TASI lectures on effective field theories, hep-ph/0308266 [INSPIRE].
- [2] J. Polchinski, Effective field theory and the Fermi surface, hep-th/9210046 [INSPIRE].
- W.D. Goldberger and I.Z. Rothstein, An effective field theory of gravity for extended objects, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104029 [hep-th/0409156] [INSPIRE].
- [4] R.A. Porto, Post-Newtonian corrections to the motion of spinning bodies in NRGR, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104031 [gr-qc/0511061] [INSPIRE].
- [5] W.D. Goldberger and A. Ross, Gravitational radiative corrections from effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 124015 [arXiv:0912.4254] [INSPIRE].
- [6] R.A. Porto, A. Ross and I.Z. Rothstein, Spin induced multipole moments for the gravitational wave flux from binary inspirals to third post-Newtonian order, JCAP 03 (2011) 009
 [arXiv:1007.1312] [INSPIRE].
- [7] R.A. Porto, Next to leading order spin-orbit effects in the motion of inspiralling compact binaries, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 205001 [arXiv:1005.5730] [INSPIRE].
- [8] R.A. Porto and I.Z. Rothstein, Spin(1)Spin(2) effects in the motion of inspiralling compact binaries at third order in the post-Newtonian expansion, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 044012 [Erratum ibid. D 81 (2010) 029904] [arXiv:0802.0720] [INSPIRE].
- [9] R.A. Porto and I.Z. Rothstein, Next to leading order Spin(1)Spin(1) effects in the motion of inspiralling compact binaries, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 044013 [Erratum ibid. D 81 (2010) 029905] [arXiv:0804.0260] [INSPIRE].
- [10] R.A. Porto and I.Z. Rothstein, The hyperfine Einstein-Infeld-Hoffmann potential, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 021101 [gr-qc/0604099] [INSPIRE].
- [11] R.A. Porto and I.Z. Rothstein, Comment on 'on the next-to-leading order gravitational spin(1) - spin(2) dynamics' by J. Steinhoff et al, arXiv:0712.2032 [INSPIRE].
- [12] J.B. Gilmore and A. Ross, Effective field theory calculation of second post-Newtonian binary dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 124021 [arXiv:0810.1328] [INSPIRE].
- [13] S. Foffa and R. Sturani, Effective field theory calculation of conservative binary dynamics at third post-Newtonian order, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 044031 [arXiv:1104.1122] [INSPIRE].
- [14] W.D. Goldberger, Les Houches lectures on effective field theories and gravitational radiation, hep-ph/0701129 [INSPIRE].
- [15] R.A. Porto and R. Sturani, Scalar gravity: post-Newtonian corrections via an effective field theory approach, gr-qc/0701105 [INSPIRE].
- [16] D. Baumann, A. Nicolis, L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, Cosmological non-linearities as an effective fluid, arXiv:1004.2488 [INSPIRE].
- [17] C. Cheung, P. Creminelli, A. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and L. Senatore, *The effective field theory of inflation*, *JHEP* 03 (2008) 014 [arXiv:0709.0293] [INSPIRE].
- [18] C. Cheung, A. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and L. Senatore, On the consistency relation of the 3-point function in single field inflation, JCAP 02 (2008) 021 [arXiv:0709.0295] [INSPIRE].
- [19] L. Senatore, K.M. Smith and M. Zaldarriaga, Non-Gaussianities in single field inflation and their optimal limits from the WMAP 5-year data, JCAP 01 (2010) 028 [arXiv:0905.3746]
 [INSPIRE].
- [20] L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, On loops in inflation, JHEP 12 (2010) 008 [arXiv:0912.2734] [INSPIRE].
- [21] L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, A naturally large four-point function in single field inflation, JCAP 01 (2011) 003 [arXiv:1004.1201] [INSPIRE].
- [22] P. Creminelli, M.A. Luty, A. Nicolis and L. Senatore, Starting the universe: stable violation of the null energy condition and non-standard cosmologies, JHEP 12 (2006) 080
 [hep-th/0606090] [INSPIRE].
- [23] N. Bartolo, M. Fasiello, S. Matarrese and A. Riotto, Large non-gaussianities in the effective field theory approach to single-field inflation: the bispectrum, JCAP 08 (2010) 008
 [arXiv:1004.0893] [INSPIRE].
- [24] N. Bartolo, M. Fasiello, S. Matarrese and A. Riotto, Large non-gaussianities in the effective field theory approach to single-field inflation: the trispectrum, JCAP 09 (2010) 035
 [arXiv:1006.5411] [INSPIRE].
- [25] D. Baumann and D. Green, Equilateral non-Gaussianity and new physics on the horizon, JCAP 09 (2011) 014 [arXiv:1102.5343] [INSPIRE].
- [26] D. Baumann, L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, Scale-Invariance and the strong coupling problem, JCAP 05 (2011) 004 [arXiv:1101.3320] [INSPIRE].
- [27] D. Baumann and D. Green, Signatures of supersymmetry from the early universe, arXiv:1109.0292 [INSPIRE].
- [28] M.E. Peskin and D.V. Schroeder, An introduction to quantum field theory, Addison-Wesleay, Reading U.S.A. (1995).
- [29] J. Distler, B. Grinstein, R.A. Porto and I.Z. Rothstein, Falsifying models of new physics via WW scattering, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (2007) 041601 [hep-ph/0604255] [INSPIRE].
- [30] L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, *The effective field theory of multifield inflation*, arXiv:1009.2093 [INSPIRE].
- [31] D. Green, B. Horn, L. Senatore and E. Silverstein, *Trapped inflation*, *Phys. Rev.* D 80 (2009) 063533 [arXiv:0902.1006] [INSPIRE].
- [32] L. Kofman, A.D. Linde, X. Liu, A. Maloney, L. McAllister, et al., Beauty is attractive: moduli trapping at enhanced symmetry points, JHEP 05 (2004) 030 [hep-th/0403001] [INSPIRE].
- [33] E. Calzetta and B.L. Hu, Nonequilibrium quantum field theory, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (2008).
- [34] W.D. Goldberger and I.Z. Rothstein, Dissipative effects in the worldline approach to black hole dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104030 [hep-th/0511133] [INSPIRE].
- [35] R.A. Porto, Absorption effects due to spin in the worldline approach to black hole dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 064026 [arXiv:0710.5150] [INSPIRE].
- [36] S. Endlich, A. Nicolis, R.A. Porto and J. Wang, *Dissipative effects in the effective field theory* for hydrodynamics, work in progress.
- [37] S. Endlich, A. Nicolis, R. Rattazzi and J. Wang, The quantum mechanics of perfect fluids, JHEP 04 (2011) 102 [arXiv:1011.6396] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S. Dubovsky, L. Hui, A. Nicolis and D.T. Son, *Effective field theory for hydrodynamics:* thermodynamics and the derivative expansion, arXiv:1107.0731 [INSPIRE].

- [39] A. Berera, Warm inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995) 3218 [astro-ph/9509049] [INSPIRE].
- [40] A. Berera, Thermal properties of an inflationary universe, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 2519
 [hep-th/9601134] [INSPIRE].
- [41] A. Berera and L.-Z. Fang, Thermally induced density perturbations in the inflation era, Phys. Rev. Lett. 74 (1995) 1912 [astro-ph/9501024] [INSPIRE].
- [42] A. Berera, The warm inflationary universe, Contemp. Phys. 47 (2006) 33 [arXiv:0809.4198] [INSPIRE].
- [43] A. Berera, I.G. Moss and R.O. Ramos, Warm inflation and its microphysical basis, Rept. Prog. Phys. 72 (2009) 026901 [arXiv:0808.1855] [INSPIRE].
- [44] M. Bastero-Gil and A. Berera, Warm inflation model building, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 24 (2009) 2207 [arXiv:0902.0521] [INSPIRE].
- [45] U. Weiss, *Quantum dissipative systems*, World Scientific, Singapore (2008).
- [46] Y. Zhang, Path-integral formalism for classical Brownian motion in a general environment, Phys. Rev. E 47 (1993) 3745.
- [47] A.L. Fetter and J.D. Walecka, Quantum theory of many-particle systems, McGraw-Hill, San Francisco U.S.A. (1971).
- [48] C.R. Galley and M. Tiglio, Radiation reaction and gravitational waves in the effective field theory approach, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 124027 [arXiv:0903.1122] [INSPIRE].
- [49] C.R. Galley, A.K. Leibovich and I.Z. Rothstein, *Finite size corrections to the radiation reaction force in classical electrodynamics*, arXiv:1005.2617 [INSPIRE].
- [50] M. Favata, The gravitational-wave memory effect, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 084036 [arXiv:1003.3486] [INSPIRE].
- [51] F. Di Marco, F. Finelli and R. Brandenberger, Adiabatic and isocurvature perturbations for multifield generalized Einstein models, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 063512 [astro-ph/0211276]
 [INSPIRE].
- [52] WMAP collaboration, E. Komatsu et al., Seven-year Wilkinson microwave anisotropy probe (WMAP) observations: cosmological interpretation, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 192 (2011) 18
 [arXiv:1001.4538] [INSPIRE].
- [53] P. Creminelli and M. Zaldarriaga, Single field consistency relation for the 3-point function, JCAP 10 (2004) 006 [astro-ph/0407059] [INSPIRE].
- [54] P. Creminelli, G. D'Amico, M. Musso and J. Norena, The (not so) squeezed limit of the primordial 3-point function, JCAP 11 (2011) 038 [arXiv:1106.1462] [INSPIRE].
- [55] C. Graham and I.G. Moss, Density fluctuations from warm inflation, JCAP 07 (2009) 013 [arXiv:0905.3500] [INSPIRE].
- [56] M. Bastero-Gil, A. Berera and R. Ramos, Shear viscous effects on the primordial power spectrum from warm inflation, JCAP 07 (2011) 030 [arXiv:1106.0701] [INSPIRE].
- [57] I.G. Moss and C.M. Graham, Particle production and reheating in the inflationary universe, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 123526 [arXiv:0810.2039] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Bastero-Gil and A. Berera, Warm inflation dynamics in the low temperature regime, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 043515 [hep-ph/0610343] [INSPIRE].

- [59] J.C. Bueno Sanchez, M. Bastero-Gil, A. Berera and K. Dimopoulos, Warm hilltop inflation, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 123527 [arXiv:0802.4354] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J. Yokoyama and A.D. Linde, Is warm inflation possible?, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 083509 [hep-ph/9809409] [INSPIRE].
- [61] L.M.H. Hall and I.G. Moss, Thermal effects on pure and hybrid inflation, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 023514 [hep-ph/0408323] [INSPIRE].
- S. Gupta, A. Berera, A. Heavens and S. Matarrese, Non-Gaussian signatures in the cosmic background radiation from warm inflation, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 043510
 [astro-ph/0205152] [INSPIRE].
- [63] L. Senatore, E. Silverstein and M. Zaldarriaga, New sources of gravitational waves during inflation, arXiv:1109.0542 [INSPIRE].
- [64] D. Forster, Hydrodynamics, fluctuations, broken symmetry, and correlation functions, Perseus books, New York U.S.A. (1975).
- [65] S. Weinberg, Cosmology, Oxford University Press, Oxford U.K. (2008).